#### IMPORTANT NOTICE

THIS OFFERING CIRCULAR IS AVAILABLE ONLY TO INVESTORS WHO ARE EITHER (1) QIBS (AS DEFINED BELOW) UNDER RULE 144A (AS DEFINED BELOW) WHO ARE ALSO QUALIFIED PURCHASERS (AS DEFINED BELOW) OR (2) NON-U.S. PERSONS (AS DEFINED IN REGULATION S (AS DEFINED BELOW)) OUTSIDE OF THE U.S.

**IMPORTANT:** You must read the following before continuing. The following applies to the Offering Circular following this page, and you are therefore advised to read this carefully before reading, accessing or making any other use of the Offering Circular. In accessing this Offering Circular, you agree to be bound by the following terms and conditions, including any modifications to them any time you receive any information from the Issuer as a result of such access.

THE ATTACHED OFFERING CIRCULAR MAY NOT BE FORWARDED OR DISTRIBUTED OTHER THAN AS PROVIDED BELOW AND MAY NOT BE REPRODUCED IN ANY MANNER WHATSOEVER. THE ATTACHED OFFERING CIRCULAR MAY ONLY BE DISTRIBUTED OUTSIDE THE UNITED STATES TO PERSONS THAT ARE NOT U.S. PERSONS AS DEFINED IN, AND IN RELIANCE ON, REGULATION S UNDER THE U.S. SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "SECURITIES ACT"), OR WITHIN THE UNITED STATES TO QIBS WHO ARE QUALIFIED PURCHASERS (EACH AS DEFINED BELOW) IN ACCORDANCE WITH RULE 144A UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT ("RULE 144A"). ANY FORWARDING, DISTRIBUTION OR REPRODUCTION OF THE ATTACHED DOCUMENT IN WHOLE OR IN PART IS PROHIBITED. FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THIS DIRECTIVE MAY RESULT IN A VIOLATION OF THE SECURITIES ACT OR THE APPLICABLE LAWS OF OTHER JURISDICTIONS. IF YOU HAVE GAINED ACCESS TO THIS TRANSMISSION CONTRARY TO ANY OF THE FOREGOING RESTRICTIONS, YOU ARE NOT AUTHORISED AND WILL NOT BE ABLE TO PURCHASE ANY OF THE SECURITIES DESCRIBED THEREIN.

NOTHING IN THIS ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION CONSTITUTES AN OFFER OF SECURITIES FOR SALE IN ANY JURISDICTION WHERE IT IS PROHIBITED TO DO SO. THE SECURITIES HAVE NOT BEEN, AND WILL NOT BE, REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OR THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE OF THE UNITED STATES OR OTHER JURISDICTION. THE SECURITIES MAY NOT BE OFFERED, SOLD, PLEDGED OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED EXCEPT (1) IN ACCORDANCE WITH RULE 144A TO PERSONS REASONABLY BELIEVED TO BE QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYERS (EACH A "QIB") WITHIN THE MEANING OF RULE 144A AND QUALIFIED PURCHASERS AS DEFINED IN SECTION 2(a)(51)(A) OF THE U.S. INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 1940 (EACH A "QUALIFIED PURCHASER") WHO REPRESENT THAT (A) THEY ARE QUALIFIED PURCHASERS WHO ARE QIBS WITHIN THE MEANING OF RULE 144A, (B) THEY ARE NOT BROKER DEALERS WHO OWN AND INVEST ON A DISCRETIONARY BASIS LESS THAN U.S.\$25 MILLION IN SECURITIES OF UNAFFILIATED ISSUERS, (C) THEY ARE NOT A PARTICIPANT DIRECTED EMPLOYEE PLAN, SUCH AS A 401(K) PLAN, (D) THEY ARE ACTING FOR THEIR OWN ACCOUNT, OR THE ACCOUNT OF ONE OR MORE QIBS, EACH OF WHICH IS ALSO A QUALIFIED PURCHASER, (E) THEY ARE NOT FORMED FOR THE PURPOSE OF INVESTING IN THE SECURITIES OR THE ISSUER, (F) EACH ACCOUNT FOR WHICH THEY ARE PURCHASING WILL HOLD AND TRANSFER AT LEAST U.S.\$200,000 IN PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF SECURITIES AT ANY TIME. (G) THEY UNDERSTAND THAT THE ISSUER MAY RECEIVE A LIST OF PARTICIPANTS HOLDING POSITIONS IN ITS SECURITIES FROM ONE OR MORE BOOK ENTRY DEPOSITORIES AND (H) THEY WILL PROVIDE NOTICE OF THESE TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS TO ANY SUBSEQUENT TRANSFEREES OR (2) IN AN OFFSHORE TRANSACTION TO A PERSON THAT IS NOT A U.S. PERSON IN ACCORDANCE WITH RULE 903 OR RULE 904 OF REGULATION S UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT.

Confirmation of your Representation: In order to be eligible to view the attached Offering Circular or make an investment decision with respect to the securities, you must be (i) a person other than a U.S. person (within the meaning of Regulation S under the Securities Act) outside the United States who is not acting for the account or benefit of U.S. persons or (ii) a QIB who is a Qualified Purchaser that is acquiring the Securities for its own account or the account of another QIB that is a Qualified Purchaser. By accepting the e-mail and accessing the attached Offering Circular, you shall be deemed to have represented to us that (i)(A) you are not a U.S. person and/or are not acting for the account or benefit of a U.S. person and that the electronic mail (or e-mail) address to which, pursuant to your request, the Offering Circular has been

delivered by electronic transmission is not located in the United States, its territories or possessions or (B) that you are a QIB who is a Qualified Purchaser and that the electronic mail (or e-mail) address to which pursuant to your request, the Offering Circular has been delivered by electronic transmission is utilised by someone who is a QIB and a Qualified Purchaser and (ii) that you consent to delivery of such Offering Circular by electronic transmission.

You are reminded that this Offering Circular has been delivered to you on the basis that you are a person into whose possession this Offering Circular may be lawfully delivered in accordance with the laws of the jurisdiction in which you are located and you may not, nor are you authorized to, deliver or disclose the contents of this Offering Circular to any other person.

The materials relating to the offering do not constitute, and may not be used in connection with, an offer or solicitation in any place where offers or solicitations are not permitted by law. If a jurisdiction requires that the offering be made by a licensed broker or dealer and the underwriters or any affiliate of the underwriters is a licensed broker or dealer in that jurisdiction, the offering shall be deemed to be made by the underwriters or such affiliate on behalf of the Issuer in such jurisdiction.

This Offering Circular has been sent to you in an electronic form. You are reminded that documents transmitted via this medium may be altered or changed during the process of electronic transmission and consequently, none of HSBC Continental Europe as Arranger, and Citigroup Global Markets Europe AG, Citigroup Global Markets Limited, Crédit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank, Danske Bank A/S, Deutsche Bank Aktiengesellschaft, HSBC Continental Europe, and Nordea Bank Abp as Dealers, or any person who controls any of them, nor any director, officer, employee nor agent of any of them or affiliate of any such person accepts any liability or responsibility whatsoever in respect of any difference between the Offering Circular distributed to you in electronic format and the hard copy version available to you on request from any of the Dealers.

You are responsible for protecting against viruses and other destructive items. Your use of this e-mail is at your own risk and it is your responsibility to take precautions to ensure that it is free from viruses and other items of a destructive nature.

This Offering Circular is being distributed only to and directed only at (i) persons who are outside the United Kingdom, (ii) persons who have professional experience in matters relating to investments falling within Article 19(5) of The Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (Financial Promotion) Order 2005, or (iii) those persons to whom it may otherwise lawfully be distributed (all such persons together being referred to as "relevant persons"). This Offering Circular is directed only at relevant persons and must not be acted on or relied on by persons who are not relevant persons. Any investment or investment activity to which this Offering Circular relates is available only to relevant persons and will be engaged in only with relevant persons.



# FINNVERA PLC

(incorporated with limited liability in the Republic of Finland)

# Guaranteed by THE REPUBLIC OF FINLAND

# €17,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme

This offering circular (the "Offering Circular") sets out the basis on which notes (the "Notes", which term includes the VPS Notes (as defined below)) may be issued under the Euro Medium Term Note Programme (the "Programme"). Application may be made to Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd ("Nasdaq Helsinki") for Notes to be listed and admitted to trading on its official list and/or to the United Kingdom (the "UK") Financial Conduct Authority (the "FCA") for Notes to be admitted to listing on the official list of the FCA (the "Official List") and to trading on the main market of the London Stock Exchange plc (the "London Stock Exchange"). Application may also be made for Notes to be listed and admitted to trading on any other listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system as may be agreed with the Issuer. Unlisted Notes may also be issued under the Programme. The relevant Pricing Supplement (as defined herein) in respect of the issue of any Notes will specify whether or not an application will be made for such Notes to be listed.

This Offering Circular does not comprise (i) a base prospectus for the purpose of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (the "Prospectus Regulation"), (ii) a prospectus for the purposes of Part VI of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (as amended, the "FSMA"), (iii) a base prospectus for the purposes of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as it forms part of domestic law in the UK by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (the "EUWA") (the "UK Prospectus Regulation"), or (iv) listing particulars given in compliance with the listing rules made under Part VI of the FSMA by the FCA in its capacity as competent authority under the FSMA. Notes will not be subject to the prospectus requirements of (i) the Prospectus Regulation as a result of the exemption provided by Article 1.2(d) of the Prospectus Regulation for securities unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by a Member State of the Economic Area ("EEA"), or (ii) the UK Prospectus Regulation as a result of the exemption provided by Article 1.2(d) of the UK Prospectus Regulation for securities unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by the government of any country or territory.

The Notes issued under this Programme may be rated by Moody's France SAS and/or Fitch Ratings Ltd. See "Important Notices – Ratings". A security rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency.

The Notes and the guarantee provided in respect of the Notes by the Republic of Finland (the "Guarantor") under the Guarantee Undertaking (as defined herein) (together, the "Securities") have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933 as amended (the "Securities Act"), or with any securities regulatory authority of any state or other jurisdiction of the United States, and Securities in bearer form are subject to U.S. tax law requirements and may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or its possessions or to a U.S. person except in certain transactions permitted by U.S. tax regulations. The Securities may not be offered, sold or (in the case of Notes in bearer form) delivered within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons (as defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act ("Regulation S")), except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act. The Securities may be offered and sold (i) in bearer form, in registered form and/or in the case of VPS Notes (as defined below) in dematerialised uncertificated book-

entry form cleared through the Norwegian Central Securities Depositary, *Verdipapirsentralen ASA* (trading as Euronext Securities Oslo) (the "VPS"), legal title thereto being evidenced by book entries in the VPS (the "VPS Notes") to non-U.S. persons outside the United States in reliance on Regulation S and (ii) in registered form within the United States to "qualified institutional buyers" ("QIBs", as defined in Rule 144A under the Securities Act ("Rule 144A")) that are also "qualified purchasers" ("QPs", as defined in Section 2(a)(51) of the United States Investment Company Act of 1940 (as amended, the "Investment Company Act")) in reliance on Rule 144A. Prospective purchasers are hereby notified that sellers of the Notes may be relying on the exemption from the provisions of Section 5 of the Securities Act provided by Rule 144A. For a description of these and certain further restrictions on offers, sales and transfers of Notes, see "Subscription and Sale" and "Transfer Restrictions".

Arranger

**HSBC** 

**Dealers** 

Citigroup Danske Bank HSBC Crédit Agricole CIB Deutsche Bank Nordea

20 December 2024

# **CONTENTS**

	Page
IMPORTANT NOTICES	1
SUMMARY	5
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE	10
RISK FACTORS	11
FORMS OF THE NOTES	19
TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES	26
FORM OF GUARANTEE UNDERTAKING	
USE OF PROCEEDS	
FORM OF PRICING SUPPLEMENT	76
SUMMARY OF PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE NOTES WHILE IN GLOBAL FORM	93
DESCRIPTION OF THE ISSUER	98
TAXATION	107
CERTAIN ERISA AND RELATED CONSIDERATIONS	115
SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE	
TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS	122
GENERAL INFORMATION	128

#### **IMPORTANT NOTICES**

Finnvera plc (the "Issuer") accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Offering Circular and declares that, having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case, the information contained in this Offering Circular is, to the best of its knowledge, in accordance with the facts and contains no omission likely to affect its import.

Each Tranche (as defined herein) of Notes will be issued on the terms set out herein under "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" (the "Conditions") as amended, supplemented and/or replaced by a document specific to such Tranche called the pricing supplement (the "Pricing Supplement"). This Offering Circular should be read and construed together with any amendments or supplements hereto and with any other documents incorporated by reference herein and, in relation to any Tranche of Notes, should be read and construed together with the relevant Pricing Supplement.

This Offering Circular may only be used for the purpose for which it has been published.

The Issuer confirms that this Offering Circular (including for this purpose, each relevant Pricing Supplement) contains all information which is (in the context of the Programme and the issue, offering and sale of the Notes and the guarantee of the Notes) material; that such information is true and accurate in all material respects and is not misleading in any material respect; that any opinions, predictions or intentions expressed herein are honestly held or made and are not misleading in any material respect; that this Offering Circular does not omit to state any material fact necessary to make such information, opinions, predictions or intentions (in the context of the Programme and the issue, offering and sale of the Notes and the guarantee of the Notes) not misleading in any material respect; and that all proper enquiries have been made to verify the foregoing.

No person has been authorised to give any information or to make any representation not contained in or not consistent with this Offering Circular or any other document entered into in relation to the Programme or any information supplied by the Issuer or such other information as is in the public domain and, if given or made, such information or representation should not be relied upon as having been authorised by the Issuer or any Dealer.

No representation or warranty is made or implied by any Dealer or any of their respective affiliates, and neither the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates makes any representation or warranty or accepts any responsibility as to the accuracy or completeness of the information contained in this Offering Circular or any responsibility for the acts or omissions of the Issuer or any other person (other than the relevant Dealer) in connection with the issue and offering of any Notes under the Programme. Neither the delivery of this Offering Circular or any Pricing Supplement nor the offering, sale or delivery of any Note shall, in any circumstances, create any implication that the information contained in this Offering Circular is true subsequent to the date hereof or the date upon which this Offering Circular has been most recently amended or supplemented or that there has been no adverse change, or any event reasonably likely to involve any adverse change, in the prospects or financial or trading position of the Issuer since the date thereof or, if later, the date upon which this Offering Circular has been most recently amended or supplemented or that any other information supplied in connection with the Programme is correct at any time subsequent to the date on which it is supplied or, if different, the date indicated in the document containing the same.

The distribution of this Offering Circular and any Pricing Supplement and the offering, sale and delivery of the Notes in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. Persons into whose possession this Offering Circular or any Pricing Supplement comes are required by the Issuer to inform themselves about and to observe any such restrictions. For a description of certain restrictions on offers, sales and deliveries of Notes and on the distribution of this Offering Circular or any Pricing Supplement and other offering material relating to the Notes, see "Subscription and Sale" and "Transfer Restrictions".

In particular, the Securities have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act or with any securities regulatory authority of any state or other jurisdiction of the United States and may not be offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons (as defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act), except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Securities in bearer form are subject to U.S. tax law requirements and may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or its possessions or to a U.S. person except in certain transactions permitted by U.S. tax regulations. The Securities may be offered and sold (i) in bearer form or registered form to non-U.S. persons outside the United States in reliance on

Regulation S and (ii) in registered form within the United States to QIBs that are also QPs as defined in Section 2(a)(51) of the Investment Company Act, in reliance on Rule 144A. Prospective purchasers are hereby notified that sellers of the Notes may be relying on the exemption from the provisions of Section 5 of the Securities Act provided by Rule 144A. For a description of these and certain further restrictions on offers, sales and transfers of Notes, see "Subscription and Sale" and "Transfer Restrictions". The Issuer has not been and will not be registered as an investment company in the United States under the Investment Company Act.

Notes denominated in NOK (as defined below) or governed by Norwegian law may not be offered or sold within Norway or to or for the account or benefit of persons domiciled in Norway, unless the applicable Norwegian law restrictions are complied with. Notes governed by Norwegian law may not be offered or sold, unless the regulation relating to the offer of VPS Notes (as defined below) and the registration in the VPS (as defined below) of VPS Notes has been complied with.

NEITHER THE PROGRAMME, THE NOTES NOR THE GUARANTEE HAVE BEEN APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED BY THE U.S. SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION (THE "SEC"), ANY STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION IN THE UNITED STATES OR ANY OTHER U.S. REGULATORY AUTHORITY, NOR HAS ANY OF THE FOREGOING AUTHORITIES PASSED UPON OR ENDORSED THE MERITS OF ANY OFFERING OF NOTES OR THE ACCURACY OR ADEQUACY OF THIS OFFERING CIRCULAR. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENCE IN THE UNITED STATES.

EACH PROSPECTIVE INVESTOR IS ADVISED TO CONSULT ITS OWN TAX ADVISER, LEGAL ADVISER AND BUSINESS ADVISER AS TO TAX, LEGAL, BUSINESS AND RELATED MATTERS CONCERNING THE PURCHASE OF NOTES.

Neither this Offering Circular nor any Pricing Supplement constitutes an offer or an invitation to subscribe for or purchase any Notes and should not be considered as a recommendation by the Issuer, the Guarantor or the Dealers that any recipient of this Offering Circular or any Pricing Supplement should subscribe for or purchase any Notes. Each recipient of this Offering Circular or any Pricing Supplement shall be taken to have made its own investigation and appraisal of the condition (financial or otherwise) of the Issuer.

The maximum aggregate principal amount of Notes outstanding and guaranteed at any one time under the Programme will not exceed €17,000,000,000 (and for this purpose, any Notes denominated in another currency shall be translated into euro at the date of the agreement to issue such Notes (calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Dealer Agreement (as defined under "Subscription and Sale")). The maximum aggregate principal amount of Notes which may be outstanding and guaranteed at any one time under the Programme may be increased from time to time.

# **DEFINITIONS**

In this Offering Circular, unless otherwise specified, references to "€", "EUR" or "euro" are to the currency introduced at the start of the third stage of European Economic and Monetary Union and as defined in Article 2 of Council Regulation (EC) No 974/98 of 3 May 1998 on the introduction of the euro, as amended, references to "U.S.\$", "U.S. dollars" or "dollars" are to the lawful currency of the United States of America and references to "NOK" or "Norwegian Kroner" are to the lawful currency of the Kingdom of Norway.

Certain figures included in this Offering Circular have been subject to rounding adjustments; accordingly, figures shown for the same category presented in different tables may vary slightly and figures shown as totals in certain tables may not be an arithmetic aggregation of the figures which precede them.

# **RATINGS**

The Notes issued under this Programme may be rated by Moody's France SAS and/or Fitch Ratings Ltd. Moody's France SAS is established in the EEA and registered under Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009 (as amended, the "EU CRA Regulation"); ratings issued by Moody's France SAS are endorsed by Moody's Investor Services Limited, which is established in the UK and registered under Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009 as it forms part of domestic law of the UK by way of the EUWA (the "UK CRA Regulation"). Fitch Ratings Ltd is established in the UK and registered under the UK CRA Regulation; ratings issued by

Fitch Ratings Ltd are endorsed by Fitch Ratings Ireland Limited, which is established in the EEA and registered under the EU CRA Regulation.

Where a Tranche of Notes is rated, such rating will not necessarily be the same as any rating(s) assigned to Notes already issued. Where a Tranche of Notes is rated, the applicable rating(s) will be specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement. Whether or not each credit rating applied for in relation to a relevant Tranche of Notes will be (1) issued or endorsed by a credit rating agency established in the EEA and registered under the EU CRA Regulation or by a credit rating agency which is certified under the EU CRA Regulation and/or (2) issued or endorsed by a credit rating agency established in the UK and registered under the UK CRA Regulation or by a credit rating agency which is certified under the UK CRA Regulation will be disclosed in the Pricing Supplement. In general, European regulated investors are restricted from using a rating for regulatory purposes if such rating is not (1) issued by a credit rating agency established in the EEA and registered under the EU CRA Regulation or (2) provided by a credit rating agency not established in the EEA but is endorsed by a credit rating agency established in the EEA and registered under the EU CRA Regulation or (3) provided by a credit rating agency not established in the EEA which is certified under the EU CRA Regulation. In general, UK regulated investors are restricted from using a rating for regulatory purposes if such rating is not (1) issued by a credit rating agency established in the UK and registered under the UK CRA Regulation or (2) provided by a credit rating agency not established in the UK but is endorsed by a credit rating agency established in the UK and registered under the UK CRA Regulation or (3) provided by a credit rating agency not established in the UK which is certified under the UK CRA Regulation.

### **EU MIFID II PRODUCT GOVERNANCE**

A determination may be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the MiFID Product Governance rules under EU Delegated Directive 2017/593 (the "EU MiFID Product Governance Rules"), any Dealer subscribing for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such Notes, but otherwise neither the Arranger nor the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates will be a manufacturer for the purpose of the EU MiFID Product Governance Rules.

The Pricing Supplement in respect of any Notes may include a legend entitled "EU MiFID II Product Governance" which will outline the target market assessment in respect of the Notes and which channels for distribution of the Notes are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a "distributor") should take into consideration the target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to the EU MiFID Product Governance Rules is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.

# UK MIFIR PRODUCT GOVERNANCE

A determination may be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the UK MiFIR Product Governance rules set out in the FCA Handbook Product Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook (the "UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules"), any Dealer subscribing for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such Notes, but otherwise neither the Arranger nor the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates will be a manufacturer for the purpose of the UK MIFIR Product Governance Rules.

The Pricing Supplement in respect of any Notes may include a legend entitled "UK MiFIR Product Governance" which will outline the target market assessment in respect of the Notes and which channels for distribution of the Notes are appropriate. Any distributor should take into consideration the target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to the UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.

# PRODUCT CLASSIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 309B OF THE SECURITIES AND FUTURES ACT 2001

The Pricing Supplement in respect of any Notes may include a legend entitled "Singapore Securities and Futures Act Product Classification" which will state the product classification of the Notes pursuant to Section 309B(1) of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 of Singapore, as modified or amended from time to time (the "SFA"). If applicable, the Issuer will make a determination and provide the appropriate written

notification to "relevant persons" in relation to each issue about the classification of the Notes being offered for the purposes of Section 309B(1)(a) and Section 309B(1)(c) of the SFA.

#### **STABILISATION**

In connection with the issue of any Tranche of Notes, the Dealer or Dealers (if any) named as the Stabilisation Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilisation Manager(s)) in the relevant Pricing Supplement may over allot Notes or effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price of the Notes at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail. However, stabilisation may not necessarily occur. Any stabilisation action may begin on or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the terms of the offer of the relevant Tranche of Notes is made and, if begun, may cease at any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche of Notes and 60 days after the date of the allotment of the relevant Tranche of Notes. Any stabilisation action or over-allotment must be conducted by the relevant Stabilisation Manager(s) (or person(s) acting on behalf of any Stabilisation Manager(s)) in accordance with all applicable laws and rules.

### **AVAILABLE INFORMATION**

The Issuer has agreed that, for so long as any Securities are "restricted securities" as defined in Rule 144(a)(3) under the Securities Act, the Issuer will during any period that it is neither subject to section 13 or 15(d) of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), nor exempt from reporting pursuant to Rule 12g3-2(b) thereunder furnish, upon request, to any holder or beneficial owner of such restricted securities or any prospective purchaser designated by any such holder or beneficial owner upon the request of such holder, beneficial owner or prospective purchaser, the information required to be delivered pursuant to Rule 144A(d)(4) under the Securities Act.

#### SUPPLEMENTARY OFFERING CIRCULAR

In connection with the admission of Notes to listing, trading and/or quotation by any competent authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system, if there shall occur any adverse change affecting any matter contained in this Offering Circular or any change in the information set out under "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" that is material in the context of issuance under the Programme, the Issuer will prepare or procure the preparation of an amendment or supplement to this Offering Circular or, as the case may be, publish a new Offering Circular, for use in connection with any subsequent issue by the Issuer of Notes to be admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation on any competent authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system.

#### **SUMMARY**

The following summary does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by the remainder of this Offering Circular. Words and expressions defined in "Forms of the Notes" or "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" below shall have the same meanings in this summary.

**Issuer:** Finnvera plc.

**Guarantor:** The Republic of Finland.

Risk Factors: Investing in Notes issued under the Programme involves certain

risks. The principal risk factors relating to the Notes are discussed

under "Risk Factors" below.

**Arranger:** HSBC Continental Europe.

Dealers: Citigroup Global Markets Europe AG, Citigroup Global Markets

Limited, Crédit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank, Danske Bank A/S, Deutsche Bank Aktiengesellschaft, HSBC Continental Europe and Nordea Bank Abp and any other Dealer appointed from time to time by the Issuer either generally in respect of the

Programme or in relation to a particular Tranche of Notes.

Fiscal Agent: Citibank, N.A., London Branch.

**Registrar:** Citigroup Europe plc, Germany Branch.

**Listing and Trading:** Application may be made for Notes to be listed and admitted to

trading on any listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system as may be agreed with the Issuer, as may be specified in the

relevant Pricing Supplement.

The Programme also permits unlisted Notes to be issued.

Clearing Systems: Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or DTC and/or, in

relation to any Tranche of Notes, any other clearing system as may be specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, or in relation to

VPS Notes, the VPS.

Initial Programme Amount: Up to €17,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies)

aggregate principal amount of Notes outstanding and guaranteed at

any one time.

**Issuance in Series:** Notes will be issued in Series. Each Series may comprise one or

more Tranches issued on different issue dates. The Notes of each Series will all be subject to identical terms, except that the issue date and the amount of the first payment of interest may be different in respect of different Tranches. The Notes of each Tranche will all be subject to identical terms in all respects save that a Tranche may

comprise Notes of different denominations.

For the avoidance of doubt, a Tranche that comprises VPS Notes may not also comprise Notes in bearer form or Notes in registered form, though it may comprise Notes in different denominations. Each Tranche of VPS Notes will be issued in dematerialised uncertificated book-entry form, as described herein. VPS Notes will be issued in accordance with the laws and regulations

applicable to VPS Notes from time to time.

**Pricing Supplements:** Each Tranche will be the subject of a Pricing Supplement which,

for the purposes of that Tranche only, supplements the Terms and Conditions of the Notes and this Offering Circular and must be read

in conjunction with this Offering Circular. The terms and conditions applicable to any particular Tranche of Notes are the Terms and Conditions of the Notes as supplemented, amended and/or replaced by the relevant Pricing Supplement.

Forms of Notes:

Notes may be issued in bearer form ("Bearer Notes"), in registered form ("Registered Notes") or, in the case of VPS Notes, in dematerialised uncertificated book-entry form, issued through the VPS, legal title thereto being evidenced by book entries in the VPS. Bearer Notes will not be exchangeable for Registered Notes and Registered Notes will not be exchangeable for Bearer Notes. VPS Notes may not be exchanged for Bearer Notes or Registered Notes and *vice versa*.

#### Bearer Notes:

Each Tranche of Bearer Notes will initially be in the form of either a Temporary Global Note or a Permanent Global Note, in each case as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

Each Global Note which is not intended to be issued in new global note form (a "Classic Global Note" or "CGN"), as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement will be deposited on or around the relevant issue date with a depositary or a common depositary for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system and each Global Note which is intended to be issued in new global note form (a "New Global Note" or "NGN"), as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, will be deposited on or around the relevant issue date with a common safekeeper for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg.

Each Temporary Global Note will be exchangeable for a Permanent Global Note or, if so specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, for Definitive Notes. If the TEFRA D Rules are specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as applicable, certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership will be a condition precedent to any exchange of an interest in a Temporary Global Note or receipt of any payment of interest in respect of a Temporary Global Note. Each Permanent Global Note will be exchangeable for Definitive Notes in accordance with its terms. Definitive Notes will, if interest-bearing, have Coupons attached and, if appropriate, a Talon for further Coupons.

# Registered Notes:

Each Tranche of Registered Notes will be represented by either:

- (i) Individual Note Certificates; or
- (ii) one or more Unrestricted Global Note Certificates in the case of Registered Notes sold outside the United States to non-U.S. persons in reliance on Regulation S and/or one or more Restricted Global Note Certificates in the case of Registered Notes sold to QIBs that are also QPs in reliance on Rule 144A,

in each case as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

Each Note represented by an Unrestricted Global Note Certificate will either be: (a) in the case of a Certificate which is not to be held under the new safekeeping structure ("New Safekeeping Structure" or "NSS"), registered in the name of a common

depositary (or its nominee) for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system and the relevant Unrestricted Global Note Certificate will be deposited on or about the issue date with the common depositary; or (b) in the case of a Certificate to be held under the New Safekeeping Structure, be registered in the name of a common safekeeper (or its nominee) for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and the relevant Unrestricted Global Note Certificate will be deposited on or about the issue date with the common safekeeper for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg.

Each Note represented by a Restricted Global Note Certificate will be registered in the name of Cede & Co. (or such other entity as is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement) as nominee for DTC and the relevant Restricted Global Note Certificate will be deposited on or about the issue date with the DTC Custodian. Beneficial interests in Notes represented by a Restricted Global Note Certificate may only be held through DTC at any time.

*VPS Notes*:

VPS Notes will not be evidenced by any physical note or document of title. Entitlements to VPS Notes will be evidenced by the crediting of VPS Notes to accounts with the VPS. Notes not being VPS Notes, but denominated in NOK and offered or sold in Norway, must satisfy the requirements in the Norwegian Registration of Financial Instruments Act of 15 March 2019 no. 6 (as amended or replaced from time to time, the "CSD Act") (Nw. verdipapirsentralloven), including, but not limited to, the requirement to register such Notes in book-entry form in a licensed central securities depository in accordance with regulation (EU) no. 909/2014 (as amended from time to time, the "CSDR") regardless of the Notes being traded on a trading venue and only permit physical notes or documents evidencing the Notes in accordance with the CSD Act and the CSDR.

Notes may be denominated in any currency or currencies, subject to compliance with all applicable legal and/or regulatory and/or central bank requirements. Payments in respect of Notes may, subject to such compliance, be made in and/or linked to, any currency or currencies other than the currency in which such Notes are denominated.

Notes will be issued on an unsecured and unsubordinated basis.

Notes will be unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by the Guarantor, on an unsecured and unsubordinated basis.

The total liability of the Guarantor under the Guarantee Undertaking will not exceed the maximum principal amount of the Notes capable of being issued by the Issuer under the Programme (which is £17,000,000,000 as of the date of this Offering Circular). In addition to such guaranteed amount, the Guarantor shall be liable to pay interest and default interest under the Notes as set out in the Guarantee Undertaking.

Payments under the Guarantee Undertaking will be made only in respect of payments of principal, interest and default interest under the Notes, as described therein. Noteholders will have to seek other redress in respect of any costs associated with enforcement of the Guarantee Undertaking. Noteholders should be aware that the

**Currencies:** 

**Status of the Notes:** 

**Status of the Guarantee:** 

Guarantee Undertaking is duly valid in respect of Notes (i) which are issued no later than 31 December 2029 and (ii) which have a maximum maturity of 25 years and should consider this in the context of any purchase of Notes.

**Issue Price:** 

Notes may be issued at any price and either on a fully or partly paid basis, as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement. The price and amount of Notes to be issued under the Programme will be determined by the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) at the time of issue in accordance with prevailing market conditions.

**Maturities:** 

Any maturity between 14 days and 25 years, subject, in relation to specific currencies, to compliance with all applicable legal and/or regulatory and/or central bank requirements.

Where Notes have a maturity of less than one year and either (a) the issue proceeds are received by the Issuer in the United Kingdom or (b) the activity of issuing the Notes is carried on from an establishment maintained by the Issuer in the United Kingdom, such Notes must: (i) have a minimum redemption value of £100,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies) and be issued only to persons whose ordinary activities involve them in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of their businesses or who it is reasonable to expect will acquire, hold, manage or dispose of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of their businesses; or (ii) be issued in other circumstances which do not constitute a contravention of section 19 of the FSMA by the Issuer.

**Redemption:** 

Notes may be redeemable at par or at such other Redemption Amount (detailed in a formula, index or otherwise) as may be specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement. Notes may also be redeemable in two or more instalments on such dates and in such manner as may be specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

**Optional Redemption:** 

Notes may be redeemed before their stated maturity at the option of the Issuer (either in whole or in part) and/or the Noteholders to the extent (if at all) specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

**Tax Redemption:** 

Except as described in "Optional Redemption" above, early redemption will only be permitted for tax reasons as described in Condition 9(b) (Redemption and Purchase - Redemption for tax reasons).

**Interest:** 

Notes may be interest-bearing or non-interest bearing. Interest (if any) may accrue at a fixed rate or a floating rate or other variable rate or be index-linked and the method of calculating interest may vary between the issue date and the maturity date of the relevant Series.

**Denominations:** 

No Notes may be issued under the Programme which (a) have a minimum denomination of less than €100,000 (or nearly equivalent in another currency), or (b) carry the right to acquire shares (or transferable securities equivalent to shares) issued by the Issuer. Subject thereto, Notes will be issued in such denominations as may be specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, subject to compliance with all applicable legal and/or regulatory and/or central bank requirements.

**Negative Pledge:** 

None.

**Cross Default:** 

None.

**Taxation:** 

All payments in respect of Notes will be made free and clear of withholding taxes of the Republic of Finland, as the case may be, unless the withholding is required by law. In that event, the Issuer will (subject as provided in Condition 13 (*Taxation*)) pay such additional amounts as will result in the Noteholders receiving such amounts as they would have received in respect of such Notes had no such withholding been required.

**ERISA Considerations:** 

Notes may generally not be held by a Benefit Plan Investor, although specific issuances of Notes may be ERISA-Permitted Issuances and may be purchased by Benefit Plan Investors. See "Certain ERISA and Related Considerations".

Governing Law:

English law, except for the Guarantee Undertaking which is governed by Finnish law and the VPS Notes that will be governed by and construed in accordance with Norwegian law. Further, VPS Notes and Notes which are not VPS Notes, but denominated in NOK and offered and sold in Norway, must comply with the CSD Act and the holders of VPS Notes will be entitled to the rights and subject to the obligations and liabilities which arise under the CSD Act and any related regulations and liabilities.

**Enforcement of Notes in Global Form:** 

In the case of Global Notes, individual investors' rights against the Issuer will be governed by a Deed of Covenant dated 20 December 2024, a copy of which will be available for inspection at the specified office of the Fiscal Agent.

**Selling Restrictions:** 

For a description of certain restrictions on offers, sales and deliveries of Notes and on the distribution of offering material in the United States of America, the United Kingdom, the Kingdom of Norway, Japan and Singapore, see "Subscription and Sale" below.

The Notes will be issued in compliance with U.S. Treas. Reg. §1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(D) (the "D Rules") unless (i) the relevant Pricing Supplement states that Notes are issued in compliance with U.S. Treas. Reg. §1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(C) (the "C Rules") or (ii) the Notes are issued other than in compliance with the D Rules or the C Rules but in circumstances in which the Notes will not constitute "registration required obligations" under the United States Tax Equity and Fiscal Responsibility Act of 1982 ("TEFRA"), which circumstances will be referred to in the relevant Pricing Supplement as a transaction to which TEFRA is not applicable.

**Transfer Restrictions:** 

There are restrictions on the transfer of Notes. See "Transfer Restrictions" and "Certain ERISA and Related Considerations".

#### DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The following information shall be deemed to be incorporated in, and to form part of, this Offering Circular:

- 1. the audited financial statements (including the auditors' report thereon and notes thereto) of the Issuer in respect of the years ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022;
- 2. the unaudited financial statements of the Issuer for the six months ended 30 June 2024;
- 3. the most recently published audited annual financial statements published subsequently to the date of this Offering Circular and any subsequently published interim financial statements (whether audited or unaudited) of the Issuer from time to time (if any);
- 4. the Terms and Conditions of the Notes set out on pages 24 to 50 of the offering circular dated 28 October 2019, pages 22 to 45 of the offering circular dated 24 April 2017, pages 23 to 46 of the offering circular dated 7 April 2015, pages 21 to 45 of the offering circular dated 10 April 2014 and pages 21 to 43 of the offering circular dated 2 October 2012 prepared by the Issuer in connection with the Programme; and
- 5. any other document issued or information published by the Issuer and explicitly stating therein or in the Pricing Supplement that it is to be incorporated by reference in this Offering Circular.

All amendments and supplements to this Offering Circular prepared by the Issuer from time to time shall be deemed to be incorporated in, and to form part of, this Offering Circular save that any statement contained in this Offering Circular or in any of the documents incorporated by reference in, and forming part of, this Offering Circular shall be deemed to be modified or superseded for the purpose of this Offering Circular to the extent that a statement contained in any document subsequently incorporated by reference modifies or supersedes such statement.

Copies of documents incorporated by reference in this Offering Circular can be obtained free of charge from the registered office of the Issuer and from the specified office of the Fiscal Agent and the other Paying Agents.

The audited financial statements and other financial statements or reports of the Issuer incorporated by reference in this Offering Circular from time to time are available on the Issuer's website at <a href="https://www.finnvera.fi/eng/finnvera">https://www.finnvera.fi/eng/finnvera</a>.

In relation to paragraph 5 above, information incorporated by reference may be included in a separate document, set out in a Pricing Supplement and/or posted on the website of the Issuer (http://www.finnvera.fi).

#### RISK FACTORS

Prospective investors should read the entire Offering Circular. Words and expressions defined in the "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" below or elsewhere in this Offering Circular have the same meanings in this section.

Investing in Notes issued under the Programme involves certain risks. Prospective investors should consider, among other things, the following factors.

# The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors

Each potential investor in the Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should:

- (i) have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, the merits and risks of investing in the Notes and the information contained or incorporated by reference in this Offering Circular or any applicable supplement;
- (ii) have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its particular financial situation, an investment in the Notes and the impact the Notes will have on its overall investment portfolio;
- (iii) have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the Notes, including Notes with principal or interest payable in one or more currencies, or where the currency for principal or interest payments is different from the potential investor's currency;
- (iv) understand thoroughly the terms of the Notes and be familiar with the behaviour of any relevant indices and financial markets; and
- (v) be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser or other adviser) possible scenarios for economic, interest rate, legal and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the applicable risks.

Some Notes are complex financial instruments. Sophisticated institutional investors generally do not purchase complex financial instruments as stand-alone investments. They purchase complex financial instruments as a way to reduce risk or enhance yield with an understood, measured, appropriate addition of risk to their overall portfolios. A potential investor should not invest in Notes which are complex financial instruments unless it has the expertise (either alone or with a financial adviser) to evaluate how the Notes will perform under changing conditions, the resulting effects on the value of the Notes and the impact this investment will have on the potential investor's overall investment portfolio. Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to determine whether and to what extent:

- (i) Notes are legal investments for it;
- (ii) Notes can be used as collateral for various types of borrowing; and
- (iii) other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of any Notes.

Financial institutions should consult their legal advisers or the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of Notes under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.

### Risks related to the structure of a particular issue of Notes

A wide range of Notes may be issued under the Programme. A number of these Notes may have features which contain particular risks for potential investors. Set out below is a description of the most common such features:

### Notes subject to optional redemption by the Issuer

An optional redemption feature of Notes is likely to limit their market value. During any period when the Issuer may elect to redeem Notes, the market value of those Notes generally will not rise substantially above the price at which they can be redeemed. This also may be true prior to any redemption period.

The Issuer may be expected to redeem Notes when its cost of borrowing is lower than the interest rate on the Notes. At those times, an investor generally would not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Notes being redeemed and may only be able to do so at a significantly lower rate. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of other investments available at that time.

# Index-Linked Notes and Dual Currency Notes

The Issuer may issue Notes with principal or interest determined by reference to an index or formula, to changes in the prices of securities or commodities, to movements in currency exchange rates or other factors (each, a "Relevant Factor"). In addition, the Issuer may issue Notes with principal or interest payable in one or more currencies which may be different from the currency in which the Notes are denominated. Potential investors should be aware that:

- (i) the market price of such Notes may be volatile;
- (ii) they may receive no interest;
- (iii) payment of principal or interest may occur at a different time or in a different currency than expected;
- (iv) they may lose all or a substantial portion of their principal;
- (v) a Relevant Factor may be subject to significant fluctuations that may not correlate with changes in interest rates, currencies or other indices;
- (vi) if a Relevant Factor is applied to Notes in conjunction with a multiplier greater than one or contains some other leverage factor, the effect of changes in the Relevant Factor on principal or interest payable likely will be magnified; and
- (vii) the timing of changes in a Relevant Factor may affect the actual yield to investors, even if the average level is consistent with their expectations. In general, the earlier the change in the Relevant Factor, the greater the effect on yield.

The historical experience of an index should not be viewed as an indication of the future performance of such index during the term of any Index-Linked Notes. Accordingly, each potential investor should consult its own financial and legal advisers about the risk entailed by an investment in any Index-Linked Notes and the suitability of such Notes in light of its particular circumstances.

#### Partly Paid Notes

The Issuer may issue Notes where the issue price is payable in more than one instalment. Failure to pay any subsequent instalment could result in an investor losing all of his investment.

# Variable rate Notes with a multiplier or other leverage factor

Notes with variable interest rates can be volatile investments. If they are structured to include multipliers or other leverage factors, or caps or floors, or any combination of those features or other similar related features, their market values may be even more volatile than those for securities that do not include those features.

#### **Inverse Floating Rate Notes**

Inverse Floating Rate Notes have an interest rate equal to a fixed rate minus a rate based upon a reference rate. The market values of those Notes typically are more volatile than market values of other conventional floating rate debt securities based on the same reference rate (and with otherwise comparable terms). Inverse Floating Rate Notes are more volatile because an increase in the reference rate not only decreases the interest rate of the Notes, but may also reflect an increase in prevailing interest rates, which further adversely affects the market value of these Notes.

#### Fixed/Floating Rate Notes

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may bear interest at a rate that converts from a fixed rate to a floating rate, or from a floating rate to a fixed rate. Where the Issuer has the right to effect such a conversion, this will affect the secondary market and the market value of the Notes since the Issuer may be expected to convert the rate when it is likely to produce a lower overall cost of borrowing. If the Issuer converts from a fixed rate to a floating rate in such circumstances, the spread on the Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may be less favourable than then prevailing spreads on comparable Floating Rate Notes tied to the same reference rate. In addition, the new floating rate at any time may be lower than the rates on other Notes. If the Issuer converts from a floating rate to a fixed rate in such circumstances, the fixed rate may be lower than then prevailing rates on its Notes.

# Floating Rate Notes

The market continues to develop in relation to risk-free rates (including overnight rates) as reference rates for Floating Rate Notes

The use of risk-free rates, including those such as the Sterling Overnight Index Average ("SONIA"), the Secured Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR") and the euro short-term rate ("ESTR"), as reference rates for floating rate notes continues to develop. This relates not only to the substance of the calculation of such rates and the development and adoption of market infrastructure for the issuance and trading of bonds referencing such rates, but also how widely such rates and methodologies might be adopted.

The market or a significant part thereof may adopt an application of risk-free rates that differs significantly from that set out in the Conditions and used in relation to Notes that reference risk-free rates issued under this Programme. The Issuer may in the future also issue Notes referencing SONIA, SOFR or €STR that differ materially in terms of interest determination when compared with any previous Notes issued by it under this Programme. The development of risk-free rates for the Eurobond markets could result in reduced liquidity or increased volatility, or could otherwise affect the market price of any Notes that reference a risk-free rate issued under this Programme from time to time.

In addition, the manner of adoption or application of risk-free rates in the Eurobond markets may differ materially compared with the application and adoption of risk-free rates in other markets, such as the derivatives and loan markets. Investors should carefully consider how any mismatch between the adoption of such reference rates in the bond, loan and derivatives markets may impact any hedging or other financial arrangements which they may put in place in connection with any acquisition, holding or disposal of Notes referencing such risk-free rates.

In particular, investors should be aware that several different methodologies have been used in risk-free rate notes issued to date. No assurance can be given that any particular methodology, including the compounding formula in the Conditions, will gain widespread market acceptance. In addition, market participants and relevant working groups are still exploring alternative reference rates based on risk-free rates, including various ways to produce term versions of certain risk-free rates (which seek to measure the market's forward expectation of an average of these reference rates over a designated term, as they are overnight rates) or different measures of such risk-free rates. If the relevant risk-free rates do not prove to be widely used in securities like the Notes, the trading price of such Notes linked to such risk-free rates may be lower than those of Notes referencing indices that are more widely used.

Investors should consider these matters when making their investment decision with respect to any Notes which reference SONIA, SOFR, €STR or any related indices.

Risk-free rates may differ from LIBOR and other inter-bank offered rates in a number of material respects and have a limited history

Risk-free rates may differ from the London Interbank Offered Rate ("LIBOR") and other inter-bank offered rates in a number of material respects. These include (without limitation) being backwards-looking, in most cases, calculated on a compounded or weighted average basis, risk-free, overnight rates and, in the case of SOFR, secured, whereas such interbank offered rates are generally expressed on the basis of a forward-looking term, are unsecured and include a credit risk-element based on interbank lending. As such, investors should be aware that risk-free rates may behave materially differently to interbank offered rates as interest reference rates for the Notes. Furthermore, SOFR is a secured rate that represents overnight secured funding

transactions, and therefore will perform differently over time to an unsecured rate. For example, since publication of SOFR began on 3 April 2018, daily changes in SOFR have, on occasion, been more volatile than daily changes in comparable benchmarks or other market rates.

Risk-free rates offered as alternatives to interbank offered rates also have a limited history. For that reason, future performance of such rates may be difficult to predict based on their limited historical performance. The level of such rates during the term of the Notes may bear little or no relation to historical levels. Prior observed patterns, if any, in the behaviour of market variables and their relation to such rates such as correlations, may change in the future. Investors should not rely on historical performance data as an indicator of the future performance of such risk-free rates nor should they rely on any hypothetical data.

Furthermore, interest on Notes which reference a backwards-looking risk-free rate is only capable of being determined immediately prior to the relevant Interest Payment Date. It may be difficult for investors in Notes which reference such risk-free rates reliably to estimate the amount of interest which will be payable on such Notes, and some investors may be unable or unwilling to trade such Notes without changes to their IT systems, both of which could adversely impact the liquidity of such Notes. Further, in contrast to Notes linked to interbank offered rates, if Notes referencing backwards-looking rates become due and payable as a result of an Event of Default under Condition 14 (*Events of Default*), or are otherwise redeemed early on a date which is not an Interest Payment Date, the final Rate of Interest payable in respect of such Notes shall be determined by reference to a shortened period ending immediately prior to the date on which the Notes become due and payable or are scheduled for redemption.

The administrator of SONIA, SOFR or  $\epsilon$ STR or any related indices may make changes that could change the value of SONIA, SOFR or  $\epsilon$ STR or any related index, or discontinue SONIA, SOFR or  $\epsilon$ STR or any related index

The Bank of England, the Federal Reserve Bank of New York or the European Central Bank (or their successors) as administrators of SONIA, SOFR or €STR, respectively, may make methodological or other changes that could change the value of these risk-free rates and/or indices, including changes related to the method by which such risk-free rate is calculated, eligibility criteria applicable to the transactions used to calculate SONIA, SOFR or €STR, or timing related to the publication of SONIA, SOFR or €STR or any related indices. In addition, the administrator may alter, discontinue or suspend calculation or dissemination of SONIA, SOFR or €STR or any related index (in which case a fallback method of determining the interest rate on the Notes will apply). The administrator has no obligation to consider the interests of Noteholders when calculating, adjusting, converting, revising or discontinuing any such risk-free rate.

Certain benchmark rates, including EURIBOR, may be discontinued or reformed in the future

The Euro Interbank Offered Rate ("EURIBOR") and other interest rates or other types of rates and indices which are deemed to be benchmarks are the subject of ongoing national and international regulatory discussions and proposals for reform. Some of these reforms are already effective whilst others are still to be implemented.

Regulation (EU) 2016/1011 (the "EU Benchmarks Regulation") applies, subject to certain transitional provisions, to the provision of benchmarks, the contribution of input data to a benchmark and the use of a benchmark, within the EU. Regulation (EU) 2016/1011 as it forms part of domestic law of the UK by virtue of the EUWA (the "UK Benchmarks Regulation") applies to the provision of benchmarks, the contribution of input data to a benchmark and the use of a benchmark, within the UK. The EU Benchmarks Regulation or the UK Benchmarks Regulation, as applicable, could have a material impact on any Notes linked to EURIBOR or another benchmark rate or index, in particular, if the methodology or other terms of the benchmark are changed in order to comply with the terms of the EU Benchmarks Regulation or UK Benchmarks Regulation, and such changes could (amongst other things) have the effect of reducing or increasing the rate or level, or affecting the volatility of the published rate or level, of the benchmark. More broadly, any of the international, national or other proposals for reform, or the general increased regulatory scrutiny of benchmarks, could increase the costs and risks of administering or otherwise participating in the setting of a benchmark and complying with any such regulations or requirements. Such factors may have the effect of discouraging market participants from continuing to administer or contribute to certain "benchmarks", trigger changes in the rules or methodologies used in certain "benchmarks" or lead to the discontinuance or unavailability of quotes of certain "benchmarks".

As an example of such benchmark reforms, on 21 September 2017, the European Central Bank announced that it would be part of a new working group tasked with the identification and adoption of a "risk free overnight rate" which can serve as a basis for an alternative to current benchmarks used in a variety of financial instruments and contracts in the euro area. On 13 September 2018, the working group on Euro risk-free rates recommended €STR as the new risk-free rate for the euro area. The €STR was published for the first time on 2 October 2019. Although EURIBOR has subsequently been reformed in order to comply with the terms of the EU Benchmark Regulation, it remains uncertain as to how long it will continue in its current form, or whether it will be further reformed or replaced with €STR or an alternative benchmark.

The elimination of EURIBOR or any other benchmark, or changes in the manner of administration of any benchmark, could require or result in an adjustment to the interest calculation provisions of the Conditions (as further described in Condition 6(p) (*Floating Rate Note and Index-Linked Interest Note Provisions - Benchmark Replacement*), or result in adverse consequences to holders of any Notes linked to such benchmark (including Floating Rate Notes whose interest rates are linked to EURIBOR or any other such benchmark that is subject to reform). Furthermore, even prior to the implementation of any changes, uncertainty as to the nature of alternative reference rates and as to potential changes to such benchmark may adversely affect such benchmark during the term of the relevant Notes, the return on the relevant Notes and the trading market for securities (including the Notes) based on the same benchmark.

The Conditions provide for certain fallback arrangements in the event that a published benchmark, such as EURIBOR (including any page on which such benchmark may be published (or any other successor service)) becomes unavailable or a Benchmark Event or a Benchmark Transition Event (each as defined in the Conditions), as applicable, otherwise occurs. Such an event may be deemed to have occurred prior to the issue date for a Series of Notes. Such fallback arrangements include the possibility that the rate of interest could be set by reference to a successor rate or an alternative rate and that such successor rate or alternative reference rate may be adjusted (if required) in accordance with the recommendation of a relevant governmental body or in order to reduce or eliminate, to the extent reasonably practicable in the circumstances, any economic prejudice or benefit (as applicable) to investors arising out of the replacement of the relevant benchmark, although the application of such adjustments to the Notes may not achieve this objective. Any such changes may result in the Notes performing differently (which may include payment of a lower interest rate) than if the original benchmark continued to apply. In certain circumstances the ultimate fallback of interest for a particular Interest Period may result in the rate of interest for the last preceding Interest Period being used.

This may result in the effective application of a fixed rate for Floating Rate Notes based on the rate which was last observed on the Relevant Screen Page. In addition, due to the uncertainty concerning the availability of successor rates and alternative reference rates and the involvement of an Independent Adviser (as defined in the Conditions) in certain circumstances, the relevant fallback provisions may not operate as intended at the relevant time.

Any such consequences could have a material adverse effect on the value of and return on any such Notes.

Investors should consult their own independent advisers and make their own assessment about the potential risks arising from the possible cessation or reform of certain reference rates in making any investment decision with respect to any Notes linked to or referencing a benchmark.

# Notes issued at a substantial discount or premium

The market values of securities issued at a substantial discount or premium from their principal amount tend to fluctuate more in relation to general changes in interest rates than do prices for conventional interest-bearing securities. Generally, the longer the remaining term of the securities, the greater the price volatility as compared to conventional interest-bearing securities with comparable maturities.

# Risks related to Notes generally

Set out below is a brief description of certain risks relating to the Notes generally:

Modification and waiver

The Conditions contain provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders to consider matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Noteholders including

Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and Noteholders who voted in a manner contrary to the majority.

The Conditions also provide that the Notes, the Conditions, the Guarantee Undertaking and the Deed of Covenant may be amended without the consent of the Noteholders or the Couponholders to correct a manifest error.

In addition, pursuant to Condition 6(p) (Floating Rate Note and Index-Linked Interest Note Provisions - Benchmark Replacement), certain changes may be made to the interest calculation provisions of the Floating Rate Notes in the circumstances and as otherwise set out in such Condition, without the requirement for consent of the Noteholders.

# Enforcement of the Guarantee Undertaking

Payments under the Guarantee Undertaking will be made only in respect of payments of principal (up to the maximum principal amount of the Notes capable of being issued by the Issuer under the Programme, which is €17,000,000,000 as of the date of this Offering Circular) and interest and default interest under the Notes and will not cover any costs relating to the enforcement of the Guarantee Undertaking against the Guarantor. Noteholders will, therefore, have to seek other redress in respect of any costs associated with enforcement of the Guarantee Undertaking and should consider this in the context of any purchase of Notes.

# Change of law

The Conditions are based on English law in effect as at the date of this Offering Circular. No assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible judicial decision or change to English law or administrative practice after the date of this Offering Circular and any such change could materially and adversely impact the value of any Notes affected by it.

Judgments entered against the Issuer or the Guarantor in the courts of a state which is not subject to the Brussels Regulations or the Lugano Convention may not be recognised or enforceable in Finland

A judgment entered against a Finnish entity (such as the Issuer and the Guarantor) in the courts of a state which is not, under the terms of (i) Recast Brussels Regulation (Regulation (EU) No 1215/2012 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 12 December 2012 on jurisdiction and the recognition and enforcement of judgments in civil and commercial matters) (the "2012 Brussels Regulation"), (ii) Council Regulation (EC) No 44/2001 of 22 December 2000 on jurisdiction and the recognition and enforcement of judgments in civil and commercial matters (the "2000 Brussels Regulation") or (iii) the Convention on jurisdiction and the recognition and enforcement of judgments in civil and commercial matters made at Lugano on 30 October 2007 (the "Lugano Convention"), a Member State (as defined in the 2012 Brussels Regulation and the 2000 Brussels Regulation) or a Contracting State (as defined in the Lugano Convention), would not be recognised or enforceable in Finland as a matter of law without a retrial on its merits (but will be of persuasive authority as a matter of evidence before the courts of law, administrative tribunals or executive or other public authorities of Finland).

As a result of Brexit, the 2012 Brussels Regulation has ceased to apply to the UK (and to English court judgments) and, further, the UK is no longer a party to the Lugano Convention and its application to accede to the Lugano Convention has been blocked by the European Commission. A judgment obtained in the courts of England against a Finnish entity would be recognised and enforceable in Finland in accordance with and subject to the procedural steps and on the material conditions imposed by the 2005 Hague Convention on Choice of Court Agreements (the "Hague Convention"). In circumstances where the Hague Convention is not applicable, it is possible that a judgment entered against the Issuer or the Guarantor in a United Kingdom court would not be recognised or enforceable in Finland as a matter of law without a retrial on its merits (but would be as circumstantial evidence before the courts of law, arbitral tribunals or executive or other public authorities in Finland). Hence, unless the UK accedes to the Lugano Convention or an agreement is reached between the UK and the Member States, a judgment entered against the Issuer or the Guarantor in an English court in respect of the Notes may not be recognised or enforceable in Finland as a matter of law without a re-trial on its merits.

As they contain asymmetric jurisdiction clauses, a judgment rendered against the Issuer in an English court on the basis of the asymmetric jurisdiction clauses in the Fiscal Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant and the Notes would likely not be recognised or enforceable in Finland without re-examination (but will

generally be considered as persuasive authority as a matter of evidence by Finnish courts). If the party in whose favour the final judgment has been rendered by an English court brings a new action in a competent court in Finland and the court accepts jurisdiction for such new action under the applicable law, the final judgment rendered by an English court may be submitted to such Finnish court, but would only be regarded by the Finnish court as evidence of the outcome of the dispute to which such judgment relates and the Finnish court would still have full discretion to rehear the dispute *ab initio*.

On 12 January 2024, the UK signed, and on 27 June 2024, ratified, the Hague Convention of 2 July 2019 on the Recognition and Enforcement of Foreign Judgments in Civil or Commercial Matters ("Hague 2019"), which will come into force as of 1 July 2025. Hague 2019 provides for the mutual enforcement of judgments between the UK and the other contracting states, including Member States, in proceedings started after Hague 2019 comes into force in the UK. Asymmetric and non-exclusive jurisdiction clauses will be covered by Hague 2019 and will apply to judgments given in proceedings initiated after Hague 2019 comes into effect, regardless of when the agreement was made. However, the applicability of Hague 2019 in the UK in relation to the Member States may be blocked by the European Commission by notice before 1 July 2025. Therefore, it is uncertain whether a judgment rendered against the Issuer in an English court would be recognised or enforceable in the Member States (including Finland) on the basis of Hague 2019 even after such date. In any event, the recognition and enforceability of a judgement were subject to the procedural steps and on the material conditions imposed by Hague 2019.

Notes where denominations involve integral multiples: definitive Notes

In relation to any issue of Notes which have denominations consisting of a minimum Specified Denomination plus one or more higher integral multiples of another smaller amount, it is possible that such Notes may be traded in amounts that are not integral multiples of such minimum Specified Denomination. In such a case a holder who, as a result of trading such amounts, holds an amount which is less than the minimum Specified Denomination in his account with the relevant clearing system at the relevant time may not receive a definitive Note in respect of such holding (should definitive Notes be printed) and would need to purchase a principal amount of Notes such that its holding amounts to a Specified Denomination.

If definitive Notes are issued, holders should be aware that definitive Notes which have a denomination that is not an integral multiple of the minimum Specified Denomination may be illiquid and difficult to trade.

# Risks related to the market generally

Set out below is a brief description of certain market risks, including liquidity risk, exchange rate risk, interest rate risk and credit risk:

The secondary market generally

Notes may have no established trading market when issued, and one may never develop. If a market does develop, it may not be very liquid. Therefore, investors may not be able to sell their Notes easily or at prices that will provide them with a yield comparable to similar investments that have a developed secondary market. This is particularly the case for Notes that are especially sensitive to interest rate, currency or market risks, are designed for specific investment objectives or strategies or have been structured to meet the investment requirements of limited categories of investors. These types of Notes generally would have a more limited secondary market and more price volatility than conventional debt securities. Illiquidity may have a severely adverse effect on the market value of Notes.

Exchange rate risks and exchange controls

The Issuer and the Guarantor will pay principal and interest on the Notes in the Specified Currency. This presents certain risks relating to currency conversions if an investor's financial activities are denominated principally in a currency or currency unit (the "Investor's Currency") other than the Specified Currency. These include the risk that exchange rates may significantly change (including changes due to devaluation of the Specified Currency or revaluation of the Investor's Currency) and the risk that authorities with jurisdiction over the Investor's Currency may impose or modify exchange controls. An appreciation in the value of the Investor's Currency relative to the Specified Currency would decrease (1) the Investor's Currency-equivalent yield on the Notes, (2) the Investor's Currency equivalent value of the principal payable on the Notes and (3) the Investor's Currency equivalent market value of the Notes.

Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange controls that could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate or the ability of the Issuer or the Guarantor to make payments in respect of the Notes. As a result, investors may receive less interest or principal than expected, or no interest or principal.

#### Interest rate risks

Investment in Fixed Rate Notes involves the risk that subsequent changes in market interest rates may adversely affect the value of the Fixed Rate Notes.

### Credit ratings may not reflect all risks

One or more independent credit rating agencies may assign credit rating(s) to Notes. The rating(s) may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market, additional factors discussed in this section, and other factors that may affect the value of the Notes. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency.

In general, European regulated investors are restricted from using a rating for regulatory purposes if such rating is not (1) issued by a credit rating agency established in the EEA and registered under the EU CRA Regulation or (2) provided by a credit rating agency not established in the EEA but is endorsed by a credit rating agency established in the EEA and registered under the EU CRA Regulation or (3) provided by a credit rating agency not established in the EEA which is certified under the EU CRA Regulation. Similarly, in general, UK regulated investors are restricted from using a rating for regulatory purposes if such rating is not (1) issued by a credit rating agency established in the UK and registered under the UK CRA Regulation or (2) provided by a credit rating agency not established in the UK but is endorsed by a credit rating agency established in the UK CRA Regulation or (3) provided by a credit rating agency not established in the UK which is certified under the UK CRA Regulation.

### Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments

The investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or review or regulation by certain authorities. Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to determine whether and to what extent (1) Notes are legal investments for it, (2) Notes can be used as collateral for various types of borrowing and (3) other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of any Notes. Financial institutions should consult their legal advisors or the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of Notes under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.

# Calculation Agent interests

The Issuer may appoint a Dealer as Calculation Agent in respect of an issuance of Notes under the Programme. In such a case the Calculation Agent is likely to be a member of an international financial group that is involved, in the ordinary course of its business, in a wide range of banking activities out of which conflicting interests may arise. Whilst such a Calculation Agent will, where relevant, have information barriers and procedures in place to manage conflicts of interest, it may in its other banking activities from time to time be engaged in transactions involving an index or related derivatives which may affect amounts receivable by Noteholders during the term and on the maturity of the Notes or the market price, liquidity or value of the Notes and which could be deemed to be adverse to the interests of the Noteholders.

#### FORMS OF THE NOTES

#### **Bearer Notes**

Each Tranche of Notes in bearer form ("Bearer Notes") will initially be in the form of either a temporary global note in bearer form (the "Temporary Global Note"), without interest coupons, or a permanent global note in bearer form (the "Permanent Global Note"), without interest coupons, in each case as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement. Each Temporary Global Note or, as the case may be, Permanent Global Note (each a "Global Note") which is not intended to be issued in new global note ("NGN") form, as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, will be deposited on or around the issue date of the relevant Tranche of the Notes with a depositary or a common depositary for Euroclear Bank SA/NV ("Euroclear") and/or Clearstream Banking S.A. ("Clearstream, Luxembourg") and/or any other relevant clearing system and each Global Note which is intended to be issued in NGN form, as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, will be deposited on or around the issue date of the relevant Tranche of the Notes with a common safekeeper for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, however, always so that Notes denominated in NOK and offered or sold in Norway, must satisfy the requirements in the CSD Act, including, but not limited to, the requirement to register such Notes in book-entry form in a licensed central securities depository in accordance with the CSDR regardless of such Notes being traded on a trading venue and only permit physical documents evidencing the Notes in accordance with the CSD Act and the CSDR.

On 13 June 2006, the European Central Bank (the "ECB") announced that Notes in NGN form are in compliance with the "Standards for the use of EU securities settlement systems in ESCB credit operations" of the central banking system for the euro (the "Eurosystem"), provided that certain other criteria are fulfilled. At the same time the ECB also announced that arrangements for Notes in NGN form will be offered by Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg as of 30 June 2006 and that debt securities in global bearer form issued through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg after 31 December 2006 will only be eligible as collateral for Eurosystem operations if the NGN form is used.

In the case of each Tranche of Bearer Notes, the relevant Pricing Supplement will also specify whether United States Treasury Regulation §1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(C) (the "TEFRA C Rules") or United States Treasury Regulation §1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(D) (the "TEFRA D Rules") are applicable in relation to the Notes or, if the Notes do not have a maturity of more than one year; or (ii) are in registered form for U.S. federal income tax purposes; that neither the TEFRA C Rules nor the TEFRA D Rules are applicable.

# Temporary Global Note exchangeable for Permanent Global Note

If the relevant Pricing Supplement specifies the form of Notes as being "Temporary Global Note exchangeable for a Permanent Global Note" and also specifies that the TEFRA C Rules are applicable or that neither the TEFRA C Rules or the TEFRA D Rules are applicable, then the Notes will initially be in the form of a Temporary Global Note which will be exchangeable, in whole but not in part, for Definitive Notes not earlier than 40 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche of the Notes.

If the relevant Pricing Supplement specifies the form of Notes as being "Temporary Global Note exchangeable for a Permanent Global Note", and also specifies that the TEFRA D Rules are applicable, then the Notes will initially be in the form of a Temporary Global Note which will be exchangeable, in whole or in part, for interests in a Permanent Global Note, without interest coupons, not earlier than 40 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche of the Notes upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership. No payments will be made under the Temporary Global Note unless exchange for interests in the Permanent Global Note is improperly withheld or refused. In addition, interest payments in respect of the Notes cannot be collected without such certification of non-U.S. beneficial ownership.

Whenever any interest in the Temporary Global Note is to be exchanged for an interest in a Permanent Global Note, the Issuer shall procure (in the case of first exchange) the delivery of a Permanent Global Note to the bearer of the Temporary Global Note or (in the case of any subsequent exchange) an increase in the principal amount of the Permanent Global Note in accordance with its terms against:

- (i) presentation and (in the case of final exchange) presentation and surrender of the Temporary Global Note to or to the order of the Fiscal Agent; and
- (ii) receipt by the Fiscal Agent of a certificate or certificates of non-U.S. beneficial ownership.

The principal amount of Notes represented by the Permanent Global Note shall be equal to the aggregate of the principal amounts specified in the certificates of non-U.S. beneficial ownership *provided*, *however*, *that* in no circumstances shall the principal amount of Notes represented by the Permanent Global Note exceed the initial principal amount of Notes represented by the Temporary Global Note.

If:

- (a) the Permanent Global Note has not been delivered or the principal amount thereof increased by 5.00 p.m. (London time) on the seventh day after the bearer of the Temporary Global Note has requested exchange of an interest in the Temporary Global Note for an interest in a Permanent Global Note; or
- (b) the Temporary Global Note (or any part thereof) has become due and payable in accordance with the Terms and Conditions of the Notes or the date for final redemption of the Temporary Global Note has occurred and, in either case, payment in full of the amount of principal falling due with all accrued interest thereon has not been made to the bearer of the Temporary Global Note in accordance with the terms of the Temporary Global Note on the due date for payment,

then the Temporary Global Note (including the obligation to deliver a Permanent Global Note) will become void at 5.00 p.m. (London time) on such seventh day (in the case of (a) above) or at 5.00 p.m. (London time) on such due date (in the case of (b) above) and the bearer of the Temporary Global Note will have no further rights thereunder (but without prejudice to the rights which the bearer of the Temporary Global Note or others may have under the Deed of Covenant).

The Permanent Global Note will become exchangeable, in whole but not in part only and at the request of the bearer of the Permanent Global Note, for Bearer Notes in definitive form ("**Definitive Notes**"):

- (a) on the expiry of such period of notice as may be specified in the Pricing Supplement; or
- (b) at any time, if so specified in the Pricing Supplement; or
- (c) if the Pricing Supplement specifies "in the limited circumstances described in the Permanent Global Note", then if either of the following events occurs:
  - (i) Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other relevant clearing system is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of legal holidays) or announces an intention permanently to cease business; or
  - (ii) any of the circumstances described in Condition 14 (Events of Default) occurs.

Whenever the Permanent Global Note is to be exchanged for Definitive Notes, the Issuer shall procure the prompt delivery (free of charge to the bearer) of such Definitive Notes, duly authenticated and with Coupons and Talons attached (if so specified in the Pricing Supplement), in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of Notes represented by the Permanent Global Note to the bearer of the Permanent Global Note against the surrender of the Permanent Global Note to or to the order of the Fiscal Agent within 30 days of the bearer requesting such exchange.

If:

- (a) Definitive Notes have not been duly delivered by 5.00 p.m. (London time) on the thirtieth day after the bearer has requested exchange of the Permanent Global Note for Definitive Notes; or
- (b) the Permanent Global Note was originally issued in exchange for part only of a Temporary Global Note representing the Notes and such Temporary Global Note becomes void in accordance with its terms; or
- (c) the Permanent Global Note (or any part thereof) has become due and payable in accordance with the Terms and Conditions of the Notes or the date for final redemption of the Permanent Global Note has occurred and, in either case, payment in full of the amount of principal falling due with all accrued interest thereon has not been made to the bearer in accordance with the terms of the Permanent Global Note on the due date for payment,

then the Permanent Global Note (including the obligation to deliver Definitive Notes) will become void at 5.00 p.m. (London time) on such thirtieth day (in the case of (a) above) or at 5.00 p.m. (London time) on the date on which such Temporary Global Note becomes void (in the case of (b) above) or at 5.00 p.m. (London time) on such due date ((c) above) and the bearer of the Permanent Global Note will have no further rights thereunder (but without prejudice to the rights which the bearer of the Permanent Global Note or others may have under the Deed of Covenant).

# Temporary Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes

If the applicable Pricing Supplement specifies the form of Notes as being "Temporary Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes" and also specifies that the TEFRA C Rules are applicable or that neither the TEFRA C Rules or the TEFRA D Rules are applicable, then the Notes will initially be in the form of a Temporary Global Note which will be exchangeable, in whole but not in part, for Definitive Notes not earlier than 40 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche of the Notes.

If the relevant Pricing Supplement specifies the form of Notes as being "Temporary Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes" and also specifies that the TEFRA D Rules are applicable, then the Notes will initially be in the form of a Temporary Global Note which will be exchangeable, in whole or in part, for Definitive Notes not earlier than 40 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche of the Notes upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership. Interest payments in respect of the Notes cannot be collected without such certification of non-U.S. beneficial ownership.

Whenever the Temporary Global Note is to be exchanged for Definitive Notes, the Issuer shall procure the prompt delivery (free of charge to the bearer) of such Definitive Notes, duly authenticated and with Coupons and Talons attached (if so specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement), in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of the Temporary Global Note to the bearer of the Temporary Global Note against the surrender of the Temporary Global Note to or to the order of the Fiscal Agent within 30 days of the bearer requesting such exchange.

If:

- (a) Definitive Notes have not been duly delivered by 5.00 p.m. (London time) on the thirtieth day after the bearer has requested exchange of the Temporary Global Note for Definitive Notes; or
- (b) the Temporary Global Note (or any part thereof) has become due and payable in accordance with the Terms and Conditions of the Notes or the date for final redemption of the Temporary Global Note has occurred and, in either case, payment in full of the amount of principal falling due with all accrued interest thereon has not been made to the bearer in accordance with the terms of the Temporary Global Note on the due date for payment,

then the Temporary Global Note (including the obligation to deliver Definitive Notes) will become void at 5.00 p.m. (London time) on such thirtieth day (in the case of (a) above) or at 5.00 p.m. (London time) on such due date (in the case of (b) above) and the bearer of the Temporary Global Note will have no further rights thereunder (but without prejudice to the rights which the bearer of the Temporary Global Note or others may have under the Deed of Covenant).

# Permanent Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes

If the relevant Pricing Supplement specifies the form of Notes as being "Permanent Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes", then the Notes will initially be in the form of a Permanent Global Note which will be exchangeable in whole, but not in part, for Definitive Notes:

- (a) on the expiry of such period of notice as may be specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement; or
- (b) at any time, if so specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement; or
- (c) if the relevant Pricing Supplement specifies "in the limited circumstances described in the Permanent Global Note", then if either of the following events occurs:
  - (i) Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other relevant clearing system is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of legal holidays) or announces an intention permanently to cease business; or

(ii) any of the circumstances described in Condition 14 (Events of Default) occurs.

Whenever the Permanent Global Note is to be exchanged for Definitive Notes, the Issuer shall procure the prompt delivery (free of charge to the bearer) of such Definitive Notes, duly authenticated and with Coupons and Talons attached (if so specified in the Pricing Supplement), in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of Notes represented by the Permanent Global Note to the bearer of the Permanent Global Note against the surrender of the Permanent Global Note to or to the order of the Fiscal Agent within 30 days of the bearer requesting such exchange.

If:

- (a) Definitive Notes have not been duly delivered by 5.00 p.m. (London time) on the thirtieth day after the bearer has requested exchange of the Permanent Global Note for Definitive Notes; or
- (b) the Permanent Global Note (or any part thereof) has become due and payable in accordance with the Terms and Conditions of the Notes or the date for final redemption of the Permanent Global Note has occurred and, in either case, payment in full of the amount of principal falling due with all accrued interest thereon has not been made to the bearer in accordance with the terms of the Permanent Global Note on the due date for payment,

then the Permanent Global Note (including the obligation to deliver Definitive Notes) will become void at 5.00 p.m. (London time) on such thirtieth day (in the case of (a) above) or at 5.00 p.m. (London time) on such due date ((b) above) and the bearer of the Permanent Global Note will have no further rights thereunder (but without prejudice to the rights which the bearer of the Permanent Global Note or others may have under the Deed of Covenant).

If Global Notes are exchangeable for Definitive Notes upon notice or at any time at the option of the Noteholder, then such Definitive Notes may only be issued to be held in clearing systems if in denominations equal to €100,000 (or equal to £100,000/U.S.\$200,000, as applicable) and integral multiples thereof.

# **VPS Notes**

Each Tranche of VPS Notes will be issued in uncertificated and dematerialised book-entry form. Legal title to the VPS Notes will be evidenced by book entries in the records of the VPS. A VPS account manager will be appointed by the Issuer prior to the first issue of any VPS Notes (the "VPS Account Manager") in accordance with a VPS account manager agreement (the "VPS Account Manager Agreement"). In addition, the Issuer may appoint a VPS Trustee (the "VPS Trustee") in connection with the issue of a Series of VPS Notes whom will act for the benefit of the Holders of VPS Notes in accordance with the provisions of a VPS trustee agreement (the "VPS Trustee Agreement") and the terms and conditions set out under "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" below. On the issue of such VPS Notes, the Issuer will send a letter to a VPS Trustee with a copy to the VPS Account Manager, (or if a VPS Trustee has not been appointed, to the VPS Account Manager directly), which will set out the terms of the relevant issue of VPS Notes in the form of a supplement attached to the Pricing Supplement (the "VPS Letter"). On delivery of such VPS Letter including the relevant Pricing Supplement to the VPS and notification to the VPS of the subscribers and their VPS account details by the relevant Dealer, the VPS Account Manager acting on behalf of the Issuer will credit each subscribing account holder with the VPS with a nominal amount of VPS Notes equal to the nominal amount thereof for which it has subscribed and paid.

Settlement of sale and purchase transactions in respect of VPS Notes in the VPS will take place three Oslo business days after the date of the relevant transaction. Transfers of interests in the relevant VPS Notes will only take place in accordance with the rules and procedures for the time being of the VPS.

# Rights under Deed of Covenant

Under the Deed of Covenant, persons shown in the records of DTC, Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system as being entitled to an interest in a Temporary Global Note or a Permanent Global Note which becomes void will acquire directly against the Issuer all those rights to which they would have been entitled if, immediately before the Temporary Global Note or Permanent Global Note became void, they had been the holders of Definitive Notes in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of Notes they were shown as holding in the records of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system.

# Terms and Conditions applicable to the Notes

The terms and conditions applicable to any Definitive Note will be endorsed on that Note and will consist of the terms and conditions set out under "*Terms and Conditions of the Notes*" below and the provisions of the relevant Pricing Supplement which supplement, amend and/or replace those terms and conditions.

The terms and conditions applicable to any Note in global form will differ from those terms and conditions which would apply to the Note were it in definitive form to the extent described under "Summary of Provisions Relating to the Notes while in Global Form" below.

# Legend concerning U.S. persons

In the case of any Tranche of Bearer Notes having a maturity of more than 365 days, the Notes in global form, the Notes in definitive form and any Coupons and Talons appertaining thereto will bear a legend to the following effect:

"Any U.S. person who holds this obligation will be subject to limitations under the United States income tax laws, including the limitations provided in Sections 165(j) and 1287(a) of the Internal Revenue Code."

# **Registered Notes**

Each Tranche of Notes in registered form ("Registered Notes") will be represented by either:

- (i) individual Note Certificates in registered form ("Individual Note Certificates"); or
- (ii) one or more unrestricted global note certificates ("Unrestricted Global Note Certificate(s)") in the case of Registered Notes sold outside the United States to non-U.S. persons in reliance on Regulation S ("Unrestricted Registered Notes") and/or one or more restricted global note certificates ("Restricted Global Note Certificate(s)") in the case of Registered Notes sold to QIBs who are also QPs in reliance on Rule 144A ("Restricted Registered Notes"),

in each case as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, and references in this Offering Circular to "Global Note Certificates" shall be construed as a reference to Unrestricted Global Note Certificates and/or Restricted Global Note Certificates, and always so that Notes denominated in NOK and offered or sold in Norway, must satisfy the requirements in the CSD Act, including, but not limited to, the requirement to register such Notes in book-entry form in a licensed central securities depository in accordance with the CSDR regardless of such Notes being traded on a trading venue and only permit physical documents evidencing the Notes in accordance with the CSD Act and the CSDR.

In a press release dated 22 October 2008, "Evolution of the custody arrangement for international debt securities and their eligibility in Eurosystem credit operations", the ECB announced that it has assessed the new holding structure and custody arrangements for registered notes which the ICSDs had designed in cooperation with market participants and that Notes to be held under the new structure (the "New Safekeeping Structure" or "NSS") would be in compliance with the "Standards for the use of EU securities settlement systems in ESCB credit operations" of the Eurosystem, subject to the conclusion of the necessary legal and contractual arrangements. The press release also stated that the new arrangements for Notes to be held in NSS form will be offered by Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg as of 30 June 2010 and that registered debt securities in global registered form issued through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg after 30 September 2010 will only be eligible as collateral in Eurosystem operations if the New Safekeeping Structure is used.

Each Note represented by an Unrestricted Global Note Certificate will either be: (a) in the case of an Unrestricted Global Note Certificate which is not to be held under the new safekeeping structure ("New Safekeeping Structure" or "NSS") registered in the name of a common depositary (or its nominee) for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system and the relevant Unrestricted Global Note Certificate will be deposited on or about the issue date with the common depositary; or (b) in the case of an Unrestricted Global Note Certificate to be held under the New Safekeeping Structure, be registered in the name of a common safekeeper (or its nominee) for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system and the relevant Unrestricted Global Note Certificate will be deposited on or about the issue date with the common safekeeper for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg. Each Note represented by a Restricted Global Note Certificate

will be registered in the name of Cede & Co. (or such other entity as is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement) as nominee for The Depository Trust Company ("DTC") and the relevant Restricted Global Note Certificate will be deposited on or about the issue date with the custodian for DTC (the "DTC Custodian"). Beneficial interests in Notes represented by a Restricted Global Note Certificate may only be held through DTC at any time.

If the relevant Pricing Supplement specifies the form of Notes as being "Individual Note Certificates", then the Notes will at all times be in the form of Individual Note Certificates issued to each Noteholder in respect of their respective holdings.

# Global Note Certificate exchangeable for Individual Note Certificates

If (i) the relevant Pricing Supplement specifies the form of Notes as being "Global Note Certificate exchangeable for Individual Note Certificates", (ii) the Notes are not governed by Norwegian law, and (iii) the Notes are not denominated in NOK and offered in Norway, then the Notes will initially be represented by one or more Global Note Certificates each of which will be exchangeable in whole, but not in part, for Individual Note Certificates:

- (a) on the expiry of such period of notice as may be specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement; or
- (b) at any time, if so specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement; or
- (c) if the relevant Pricing Supplement specifies "in the limited circumstances described in the Global Note Certificate", then:
  - (i) in the case of any Global Note Certificate held by or on behalf of DTC, if DTC notifies the Issuer that it is no longer willing or able to discharge properly its responsibilities as depositary with respect to the Global Note Certificate or DTC ceases to be a "clearing agency" registered under the Exchange Act or if at any time DTC is no longer eligible to act as such, and the Issuer is unable to locate a qualified successor within 90 days of receiving notice or becoming aware of such ineligibility on the part of DTC;
  - (ii) in the case of any Unrestricted Global Note Certificate, if Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other relevant clearing system is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of legal holidays) or announces an intention permanently to cease business; and
  - (iii) in any case, if any of the circumstances described in Condition 14 (*Events of Default*) occurs.

Whenever a Global Note Certificate is to be exchanged for Individual Note Certificates, each person having an interest in a Global Note Certificate must provide the Registrar (through the relevant clearing system) with such information as the Issuer and the Registrar may require to complete and deliver Individual Note Certificates (including the name and address of each person in which the Notes represented by the Individual Note Certificates are to be registered and the principal amount of each such person's holding). In addition, whenever a Restricted Global Note Certificate is to be exchanged for Individual Note Certificates, each person having an interest in the Restricted Global Note Certificate must provide the Registrar (through the relevant clearing system) with a certificate given by or on behalf of the holder of each beneficial interest in the Restricted Global Note Certificate stating either (i) that such holder is not transferring its interest at the time of such exchange or (ii) that the transfer or exchange of such interest has been made in compliance with the transfer restrictions applicable to the Notes and that the person transferring such interest reasonably believes that the person acquiring such interest is a QIB who is also a QP and is obtaining such beneficial interest in a transaction meeting the requirements of Rule 144A. Individual Note Certificates issued in exchange for interests in the Restricted Global Note Certificate will bear the legends and be subject to the transfer restrictions set out under "Transfer Restrictions".

Whenever a Global Note Certificate is to be exchanged for Individual Note Certificates, the Issuer shall procure that Individual Note Certificates will be issued in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of the Global Note Certificate within five business days of the delivery, by or on behalf of the registered holder of the Global Note Certificate to the Registrar of such information as is required to complete and deliver such Individual Note Certificates against the surrender of the Global Note Certificate at the specified office of the Registrar.

Such exchange will be effected in accordance with the provisions of the Agency Agreement and the regulations concerning the transfer and registration of Notes scheduled thereto and, in particular, shall be effected without charge to any holder, but against such indemnity as the Registrar may require in respect of any tax or other duty of whatsoever nature which may be levied or imposed in connection with such exchange.

If:

- (a) Individual Note Certificates have not been delivered by 5.00 p.m. (London time) on the thirtieth day after they are due to be issued and delivered in accordance with the terms of the Global Note Certificate; or
- (b) any of the Notes represented by a Global Note Certificate(or any part of it) has become due and payable in accordance with the Terms and Conditions of the Notes or the date for final redemption of the Notes has occurred and, in either case, payment in full of the amount of principal falling due with all accrued interest thereon has not been made to the holder of the Global Note Certificate in accordance with the terms of the Global Note Certificate on the due date for payment,

then the Global Note Certificate (including the obligation to deliver Individual Note Certificates) will become void at 5.00 p.m. (London time) on such thirtieth day (in the case of (a) above) or at 5.00 p.m. (London time) on such due date (in the case of (b) above) and the holder of the Global Note Certificate will have no further rights thereunder (but without prejudice to the rights which the holder of the Global Note Certificate or others may have under the Deed of Covenant. Under the Deed of Covenant, persons shown in the records of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system as being entitled to an interest in a Global Note Certificate will acquire directly against the Issuer all those rights to which they would have been entitled if, immediately before the Global Note Certificate became void, they had been the holders of Individual Note Certificates in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of Notes they were shown as holding in the records of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system.

# Terms and Conditions applicable to the Notes

The terms and conditions applicable to any Individual Note Certificate will be endorsed on that Individual Note Certificate and will consist of the terms and conditions set out under "*Terms and Conditions of the Notes*" below and the provisions of the relevant Pricing Supplement which supplements, amends and/or replaces those terms and conditions.

The terms and conditions applicable to any Global Note Certificate will differ from those terms and conditions which would apply to the Note were it in definitive form to the extent described under "Summary of Provisions Relating to the Notes while in Global Form" below.

#### TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES

The following is the text of the terms and conditions which, as supplemented, amended and/or replaced by the relevant Pricing Supplement, will be endorsed on each Note in definitive form issued under the Programme. The terms and conditions applicable to any Note in global form will differ from those terms and conditions which would apply to the Note were it in definitive form to the extent described under "Summary of Provisions Relating to the Notes while in Global Form" below.

#### 1. **Introduction**

- (a) Programme: Finnvera plc (the "Issuer") has established a Euro Medium Term Note Programme (the "Programme") for the issuance of up to €17,000,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of notes (the "Notes") guaranteed by the Republic of Finland (the "Guarantor").
- (b) Pricing Supplement: Notes issued under the Programme are issued in series (each a "Series") and each Series may comprise one or more tranches (each a "Tranche") of Notes. Each Tranche is the subject of a pricing supplement (the "Pricing Supplement") which supplements these terms and conditions (the "Conditions"). The terms and conditions applicable to any particular Tranche of Notes are these Conditions as supplemented, amended and/or replaced by the relevant Pricing Supplement. In the event of any inconsistency between these Conditions and the relevant Pricing Supplement, the relevant Pricing Supplement shall prevail.
- (c) Agency Agreement: The Notes (other than VPS Notes (as defined below)) are the subject of an issue and paying agency agreement dated 20 December 2024 (the "Agency Agreement") between the Issuer, Citibank, N.A., London Branch as fiscal agent (the "Fiscal Agent", which expression includes any successor fiscal agent appointed from time to time in connection with the Notes), Citibank Europe plc, Germany Branch as registrar (the "Registrar", which expression includes any successor registrar appointed from time to time in connection with the Notes), the paying agents named therein (together with the Fiscal Agent, the "Paying Agents", which expression includes any successor or additional paying agents appointed from time to time in connection with the Notes) and the transfer agents named therein (together with the Registrar, the "Transfer Agents", which expression includes any successor or additional transfer agents appointed from time to time in connection with the Notes). In these Conditions references to the "Agents" are to the Paying Agents and the Transfer Agents and any reference to an "Agent" is to any one of them.
- (d) Guarantee Undertaking: The Notes are subject of a guarantee undertaking dated 20 December 2024 ("Guarantee Undertaking") entered into by the Guarantor.
- (e) Deed of Covenant: The Notes (other than VPS Notes) may be issued in bearer form ("**Bearer Notes**") or in registered form ("**Registered Notes**"). Registered Notes are constituted by a deed of covenant dated 20 December 2024 (the "**Deed of Covenant**") entered into by the Issuer. VPS Notes are issued in uncertificated and dematerialised book-entry form and cleared through the VPS (as defined below). Legal title to the VPS Notes will be evidenced by book entries in accounts with VPS.
- (f) The Notes: All subsequent references in these Conditions to "Notes" are to the Notes which are the subject of the relevant Pricing Supplement. Copies of the relevant Pricing Supplement are available for inspection by Noteholders during normal business hours at the Specified Office of the Fiscal Agent, the initial Specified Office of which is set out below.
- (g) Summaries: Certain provisions of these Conditions are summaries of the Agency Agreement, the Guarantee Undertaking and the Deed of Covenant and are subject to their detailed provisions. The holders of the Notes (the "Noteholders") and the holders of the related interest coupons, if any, (the "Couponholders" and the "Coupons", respectively) are bound by, and are deemed to have notice of, all the provisions of the Agency Agreement, the Guarantee Undertaking and the Deed of Covenant applicable to them. In the case of VPS Notes, the Holders are deemed to have notice of all the provisions of the VPS Trustee Agreement (if applicable). Copies of the Agency Agreement, the Guarantee Undertaking and the Deed of Covenant are available for inspection by Noteholders during normal business hours at the Specified Offices of each of the Paying Agents, the initial Specified Offices of which are set out below.

(h) VPS Notes: VPS Notes are in dematerialised uncertificated book-entry form, and any references in these Conditions to Receipts, Coupons, and Talons shall not apply to VPS Notes and no global or definitive Notes will be issued in respect thereof. These terms and conditions shall be construed accordingly.

# 2. **Interpretation**

- (a) *Definitions*: In these Conditions the following expressions have the following meanings:
  - "2006 ISDA Definitions" means, in relation to a Series of Notes, the 2006 ISDA Definitions (as supplemented, amended and updated as at the date of issue of the first Tranche of the Notes of such Series) as published by ISDA (copies of which may be obtained from ISDA at <a href="https://www.isda.org">www.isda.org</a>);
  - "2021 ISDA Definitions" means, in relation to a Series of Notes, the latest version of the 2021 ISDA Interest Rate Derivatives Definitions (including each Matrix (and any successor Matrix thereto), as defined in such 2021 ISDA Interest Rate Derivatives Definitions) as at the date of issue of the first Tranche of Notes of such Series, as published by ISDA on its website (<a href="www.isda.org">www.isda.org</a>);

"Accrual Yield" has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement;

"Additional Business Centre(s)" means the city or cities specified as such in the relevant Pricing Supplement;

"Additional Financial Centre(s)" means the city or cities specified as such in the relevant Pricing Supplement;

### "Business Day" means:

- (i) in relation to any sum payable in euro, a T2 Settlement Day and a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments generally in each (if any) Additional Business Centre;
- (ii) in relation to any sum payable in a currency other than euro, a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments generally in London, in the Principal Financial Centre of the relevant currency and in each (if any) Additional Business Centre; and
- (iii) in respect of Notes for which the Reference Rate is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being "SOFR", any weekday that is a U.S. Government Securities Business Day and is not a legal holiday in New York and each (if any) Additional Business Centre(s) and is not a date on which banking institutions in those cities are authorised or required by law or regulation to be closed;

"Business Day Convention", in relation to any particular date, has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement and, if so specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, may have different meanings in relation to different dates and, in this context, the following expressions shall have the following meanings:

- (i) "Following Business Day Convention" means that the relevant date shall be postponed to the first following day that is a Business Day;
- (ii) "Modified Following Business Day Convention" means that the relevant date shall be postponed to the first following day that is a Business Day unless that day falls in the next calendar month in which case that date will be the first preceding day that is a Business Day save in respect of Notes for which the Reference Rate is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being "SOFR", for which the final Interest Payment Date will not be postponed and interest on that payment will not accrue during the period from and after the scheduled final Interest Payment Date;
- (iii) "Preceding Business Day Convention" means that the relevant date shall be brought forward to the first preceding day that is a Business Day;

- (iv) "FRN Convention" means that each relevant date shall be the date which numerically corresponds to the preceding such date in the calendar month which is the number of months specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as the Specified Period after the calendar month in which the preceding such date occurred *provided*, *however*, *that*:
  - (a) if there is no such numerically corresponding day in the calendar month in which any such date should occur, then such date will be the last day which is a Business Day in that calendar month;
  - (b) if any such date would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business Day, then such date will be the first following day which is a Business Day unless that day falls in the next calendar month, in which case it will be the first preceding day which is a Business Day; and
  - (c) if the preceding such date occurred on the last day in a calendar month which was a Business Day, then all subsequent such dates will be the last day which is a Business Day in the calendar month which is the specified number of months after the calendar month in which the preceding such date occurred; and
- (v) "No Adjustment" means that the relevant date shall not be adjusted in accordance with any Business Day Convention;

"Calculation Agent" means the Fiscal Agent or such other Person specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as the party responsible for calculating the Rate(s) of Interest and Interest Amount(s) and/or such other amount(s) as may be specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement;

"Calculation Amount" has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement;

"Coupon Sheet" means, in respect of a Note, a coupon sheet relating to the Note;

"Day Count Fraction" means, in respect of the calculation of an amount for any period of time (the "Calculation Period"), such day count fraction as may be specified in these Conditions or the relevant Pricing Supplement and:

- (i) if "Actual/Actual (ICMA)" is so specified, means:
  - (a) where the Calculation Period is equal to or shorter than the Regular Period during which it falls, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by the product of (1) the actual number of days in such Regular Period and (2) the number of Regular Periods in any year; and
  - (b) where the Calculation Period is longer than one Regular Period, the sum of:
    - (A) the actual number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the Regular Period in which it begins divided by the product of (1) the actual number of days in such Regular Period and (2) the number of Regular Periods in any year; and
    - (B) the actual number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the next Regular Period divided by the product of (1) the actual number of days in such Regular Period and (2) the number of Regular Periods in any year;
- (ii) if "Actual/Actual (ISDA)" is so specified, means the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 365 (or, if any portion of the Calculation Period falls in a leap year, the sum of (A) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (B) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in a non-leap year divided by 365);
- (iii) if "Actual/365 (Fixed)" is so specified, means the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 365;

- (iv) if "Actual/360" is so specified, means the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360;
- (v) if "30/360" is so specified, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction = 
$$\frac{[360x(Y_2 - Y_1)] + [30x(M_2 - M_1)] + (D_2 - D_1)}{360}$$

where:

"Y<sub>1</sub>" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

" $Y_2$ " is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

" $M_1$ " is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

"M<sub>2</sub>" is the calendar month, expressed as number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

"D<sub>1</sub>" is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D<sub>1</sub> will be 30; and

" $D_2$ " is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31 and  $D_1$  is greater than 29, in which case  $D_2$  will be 30;

(vi) if "30E/360" or "Eurobond Basis" is so specified, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction = 
$$\frac{[360x(Y_2 - Y_1)] + [30x(M_2 - M_1)] + (D_2 - D_1)}{360}$$

where:

" $Y_1$ " is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

" $Y_2$ " is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

 ${}^{\text{"}}M_{1}{}^{\text{"}}$  is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

" $M_2$ " is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

" $D_1$ " is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case  $D_1$  will be 30; and

" $D_2$ " is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case  $D_2$  will be 30; and

(vii) if "30E/360 (ISDA)" is so specified, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction = 
$$\frac{[360x(Y_2 - Y_1)] + [30x(M_2 - M_1)] + (D_2 - D_1)}{360}$$

where:

"Y<sub>1</sub>" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

"Y<sub>2</sub>" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

" $M_1$ " is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

"M<sub>2</sub>" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

" $D_1$ " is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of February or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case  $D_1$  will be 30; and

" $\mathbf{D_2}$ " is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of February but not the Maturity Date or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case  $D_2$  will be 30,

*provided, however, that* in each such case the number of days in the Calculation Period is calculated from and including the first day of the Calculation Period to but excluding the last day of the Calculation Period;

"DTC" means The Depository Trust Company;

"Early Redemption Amount (Tax)" means, in respect of any Note, its principal amount or such other amount as may be specified in, or determined in accordance with, the relevant Pricing Supplement;

"Early Termination Amount" means, in respect of any Note, its principal amount or such other amount as may be specified in, or determined in accordance with, these Conditions or the relevant Pricing Supplement;

"EURIBOR" means, in respect of any specified currency and any specified period, the interest rate benchmark known as the Euro zone interbank offered rate which is calculated and published by a designated distributor (currently Thomson Reuters) in accordance with the requirements from time to time of the European Money Markets Institute (or any person which takes over administration of that rate);

"Extraordinary Resolution" has the meaning given in the Agency Agreement;

"Final Redemption Amount" means, in respect of any Note, its principal amount or such other amount as may be specified in, or determined in accordance with, the relevant Pricing Supplement;

"Fixed Coupon Amount" has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement;

"Guarantee" means, in relation to any Indebtedness of any Person, any obligation of another person to pay such indebtedness including (without limitation):

- (a) any obligation to purchase such Indebtedness;
- (b) any obligation to lend money, to purchase or subscribe shares or other securities or to purchase assets or services in order to provide funds for the payment of such Indebtedness:
- (c) any indemnity against the consequences of a default in the payment of such Indebtedness; and
- (d) any other agreement to be responsible for such Indebtedness;

"Guarantee of the Notes" means the guarantee of the Notes given by the Guarantor in the Guarantee Undertaking;

"Holder", in the case of Bearer Notes, has the meaning given in Condition 3(b) (Form, Denomination, Title and Transfer - Title to Bearer Notes) and, in the case of Registered Notes, has the meaning given in Condition 3(d) (Form, Denomination, Title and Transfer - Title to Registered Notes) and, in the case of VPS Notes, has the meaning given in Condition 3(k) (Form, Denomination, Title and Transfer - Specific provisions for VPS Notes);

"Indebtedness" means any indebtedness of any Person for money borrowed or raised including (without limitation) any indebtedness for or in respect of:

- (a) amounts raised by acceptance under any acceptance credit facility;
- (b) amounts raised under any note purchase facility;
- (c) the amount of any liability in respect of leases or hire purchase contracts which would, in accordance with applicable law and generally accepted accounting principles, be treated as finance or capital leases;
- (d) the amount of any liability in respect of any purchase price for assets or services the payment of which is deferred for a period in excess of 60 days; and
- (e) amounts raised under any other transaction (including, without limitation, any forward sale or purchase agreement) having the commercial effect of a borrowing;

"Interest Amount" means, in relation to a Note and an Interest Period, the amount of interest payable in respect of that Note for that Interest Period;

"Interest Commencement Date" means the Issue Date of the Notes or such other date as may be specified as the Interest Commencement Date in the relevant Pricing Supplement;

"Interest Determination Date" has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement;

"Interest Payment Date" means the date or dates specified as such in, or determined in accordance with the provisions of, the relevant Pricing Supplement and, if a Business Day Convention is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement:

- (i) as the same may be adjusted in accordance with the relevant Business Day Convention; or
- (ii) if the Business Day Convention is the FRN Convention and an interval of a number of calendar months is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being the Specified Period, each of such dates as may occur in accordance with the FRN Convention at such Specified Period of calendar months following the Interest Commencement Date (in the case of the first Interest Payment Date) or the previous Interest Payment Date (in any other case);

"Interest Period" means each period beginning on (and including) the Interest Commencement Date or any Interest Payment Date and ending on (but excluding) the next Interest Payment Date (or, if the Notes are redeemed on any earlier date, the relevant redemption date);

"ISDA" means the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. (or any successor);

"ISDA Definitions" has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement;

"Issue Date" has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement;

"Margin" has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement;

"Maturity Date" has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement;

"Maximum Redemption Amount" has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement;

"Maximum Rate of Interest" for any Interest Period has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement;

"Minimum Rate of Interest" for any Interest Period has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement but shall never be less than zero, including any relevant margin;

"Minimum Redemption Amount" has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement;

"Noteholder", in the case of Bearer Notes, has the meaning given in Condition 3(b) (Form, Denomination, Title and Transfer - Title to Bearer Notes) and, in the case of Registered Notes, has the meaning given in Condition 3(d) (Form, Denomination, Title and Transfer - Title to Registered Notes) and, in the case of VPS Notes, has the meaning given in Condition 3(k) (Form, Denomination, Title and Transfer - Specific provisions for VPS Notes);

"Optional Redemption Amount (Call)" means, in respect of any Note, its principal amount or such other amount as may be specified in, or determined in accordance with, the relevant Pricing Supplement;

"Optional Redemption Amount (Clean-up Call)" means, in respect of any Note, its principal amount or such other amount as may be specified in, or determined in accordance with, the relevant Pricing Supplement;

"Optional Redemption Amount (Put)" means, in respect of any Note, its principal amount or such other amount as may be specified in, or determined in accordance with, the relevant Pricing Supplement;

"Optional Redemption Date (Call)" has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement;

"Optional Redemption Date (Put)" has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement;

### "Payment Business Day" means:

- (i) if the currency of payment is euro, any day which is:
  - (A) a day on which banks in the relevant place of presentation are open for presentation and payment of bearer debt securities and for dealings in foreign currencies; and
  - (B) in the case of payment by transfer to an account, a T2 Settlement Day and a day on which dealings in foreign currencies may be carried on in each (if any) Additional Financial Centre; or
- (ii) if the currency of payment is not euro, any day which is:
  - (A) a day on which banks in the relevant place of presentation are open for presentation and payment of bearer debt securities and for dealings in foreign currencies; and
  - (B) in the case of payment by transfer to an account, a day on which dealings in foreign currencies may be carried on in the Principal Financial Centre of the currency of payment and in each (if any) Additional Financial Centre;

"Person" means any individual, company, corporation, firm, partnership, joint venture, association, organisation, state or agency of a state or other entity, whether or not having separate legal personality;

"Principal Financial Centre" means, in relation to any currency, the principal financial centre for that currency *provided*, *however*, *that*:

(i) in relation to euro, it means the principal financial centre of such Member State of the European Union as is selected (in the case of a payment) by the payee or (in the case of a calculation) by the Calculation Agent; and

(ii) in relation to Australian dollars, it means either Sydney or Melbourne and, in relation to New Zealand dollars, it means either Wellington or Auckland; in each case as is selected (in the case of a payment) by the payee or (in the case of a calculation) by the Calculation Agent;

"Put Option Notice" means a notice which must be delivered to a Paying Agent by any Noteholder wanting to exercise a right to redeem a Note at the option of the Noteholder;

"Put Option Receipt" means a receipt issued by a Paying Agent to a depositing Noteholder upon deposit of a Note with such Paying Agent by any Noteholder wanting to exercise a right to redeem a Note at the option of the Noteholder;

"Rate of Interest" means the rate or rates (expressed as a percentage per annum) of interest payable in respect of the Notes specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement or calculated or determined in accordance with the provisions of these Conditions and/or the relevant Pricing Supplement;

"Record Date" has the meaning given in Condition 11 (Payments – Registered Notes);

"Redemption Amount" means, as appropriate, the Final Redemption Amount, the Early Redemption Amount (Tax), the Optional Redemption Amount (Call), the Optional Redemption Amount (Put), the Early Termination Amount or such other amount in the nature of a redemption amount as may be specified in, or determined in accordance with the provisions of, the relevant Pricing Supplement;

"Reference Price" has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement;

"Reference Rate" has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement. Other than in the case of U.S. dollar-denominated floating rate Notes for which the "Reference Rate" is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being "SOFR", the term Reference Rate shall, following the occurrence of a Benchmark Event under Condition 6(p) (Floating Rate Note and Index-Linked Interest Note Provisions - Benchmark Replacement), include any Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and shall, if a Benchmark Event should occur subsequently in respect of any such Successor Rate or Alternative Rate, also include any further Successor Rate or further Alternative Rate;

### "Regular Period" means:

- (i) in the case of Notes where interest is scheduled to be paid only by means of regular payments, each period from and including the Interest Commencement Date to but excluding the first Interest Payment Date and each successive period from and including one Interest Payment Date to but excluding the next Interest Payment Date;
- (ii) in the case of Notes where, apart from the first Interest Period, interest is scheduled to be paid only by means of regular payments, each period from and including a Regular Date falling in any year to but excluding the next Regular Date, where "Regular Date" means the day and month (but not the year) on which any Interest Payment Date falls; and
- (iii) in the case of Notes where, apart from one Interest Period other than the first Interest Period, interest is scheduled to be paid only by means of regular payments, each period from and including a Regular Date falling in any year to but excluding the next Regular Date, where "Regular Date" means the day and month (but not the year) on which any Interest Payment Date falls other than the Interest Payment Date falling at the end of the irregular Interest Period;

"Relevant Date" means, in relation to any payment, whichever is the later of (a) the date on which the payment in question first becomes due and (b) if the full amount payable has not been received by the Fiscal Agent on or prior to such due date, the date on which (the full amount having been so received) notice to that effect has been given to the Noteholders;

"Relevant Financial Centre" has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement;

"Relevant Screen Page" means the page, section or other part of a particular information service (including, without limitation, Reuters) specified as the Relevant Screen Page in the relevant

Pricing Supplement, or such other page, section or other part as may replace it on that information service or such other information service, in each case, as may be nominated by the Person providing or sponsoring the information appearing there for the purpose of displaying rates or prices comparable to the Reference Rate;

"Relevant Time" has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement;

"Reserved Matter" has the meaning given in the Agency Agreement;

"Specified Currency" has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement;

"Specified Denomination(s)" has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement;

"Specified Office" has the meaning given in the Agency Agreement;

"Specified Period" has the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement;

"Subsidiary" means, in relation to any Person (the "first Person") at any particular time, any other Person (the "second Person"):

- (a) whose affairs and policies the first Person controls or has the power to control, whether by ownership of share capital, contract, the power to appoint or remove members of the governing body of the second Person or otherwise; or
- (b) whose financial statements are, in accordance with applicable law and generally accepted accounting principles, consolidated with those of the first Person;

"Talon" means a talon for further Coupons;

"T2 Settlement Day" means any day on which the real time gross settlement system (T2) operated by the Eurosystem or any successor system is open for the settlement of payments in euro;

"VPS" means the Norwegian Central Securities Depositary, *Verdipapirsentralen ASA* (trading as Euronext Securities Oslo). The address of VPS is Tollbugata 2, 0152 Oslo, Norway;

"VPS Account Manager" means the entity acting as agent of the Issuer in respect of all dealings with the VPS in respect of VPS Notes as detailed in a VPS account manager agreement (the "VPS Account Manager Agreement");

"VPS Notes" means notes in uncertificated book-entry form, issued through VPS;

"VPS Trustee" means the entity (*Nordic Trustee AS*)) that may be appointed to act for the benefit of the holders for the time being of the VPS Notes, in accordance with the provisions of a VPS trustee agreement (the "VPS Trustee Agreement"); and

"Zero Coupon Note" means a Note specified as such in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

- (b) *Interpretation*: In these Conditions:
  - (i) if the Notes are Zero Coupon Notes or are Registered Notes, references to Coupons and Couponholders are not applicable;
  - (ii) if Talons are specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being attached to the Notes at the time of issue, references to Coupons shall be deemed to include references to Talons;
  - (iii) if Talons are not specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being attached to the Notes at the time of issue, references to Talons are not applicable;
  - (iv) any reference to principal shall be deemed to include the Redemption Amount, any additional amounts in respect of principal which may be payable under Condition 13 (*Taxation*), any premium payable in respect of a Note and any other amount in the nature of principal payable pursuant to these Conditions;

- (v) any reference to interest shall be deemed to include any additional amounts in respect of interest which may be payable under Condition 13 (*Taxation*) and any other amount in the nature of interest payable pursuant to these Conditions;
- (vi) references to Notes being "outstanding" shall be construed in accordance with the Agency Agreement;
- (vii) if an expression is stated in Condition 2(a) (*Interpretation Definitions*) to have the meaning given in the relevant Pricing Supplement, but the relevant Pricing Supplement gives no such meaning or specifies that such expression is "not applicable" then such expression is not applicable to the Notes;
- (viii) any reference to the Agency Agreement, the Guarantee Undertaking or the Deed of Covenant shall be construed as a reference to the Agency Agreement, the Guarantee Undertaking or the Deed of Covenant, as the case may be, as amended, replaced, supplemented and/or restated up to and including the Issue Date of the Notes; and
- (ix) any reference in these Conditions to any legislation (whether primary legislation or regulations or other subsidiary legislation made pursuant to primary legislation) shall be construed as a reference to such legislation as the same may have been, or may from time to time be, amended or re-enacted.

#### 3. Form, Denomination, Title and Transfer

- (a) Bearer Notes: Bearer Notes are issued in the Specified Denomination(s) with Coupons and, if specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, Talons attached at the time of issue. In the case of a Series of Bearer Notes with more than one Specified Denomination, Bearer Notes of one Specified Denomination will not be exchangeable for Bearer Notes of another Specified Denomination.
- (b) *Title to Bearer Notes*: Title to Bearer Notes and the Coupons will pass by delivery. In the case of Bearer Notes, "**Holder**" means the holder of such Bearer Note and "**Noteholder**" and "**Couponholder**" shall be construed accordingly.
- (c) Registered Notes: Registered Notes are issued in the Specified Denomination(s), which may include a minimum denomination specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement and higher integral multiples of a smaller amount specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement.
- (d) Title to Registered Notes: The Registrar will maintain the register in accordance with the provisions of the Agency Agreement. A certificate (each, a "Note Certificate") will be issued to each Holder of Registered Notes in respect of its registered holding. Each Note Certificate will be numbered serially with an identifying number which will be recorded in the Register. In the case of Registered Notes, "Holder" means the person in whose name such Registered Note is for the time being registered in the Register (or, in the case of a joint holding, the first named thereof) and "Noteholder" shall be construed accordingly.
- (e) Ownership: The Holder of any Note or Coupon shall (except as otherwise required by law) be treated as its absolute owner for all purposes (whether or not it is overdue and regardless of any notice of ownership, trust or any other interest therein, any writing thereon or, in the case of Registered Notes, on the Note Certificate relating thereto (other than the endorsed form of transfer) or any notice of any previous loss or theft thereof) and no Person shall be liable for so treating such Holder. No person shall have any right to enforce any term or condition of any Note under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999.
- (f) Transfers of Registered Notes: Subject to paragraphs (i) (Closed periods) and (j) (Regulations concerning transfers and registration) below, a Registered Note may be transferred upon surrender of the relevant Note Certificate, with the endorsed form of transfer duly completed, at the Specified Office of the Registrar or any Transfer Agent, together with such evidence as the Registrar or (as the case may be) such Transfer Agent may reasonably require to prove the title of the transferor and the authority of the individuals who have executed the form of transfer; provided, however, that a Registered Note may not be transferred unless the principal amount of Registered Notes transferred and (where not all of the Registered Notes held by a Holder are being transferred) the principal amount of the balance of Registered Notes not transferred are Specified Denominations.

Where not all the Registered Notes represented by the surrendered Note Certificate are the subject of the transfer, a new Note Certificate in respect of the balance of the Registered Notes will be issued to the transferor.

- (g) Registration and delivery of Note Certificates: Within five business days of the surrender of a Note Certificate in accordance with paragraph (f) (Transfers of Registered Notes) above, the Registrar will register the transfer in question and deliver a new Note Certificate of a like principal amount to the Registered Notes transferred to each relevant Holder at its Specified Office or (as the case may be) the Specified Office of any Transfer Agent or (at the request and risk of any such relevant Holder) by uninsured first class mail (airmail if overseas) to the address specified for the purpose by such relevant Holder. In this paragraph, "business day" means a day on which commercial banks are open for general business (including dealings in foreign currencies) in the city where the Registrar or (as the case may be) the relevant Transfer Agent has its Specified Office.
- (h) No charge: The transfer of a Registered Note will be effected without charge by or on behalf of the Issuer or the Registrar or any Transfer Agent but upon payment by the applicant of (or the giving by the applicant of such indemnity as the Issuer, Registrar or (as the case may be) Transfer Agent may require in respect of) any tax or other duty of whatsoever nature which may be levied or imposed in connection with such transfer.
- (i) Closed periods: Noteholders may not require transfers to be registered during the period of 15 days ending on the due date for any payment of principal or interest in respect of the Registered Notes.
- (j) Regulations concerning transfers and registration: All transfers of Registered Notes and entries on the Register are subject to the detailed regulations concerning the transfer of Registered Notes scheduled to the Agency Agreement. The regulations may be changed by the Issuer with the prior written approval of the Registrar. A copy of the current regulations will be mailed (free of charge) by the Registrar to any Noteholder who requests in writing a copy of such regulations.
- (k) Specific provisions for VPS Notes: VPS Notes are in the minimum denomination specified in the Pricing Supplement or integral multiples thereof. Each Tranche of VPS Notes will be created and held in dematerialised uncertificated book-entry form in accounts with the VPS. VPS Notes will not be evidenced by any physical note or document of title other than a statement of account made by the VPS. Ownership of VPS Notes will be recorded and transfer effected only through the book-entry system and register maintained by the VPS. References herein to the "VPS Noteholder" or "Holders" of VPS Notes are to the person(s) evidenced as such by a book-entry in the records of the VPS. The Issuer and the VPS Trustee (if applicable) may rely on a certificate of the VPS or one issued on behalf of the VPS by an account-carrying institution as to a particular person being a VPS Noteholder. Title to the VPS Notes will pass by registration in the VPS between the direct and indirect accountholders at the VPS in accordance with the rules and procedures of the VPS that are in force from time to time. Where a nominee is so evidenced, it shall be treated by the Issuer as the Holder of the relevant VPS Note. A VPS Account Manager will act as an agent of the Issuer in respect of all dealings with the VPS in respect of VPS Notes.

### 4. Status and Guarantee

- (a) Status of the Notes: The Notes constitute direct, unsecured, general and unconditional obligations of the Issuer. The Notes rank pari passu, without any preference one over the other by reason of priority of date of issue, currency of payment or otherwise, with all other present and future unsecured loan indebtedness of the Issuer save only for any such obligations as may be preferred by mandatory provisions of applicable law.
- (b) Guarantee of the Notes: The Guarantor has in the Guarantee Undertaking unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed the due and punctual payment of all sums from time to time payable by the Issuer in respect of the Notes. This Guarantee of the Notes constitutes direct, unsecured, general and unconditional obligations of the Guarantor. The Notes rank at least pari passu without any preference one over the other by reason of priority of date of issue, currency of payment or otherwise, with all other present and future unsecured loan indebtedness of the Guarantor.

#### 5. Fixed Rate Note Provisions

- (a) Application: This Condition 5 (Fixed Rate Note Provisions) is applicable to the Notes only if the Fixed Rate Note Provisions are specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being applicable.
- (b) Accrual of interest: The Notes bear interest from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date at the Rate of Interest payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date, subject as provided in Condition 10 (Payments Bearer Notes), Condition 11 (Payments Registered Notes) and Condition 12 (Payments VPS Notes). Each Note will cease to bear interest from the due date for final redemption unless, upon due presentation, payment of the Redemption Amount is improperly withheld or refused, in which case it will continue to bear interest in accordance with this Condition 5 (as well after as before judgment) until whichever is the earlier of (i) the day on which all sums due in respect of such Note up to that day are received by or on behalf of the relevant Noteholder and (ii) the day which is seven days after the Fiscal Agent has notified the Noteholders that it has received all sums due in respect of the Notes up to such seventh day (except to the extent that there is any subsequent default in payment).
- (c) Fixed Coupon Amount: The amount of interest payable in respect of each Note for any Interest Period shall be the relevant Fixed Coupon Amount and, if the Notes are in more than one Specified Denomination, shall be the relevant Fixed Coupon Amount in respect of the relevant Specified Denomination.
- (d) Notes accruing interest otherwise than a Fixed Coupon Amount: This Condition 5(d) shall apply to Notes which are Fixed Rate Notes only where the Pricing Supplement for such Notes specifies that the Interest Payment Dates are subject to adjustment in accordance with the Business Day Convention specified therein. The relevant amount of interest payable in respect of each Note for any Interest Period for such Notes shall be calculated by the Calculation Agent by multiplying the product of the Rate of Interest and the Calculation Amount by the relevant Day Count Fraction and rounding the resultant figure to the nearest sub-unit of the Specified Currency (half a sub-unit being rounded upwards). The Calculation Agent shall cause the relevant amount of interest and the relevant Interest Payment Date to be notified to the Issuer, the Paying Agents, the Registrar (in the case of Registered Notes) and the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 20 (Notices). If the Notes are listed on a stock exchange and the rules of such exchange so require, the Issuer shall procure notification of the relevant amount of interest and the relevant Interest Payment Date to such exchange as soon as possible after their determination or calculation but in no event later than the fourth Business Day thereafter or, if earlier in the case of notification to the stock exchange, the time required by the rules of the relevant stock exchange.
- (e) Calculation of interest amount: The amount of interest payable in respect of each Note for any period for which a Fixed Coupon Amount is not specified shall be calculated by applying the Rate of Interest to the Calculation Amount, multiplying the product by the relevant Day Count Fraction, rounding the resulting figure to the nearest sub-unit of the Specified Currency (half a sub-unit being rounded upwards) and multiplying such rounded figure by a fraction equal to the Specified Denomination of such Note divided by the Calculation Amount. For this purpose a "sub-unit" means, in the case of any currency other than euro, the lowest amount of such currency that is available as legal tender in the country of such currency and, in the case of euro, means one cent.

# 6. Floating Rate Note and Index-Linked Interest Note Provisions

- (a) Application: This Condition 6 (Floating Rate Note and Index-Linked Interest Note Provisions) is applicable to the Notes only if the Floating Rate Note Provisions or the Index-Linked Interest Note Provisions are specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being applicable.
- (b) Accrual of interest: The Notes bear interest from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date at the Rate of Interest payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date, subject as provided in Condition 10 (Payments Bearer Notes), Condition 11 (Payments Registered Notes) and Condition 12 (Payments VPS Notes). Each Note will cease to bear interest from the due date for final redemption unless, upon due presentation, payment of the Redemption Amount is improperly withheld or refused, in which case it will continue to bear interest in accordance with this Condition 6 (both before and after judgment) until whichever is the earlier of (i) the day on which all sums due in respect of such Note up to that day are received by or on behalf of the relevant Noteholder

and (ii) the day which is seven days after the Fiscal Agent has notified the Noteholders that it has received all sums due in respect of the Notes up to such seventh day (except to the extent that there is any subsequent default in payment).

- (c) Screen Rate Determination: If Screen Rate Determination is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate(s) of Interest is/are to be determined, the Rate of Interest applicable to the Notes for each Interest Period will be (other than in respect of Notes for which SONIA, SOFR and/or €STR is specified as the Reference Rate in the relevant Pricing Supplement) determined by the Calculation Agent on the following basis:
  - (i) if the Reference Rate is a composite quotation or customarily supplied by one entity, the Calculation Agent will determine the Reference Rate which appears on the Relevant Screen Page as of the Relevant Time on the relevant Interest Determination Date;
  - (ii) if Linear Interpolation is specified as applicable in respect of an Interest Period in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be calculated by the Calculation Agent by straight-line linear interpolation by reference to two rates which appear on the Relevant Screen Page as of the Relevant Time on the relevant Interest Determination Date, where:
    - (1) one rate shall be determined as if the relevant Interest Period were the period of time for which rates are available next shorter than the length of the relevant Interest Period; and
    - (2) the other rate shall be determined as if the relevant Interest Period were the period of time for which rates are available next longer than the length of the relevant Interest Period;

*provided, however, that* if no rate is available for a period of time next shorter or, as the case may be, next longer than the length of the relevant Interest Period, then the Calculation Agent shall calculate the Rate of Interest at such time and by reference to such sources as the Issuer, in consultation with an Independent Adviser appointed by the Issuer (and such Independent Adviser acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner), determines appropriate;

(iii) in any other case, the Calculation Agent will determine the arithmetic mean of the Reference Rates which appear on the Relevant Screen Page as of the Relevant Time on the relevant Interest Determination Date;

and the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be the sum of the Margin and the rate or (as the case may be) the arithmetic mean so determined *provided, however, that* if the Calculation Agent is unable to determine a rate or (as the case may be) an arithmetic mean in accordance with the above provisions in relation to any Interest Period, the Rate of Interest applicable to the Notes during such Interest Period will be the sum of the Margin and the rate or (as the case may be) the arithmetic mean last determined in relation to the Notes in respect of a preceding Interest Period.

- (d) ISDA Determination: If ISDA Determination is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate(s) of Interest is/are to be determined, the Rate of Interest applicable to the Notes for each Interest Period will be the sum of the Margin and the relevant ISDA Rate where "ISDA Rate" in relation to any Interest Period means a rate equal to the Floating Rate that would be determined by the Calculation Agent under an interest rate swap transaction if the Calculation Agent were acting as Calculation Agent for that interest rate swap transaction under the terms of an agreement incorporating the ISDA Definitions and under which:
  - (i) if the Pricing Supplement specify either "2006 ISDA Definitions" or "2021 ISDA Definitions" as the applicable ISDA Definitions:
    - (A) the Floating Rate Option is as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement;
    - (B) the Designated Maturity, if applicable, is a period specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement;

- (C) the relevant Reset Date, unless otherwise specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, has the meaning given to it in the ISDA Definitions;
- (D) if Linear Interpolation is specified as applicable in respect of an Interest Period in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the rate for such Interest Period shall be calculated by the Calculation Agent by straight-line linear interpolation by reference to two rates based on the relevant Floating Rate Option, where:
  - (1) one rate shall be determined as if the Designated Maturity were the period of time for which rates are available next shorter than the length of the relevant Interest Period; and
  - (2) the other rate shall be determined as if the Designated Maturity were the period of time for which rates are available next longer than the length of the relevant Interest Period,

provided, however, that if there is no rate available for a period of time next shorter than the length of the relevant Interest Period or, as the case may be, next longer than the length of the relevant Interest Period, then the Calculation Agent shall calculate the Rate of Interest at such time and by reference to such sources as the Issuer, in consultation with an Independent Adviser appointed by the Issuer (and such Independent Adviser acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner), determines appropriate;

- (E) if the specified Floating Rate Option is an Overnight Floating Rate Option, Compounding is specified to be applicable in the relevant Pricing Supplement and:
  - (1) if Compounding with Lookback is specified as the Compounding Method in the relevant Pricing Supplement then (a) Compounding with Lookback is the Overnight Rate Compounding Method and (b) Lookback is the number of Applicable Business Days specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement;
  - (2) if Compounding with Observation Period Shift is specified as the Compounding Method in the relevant Pricing Supplement then (a) Compounding with Observation Period Shift is the Overnight Rate Compounding Method, (b) Observation Period Shift is the number of Observation Period Shift Business Days specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement and (c) Observation Period Shift Additional Business Days, if applicable, are the days specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement; or
  - if Compounding with Lockout is specified as the Compounding Method in the relevant Pricing Supplement then (a) Compounding with Lockout is the Overnight Rate Compounding Method, (b) Lockout is the number of Lockout Period Business Days specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement and (c) Lockout Period Business Days, if applicable, are the days specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement;
- (F) if the specified Floating Rate Option is an Overnight Floating Rate Option, Averaging is specified to be applicable in the relevant Pricing Supplement and:
  - (1) if Averaging with Lookback is specified as the Averaging Method in the relevant Pricing Supplement then (a) Averaging with Lookback is the Overnight Rate Averaging Method and (b) Lookback is the number of Applicable Business Days specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement;
  - (2) if Averaging with Observation Period Shift is specified as the Averaging Method in the relevant Pricing Supplement then (a) Averaging with Observation Period Shift is the Overnight Rate Averaging Method, (b) Observation Period Shift is the number of Observation Period Shift

Business Days specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement and (c) Observation Period Shift Additional Business Days, if applicable, are the days specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement; or

- (3) if Averaging with Lockout is specified as the Averaging Method in the relevant Pricing Supplement then (a) Averaging with Lockout is the Overnight Rate Averaging Method, (b) Lockout is the number of Lockout Period Business Days specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement and (c) Lockout Period Business Days, if applicable, are the days specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement; and
- (G) if the specified Floating Rate Option is an Index Floating Rate Option and Index Provisions are specified to be applicable in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the Compounded Index Method with Observation Period Shift shall be applicable and (a) Observation Period Shift is the number of Observation Period Shift Business Days specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement and (b) Observation Period Shift Additional Business Days, if applicable, are the days specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement.
- (ii) references in the ISDA Definitions to:
  - (A) "Confirmation" shall be references to the relevant Pricing Supplement;
  - (B) "Calculation Period" shall be references to the relevant Interest Period;
  - (C) "Termination Date" shall be references to the Maturity Date;
  - (D) "Effective Date" shall be references to the Interest Commencement Date; and
- (iii) if the Pricing Supplement specify "2021 ISDA Definitions" as being applicable:
  - (A) "Administrator/Benchmark Event" shall be disapplied; and
  - (B) if the Temporary Non-Publication Fallback in respect of any specified Floating Rate Option is specified to be "Temporary Non-Publication Fallback Alternative Rate" in the Floating Rate Matrix of the 2021 ISDA Definitions the reference to "Calculation Agent Alternative Rate Determination" in the definition of "Temporary Non-Publication Fallback Alternative Rate" shall be replaced by "Temporary Non-Publication Fallback Previous Day's Rate"; and
- (iv) unless otherwise defined capitalised terms used in this Condition 6(d) shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the ISDA Definitions.
- (e) Interest Floating Rate Notes referencing SONIA:
  - (i) This Condition 6(e) is applicable to the Notes only if the Floating Rate Note Provisions are specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being applicable, Screen Rate Determination is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate(s) of Interest is/are to be determined and the "Reference Rate" is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being "SONIA".
  - (ii) Where "SONIA" is specified as the Reference Rate in the Pricing Supplement, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Period will, subject as provided below, be Compounded Daily SONIA plus or minus (as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement) the Margin, all as determined by the Calculation Agent.
  - (iii) For the purposes of this Condition 6(e):
    - "Compounded Daily SONIA", with respect to an Interest Period, will be calculated by the Calculation Agent on each Interest Determination Date in accordance with the following formula, and the resulting percentage will be rounded, if necessary, to the fourth decimal place, with 0.00005 being rounded upwards:

$$\left[ \prod_{i=1}^{d_o} \left( 1 + \frac{SONIA_i \times n_i}{D} \right) - 1 \right] \times \frac{D}{d}$$

where:

"d" means the number of calendar days in:

- (i) where "Lag" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the relevant Interest Period; or
- (ii) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the relevant Observation Period;

"D" is the number specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement (or, if no such number is specified, 365);

"d<sub>0</sub>" means the number of London Banking Days in:

- (i) where "Lag" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the relevant Interest Period; or
- (ii) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the relevant Observation Period;

"i" means a series of whole numbers from one to  $d_0$ , each representing the relevant London Banking Day in chronological order from, and including, the first London Banking Day in:

- (i) where "Lag" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the relevant Interest Period; or
- (ii) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the relevant Observation Period;

to, and including the last London Banking Day in such period;

"Interest Determination Date" means, in respect of any Interest Period, the date falling "p" London Banking Days prior to the Interest Payment Date for such Interest Period (or the date falling "p" London Banking Days prior to such earlier date, if any, on which the Notes are due and payable);

"London Banking Day" or "LBD" means any day on which commercial banks are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in London;

"n<sub>i</sub>" for any London Banking Day "i", in the relevant Interest Period or Observation Period (as applicable) is the number of calendar days from, and including, such London Banking Day "i" up to, but excluding, the following London Banking Day;

"Observation Period" means, in respect of an Interest Period, the period from, and including, the date falling "p" London Banking Days prior to the first day of such Interest Period (and the first Interest Period shall begin on and include the Interest Commencement Date) and ending on, but excluding, the date which is "p" London Banking Days prior to the Interest Payment Date for such Interest Period (or the date falling "p" London Banking Days prior to such earlier date, if any, on which the Notes become due and payable);

"p" for any Interest Period or Observation Period (as applicable), means the number of London Banking Days specified as the "Lag Period" or the "Observation Shift Period" (as applicable) in the relevant Pricing Supplement or if no such period is specified, five London Banking Days;

"SONIA Reference Rate" means, in respect of any London Banking Day, a reference rate equal to the daily Sterling Overnight Index Average ("SONIA") rate for such London Banking Day as provided by the administrator of SONIA to authorised distributors and as then published on the Relevant Screen Page (or if the Relevant Screen Page is unavailable, as otherwise is published by such authorised distributors) on the London Banking Day immediately following such London Banking Day; and

#### "SONIAi" means the SONIA Reference Rate for:

- (i) where "Lag" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the London Banking Day falling "p" London Banking Days prior to the relevant London Banking Day "i"; or
- (ii) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the relevant London Banking Day "i".

For the avoidance of doubt, the formula for the calculation of Compounded Daily SONIA only compounds the SONIA Reference Rate in respect of any London Banking Day. The SONIA Reference Rate applied to a day that is a non-London Banking Day will be taken by applying the SONIA Reference Rate for the previous London Banking Day but without compounding.

- (iv) If, in respect of any London Banking Day in the relevant Interest Period or Observation Period (as applicable), the Calculation Agent determines that the SONIA Reference Rate is not available on the Relevant Screen Page and has not otherwise been published by the relevant authorised distributors, such SONIA Reference Rate shall, subject to Condition 6(p) (Floating Rate Note and Index-Linked Interest Note Provisions Benchmark Replacement), be:
  - the sum of (a) the Bank of England's Bank Rate (the "Bank Rate") prevailing at close of business on the relevant London Banking Day; and (b) the mean of the spread of the SONIA Reference Rate to the Bank Rate over the previous five London Banking Days on which a SONIA Reference Rate has been published, excluding the highest spread (or, if there is more than one highest spread, one only of those highest spreads) and lowest spread (or, if there is more than one lowest spread, one only of those lowest spreads) to the Bank Rate; or
  - (B) if the Bank Rate is not published by the Bank of England at close of business on the relevant London Banking Day, (a) the SONIA Reference Rate published on the Relevant Screen Page (or otherwise published by the relevant authorised distributors) for the first preceding London Banking Day on which the SONIA Reference Rate was published on the Relevant Screen Page (or otherwise published by the relevant authorised distributors) or (b) if it is more recent, the latest determined rate under (A).
- Subject to Condition 6(p) (Floating Rate Note and Index-Linked Interest Note Provisions Benchmark Replacement), if the Rate of Interest cannot be determined in accordance with the foregoing provisions of this Condition 6(e), the Rate of Interest shall be (A) that determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date (though substituting, where a different Margin is to be applied to the relevant Interest Period from that which applied to the last preceding Interest Period, the Margin relating to the relevant Interest Period, in place of the Margin relating to that last preceding Interest Period) or (B) if there is no such preceding Interest Determination Date, the initial Rate of Interest which would have been applicable to the Notes for the first Interest Period had the Notes been in issue for a period equal in duration to the scheduled first Interest Period but ending on (and excluding) the Interest Commencement Date (but applying the Margin applicable to the first Interest Period).

- (f) Interest Floating Rate Notes referencing SOFR:
  - (i) This Condition 6(f) is applicable to the Notes only if the Floating Rate Note Provisions are specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being applicable, Screen Rate Determination is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate(s) of Interest is/are to be determined and the "Reference Rate" is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being "SOFR".
  - (ii) Where "SOFR" is specified as the Reference Rate in the Pricing Supplement, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Period will, subject as provided below, be the Benchmark plus or minus (as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement) the Margin, all as determined by the Calculation Agent on each Interest Determination Date.
  - (iii) For the purposes of this Condition 6(f):

"Benchmark" means Compounded SOFR, which is a compounded average of daily SOFR, as determined for each Interest Period in accordance with the specific formula and other provisions set out in this Condition 6(f).

Daily SOFR rates will not be published in respect of any day that is not a U.S. Government Securities Business Day, such as a Saturday, Sunday or holiday. For this reason, in determining Compounded SOFR in accordance with the specific formula and other provisions set forth herein, the daily SOFR rate for any U.S. Government Securities Business Day that immediately precedes one or more days that are not U.S. Government Securities Business Days will be multiplied by the number of calendar days from and including such U.S. Government Securities Business Day to, but excluding, the following U.S. Government Securities Business Day.

If the Issuer determines that a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred in respect of Compounded SOFR (or the daily SOFR used in the calculation hereof) prior to the relevant SOFR Determination Time, then the provisions under Condition 6(f)(iv) (Floating Rate Note and Index-Linked Interest Note Provisions -Interest – Floating Rate Notes referencing SOFR) below will apply.

"Compounded SOFR" with respect to any Interest Period, means the rate of return of a daily compound interest investment computed in accordance with the following formula (and the resulting percentage will be rounded, if necessary, to the nearest one hundred-thousandth of a percentage point, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards to 0.00001):

$$\left[ \prod_{i=1}^{d_o} \left( 1 + \frac{SOFR_i \times n_i}{D} \right) - 1 \right] \times \frac{D}{d}$$

where:

"d" is the number of calendar days in:

- (i) where "Lag" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the relevant Interest Period; or
- (ii) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the relevant Observation Period;

"D" is the number specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement (or, if no such number is specified, 360);

"d<sub>0</sub>" is the number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days in:

(i) where "Lag" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the relevant Interest Period; or

(ii) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the relevant Observation Period;

"i" is a series of whole numbers from one to  $d_o$ , each representing the relevant U.S. Government Securities Business Day in chronological order from, and including, the first U.S. Government Securities Business Day in:

- (i) where "Lag" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the relevant Interest Period; or
- (ii) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the relevant Observation Period,

to and including the last U.S. Government Securities Business Day in such period;

"Interest Determination Date" means, in respect of any Interest Period, the date falling "p" U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior to the Interest Payment Date for such Interest Period (or the date falling "p" U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior to such earlier date, if any, on which the Notes are due and payable);

"n<sub>i</sub>" for any U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i" in the relevant Interest Period or Observation Period (as applicable), is the number of calendar days from, and including, such U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i" to, but excluding, the following U.S. Government Securities Business Day ("i+1");

"Observation Period" in respect of an Interest Period means the period from, and including, the date falling "p" U.S. Government Securities Business Days preceding the first day in such Interest Period (and the first Interest Period shall begin on and include the Interest Commencement Date) to, but excluding, the date falling "p" U.S. Government Securities Business Days preceding the Interest Payment Date for such Interest Period (or the date falling "p" U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior to such earlier date, if any, on which the Notes become due and payable);

"p" for any Interest Period or Observation Period (as applicable) means the number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days specified as the "Lag Period" or the "Observation Shift Period" (as applicable) in the relevant Pricing Supplement or if no such period is specified, five U.S. Government Securities Business Days;

"SOFR" with respect to any U.S. Government Securities Business Day, means:

- (i) the Secured Overnight Financing Rate published for such U.S. Government Securities Business Day as such rate appears on the SOFR Administrator's Website at 3:00 p.m. (New York time) on the immediately following U.S. Government Securities Business Day (the "SOFR Determination Time"); or
- (ii) subject to Condition 6(f)(iv) (Floating Rate Note and Index-Linked Interest Note Provisions Interest Floating Rate Notes referencing SOFR) below, if the rate specified in (i) above does not so appear, the Secured Overnight Financing Rate as published in respect of the first preceding U.S. Government Securities Business Day for which the Secured Overnight Financing Rate was published on the SOFR Administrator's Website;

"SOFR Administrator" means the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or a successor administrator of the Secured Overnight Financing Rate);

"SOFR Administrator's Website" means the website of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or any successor source;

"SOFR<sub>i</sub>" means the SOFR for:

(i) where "Lag" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the U.S. Government Securities Business Day falling "p" U.S.

- Government Securities Business Days prior to the relevant U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i"; or
- (ii) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the relevant U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i"; and
- "U.S. Government Securities Business Day" means any day except for a Saturday, a Sunday or a day on which the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association recommends that the fixed income departments of its members be closed for the entire day for purposes of trading in U.S. government securities.
- (iv) If the Issuer determines on or prior to the relevant Reference Time that a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to the then-current Benchmark, the Benchmark Replacement will replace the then-current Benchmark for all purposes relating to the Notes in respect of all determinations on such date and for all determinations on all subsequent dates. In connection with the implementation of a Benchmark Replacement, the Issuer will have the right to make Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes from time to time, without any requirement for the consent or approval of the Noteholders.

Any determination, decision or election that may be made by the Issuer pursuant to this section, including any determination with respect to a tenor, rate or adjustment or of the occurrence or non-occurrence of an event, circumstance or date and any decision to take or refrain from taking any action or any selection:

- (i) will be conclusive and binding absent manifest error;
- (ii) will be made in the sole discretion of the Issuer; and
- (iii) notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the documentation relating to the Notes, shall become effective without consent from the holders of the Notes or any other party.

For the purposes of this Condition 6(f)(iv):

"Benchmark" means, initially, Compounded SOFR, as such term is defined above; *provided that* if the Issuer determines on or prior to the Reference Time that a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to Compounded SOFR (or the published daily SOFR used in the calculation thereof) or the then-current Benchmark, then "Benchmark" shall mean the applicable Benchmark Replacement.

"Benchmark Replacement" means the first alternative set forth in the order below that can be determined by the Issuer as of the Benchmark Replacement Date:

- (i) the sum of: (A) the alternate rate of interest that has been selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body as the replacement for the then-current Benchmark and (B) the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment;
- (ii) the sum of: (A) the ISDA Fallback Rate and (B) the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment; or
- (iii) the sum of: (A) the alternate rate of interest that has been selected by the Issuer as the replacement for the then-current Benchmark giving due consideration to any industry-accepted rate of interest as a replacement for the then-current Benchmark for U.S. dollar-denominated floating rate notes at such time and (B) the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment;

"Benchmark Replacement Adjustment" means the first alternative set forth in the order below that can be determined by the Issuer as of the Benchmark Replacement Date:

- (i) the spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that has been selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body for the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement;
- (ii) if the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement is equivalent to the ISDA Fallback Rate, the ISDA Fallback Adjustment; or
- (iii) the spread adjustment (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that has been selected by the Issuer giving due consideration to any industry-accepted spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, for the replacement of the then-current Benchmark with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement for U.S. dollar-denominated floating rate notes at such time;

"Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes" means, with respect to any Benchmark Replacement, any technical, administrative or operational changes (including changes to the timing and frequency of determining rates and making payments of interest, rounding of amounts or tenors, and other administrative matters) that the Issuer decides may be appropriate to reflect the adoption of such Benchmark Replacement in a manner substantially consistent with market practice (or, if the Issuer decides that adoption of any portion of such market practice is not administratively feasible or if the Issuer determines that no market practice for use of the Benchmark Replacement exists, in such other manner as the Issuer determines is reasonably necessary);

"Benchmark Replacement Date" means the earliest to occur of the following events with respect to the then-current Benchmark (including the daily published component used in the calculation thereof):

- (i) in the case of clause (i) or (ii) of the definition of "Benchmark Transition Event", the later of (a) the date of the public statement or publication of information referenced therein and (b) the date on which the administrator of the Benchmark permanently or indefinitely ceases to provide the Benchmark (or such component); or
- (ii) in the case of clause (iii) of the definition of "Benchmark Transition Event", the date of the public statement or publication of information referenced therein.

For the avoidance of doubt, if the event that gives rise to the Benchmark Replacement Date occurs on the same day as, but earlier than, the Reference Time in respect of any determination, the Benchmark Replacement Date will be deemed to have occurred prior to the Reference Time for such determination;

"Benchmark Transition Event" means the occurrence of one or more of the following events with respect to the then-current Benchmark (including the daily published component used in the calculation thereof):

- (i) a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the administrator of the Benchmark (or such component) announcing that such administrator has ceased or will cease to provide the Benchmark (or such component), permanently or indefinitely, *provided that*, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide the Benchmark (or such component); or
- (ii) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of the Benchmark (or such component), the central bank for the currency of the Benchmark (or such component), an insolvency official with jurisdiction over the administrator for the Benchmark (or such component), a resolution authority with jurisdiction over the administrator for the Benchmark

(or such component) or a court or an entity with similar insolvency or resolution authority over the administrator for the Benchmark, which states that the administrator of the Benchmark (or such component) has ceased or will cease to provide the Benchmark (or such component) permanently or indefinitely, *provided that*, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide the Benchmark (or such component); or

(iii) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of the Benchmark announcing that the Benchmark is no longer representative;

"ISDA Fallback Adjustment" means the spread adjustment (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that would apply for derivatives transactions referencing the 2006 ISDA Definitions to be determined upon the occurrence of an index cessation event with respect to the Benchmark;

"ISDA Fallback Rate" means the rate that would apply for derivatives transactions referencing the 2006 ISDA Definitions to be effective upon the occurrence of an index cessation date with respect to the Benchmark for the applicable tenor excluding the applicable ISDA Fallback Adjustment;

"Reference Time" with respect to any determination of the Benchmark means (i) if the Benchmark is Compounded SOFR, the SOFR Determination Time, and (ii) if the Benchmark is not Compounded SOFR, the time determined by the Issuer after giving effect to the Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes;

"Relevant Governmental Body" means the Federal Reserve Board and/or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or a committee officially endorsed or convened by the Federal Reserve Board and/or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York or any successor thereto; and

"Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement" means the Benchmark Replacement excluding the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment.

(v) Any Benchmark Replacement, Benchmark Replacement Adjustment and the specific terms of any Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes, determined under Condition 6(f)(iv) (Floating Rate Note and Index-Linked Interest Note Provisions - Interest – Floating Rate Notes referencing SOFR) above will be notified promptly by the Issuer to the Fiscal Agent, the Calculation Agent, the Paying Agents and, in accordance with Condition 20 (Notices), the Noteholders. Such notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the effective date on which such changes take effect.

No later than notifying the Fiscal Agent of the same, the Issuer shall deliver to the Fiscal Agent a certificate signed by two authorised signatories of the Issuer:

- (A) confirming (x) that a Benchmark Transition Event has occurred, (y) the relevant Benchmark Replacement and, (z) where applicable, any Benchmark Replacement Adjustment and/or the specific terms of any relevant Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes, in each case as determined in accordance with the provisions of this Condition 6(f); and
- (B) certifying that the relevant Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes are necessary to ensure the proper operation of such Benchmark Replacement and/or Benchmark Replacement Adjustment.
- (vi) If the Rate of Interest cannot be determined in accordance with the foregoing provisions of this Condition 6(f), the Rate of Interest shall be (A) that determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date (though substituting, where a different Margin is to be applied to the relevant Interest Period from that which applied to the last preceding Interest Period, the Margin relating to the relevant Interest Period, in place of the Margin relating to that last preceding Interest Period) or (B) if there is no such preceding Interest

Determination Date, the initial Rate of Interest which would have been applicable to the Notes for the first Interest Period had the Notes been in issue for a period equal in duration to the scheduled first Interest Period but ending on (and excluding) the Interest Commencement Date (but applying the Margin applicable to the first Interest Period).

- (g) Interest Floating Rate Notes referencing  $\in STR$ :
  - (i) This Condition 6(g) is applicable to the Notes only if the Floating Rate Note Provisions are specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being applicable, Screen Rate Determination is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate(s) of Interest is/are to be determined and the "Reference Rate" is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being "ESTR".
  - (ii) Where "€STR" is specified as the Reference Rate in the Pricing Supplement, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Period will, subject as provided below, be Compounded Daily €STR plus or minus (as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement) the Margin, all as determined by the Calculation Agent on each Interest Determination Date.
  - (iii) For the purposes of this Condition 6(g):

"Compounded Daily ESTR" means, with respect to any Interest Period, the rate of return of a daily compound interest investment (with the daily euro short-term rate as reference rate for the calculation of interest) as calculated by the Calculation Agent as at the relevant Interest Determination Date in accordance with the following formula (and the resulting percentage will be rounded if necessary to the nearest fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards):

$$\left[ \prod_{i=1}^{d_o} \left( 1 + \frac{\text{\in} STR_i \times n_i}{D} \right) - 1 \right] \times \frac{D}{d}$$

where:

"d" means the number of calendar days in:

- (i) where "Lag" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the relevant Interest Period; or
- (ii) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the relevant Observation Period;

"D" means the number specified as such in the relevant Pricing Supplement (or, if no such number is specified, 360);

"d<sub>0</sub>" means the number of T2 Settlement Days in:

- (i) where "Lag" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the relevant Interest Period; or
- (ii) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the relevant Observation Period;

the "€STR reference rate", in respect of any T2 Settlement Day, is a reference rate equal to the daily euro short-term rate ("€STR") for such T2 Settlement Day as provided by the €STR Administrator on the €STR Administrator's Website (or, if no longer published on its website, as otherwise published by it or provided by it to authorised distributors and as then published on the Relevant Screen Page or, if the Relevant Screen Page is unavailable, as otherwise published by such authorised distributors) on the T2 Settlement Day immediately following such T2 Settlement Day (in each case, at the time specified by, or determined in accordance with, the applicable methodology, policies or guidelines, of the €STR Administrator);

"€STR Administrator" means the European Central Bank (or any successor administrator of €STR);

"€STR Administrator's Website" means as the website of the European Central Bank or any successor source;

"€STR<sub>i</sub>" means the €STR reference rate for:

- (i) where "Lag" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the T2 Settlement Day falling "p" T2 Settlement Days prior to the relevant T2 Settlement Day "i"; or
- (ii) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the relevant T2 Settlement Day "i".

"i" is a series of whole numbers from one to "do", each representing the relevant T2 Settlement Day in chronological order from, and including, the first T2 Settlement Day in:

- (i) where "Lag" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the relevant Interest Period; or
- (ii) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the relevant Observation Period;

to, and including, the last T2 Settlement Day in such period;

"Interest Determination Date" means, in respect of any Interest Period, the date falling "p" T2 Settlement Days prior to the Interest Payment Date for such Interest Period (or the date falling "p" T2 Settlement Days prior to such earlier date, if any, on which the Notes are due and payable);

"n<sub>i</sub>" for any T2 Settlement Day "i" in the relevant Interest Period or Observation Period (as applicable), means the number of calendar days from (and including) such T2 Settlement Day "i" up to (but excluding) the following T2 Settlement Day;

"Observation Period" means, in respect of any Interest Period, the period from (and including) the date falling "p" T2 Settlement Days prior to the first day of the relevant Interest Period (and the first Interest Period shall begin on and include the Interest Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the date falling "p" T2 Settlement Days prior to (A) (in the case of an Interest Period) the Interest Payment Date for such Interest Period or (B) such earlier date, if any, on which the Notes become due and payable; and

"p" for any latest Interest Period or Observation Period (as applicable), means the number of T2 Settlement Days specified as the "Lag Period" or the "Observation Shift Period" (as applicable) in the relevant Pricing Supplement or, if no such period is specified, five T2 Settlement Days.

- Subject to Condition 6(p) (Floating Rate Note and Index-Linked Interest Note Provisions Benchmark Replacement), if, where any Rate of Interest is to be calculated pursuant to Condition 6(g)(ii) (Floating Rate Note and Index-Linked Interest Note Provisions Interest − Floating Rate Notes referencing €STR) above, in respect of any T2 Settlement Day in respect of which an applicable €STR reference rate is required to be determined, such €STR reference rate is not made available on the Relevant Screen Page and has not otherwise been published by the relevant authorised distributors, then the €STR reference rate in respect of such T2 Settlement Day shall be the €STR reference rate for the first preceding T2 Settlement Day in respect of which €STR reference rate was published by the €STR Administrator on the €STR Administrator's Website, as determined by the Calculation Agent.
- (v) Subject to Condition 6(p) (Floating Rate Note and Index-Linked Interest Note Provisions Benchmark Replacement), if the Rate of Interest cannot be determined in accordance

with the foregoing provisions of this Condition 6(g), the Rate of Interest shall be (A) that determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date (though substituting, where a different Margin is to be applied to the relevant Interest Period from that which applied to the last preceding Interest Period, the Margin relating to the relevant Interest Period, in place of the Margin relating to that last preceding Interest Period) or (B) if there is no such preceding Interest Determination Date, the initial Rate of Interest which would have been applicable to the Notes for the first Interest Period had the Notes been in issue for a period equal in duration to the scheduled first Interest Period but ending on (and excluding) the Interest Commencement Date (but applying the Margin applicable to the first Interest Period).

(h) Interest – SONIA Compounded Index and SOFR Compounded Index: This Condition 6(h) is applicable to the Notes only if the Floating Rate Note Provisions are specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being applicable, Screen Rate Determination is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate(s) of Interest is/are to be determined and "Index Determination" is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being applicable.

Where "Index Determination" is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being applicable, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Period will be the compounded daily reference rate for the relevant Interest Period, calculated in accordance with the following formula:

$$\left(\frac{Compounded\ Index\ End}{Compounded\ Index\ Start} - 1\right) \ge \frac{Numerator}{d}$$

and rounded to the Relevant Decimal Place, plus or minus the Margin (if any), all as determined and calculated by the Calculation Agent, where:

"Compounded Index" means either the SONIA Compounded Index or the SOFR Compounded Index, as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement;

"Compounded Index End" means the relevant Compounded Index value on the End date;

"Compounded Index Start" means the relevant Compounded Index value on the Start date;

"d" is the number of calendar days from (and including) the day on which the relevant Compounded Index Start is determined to (but excluding) the day on which the relevant Compounded Index End is determined;

"End" means the day falling the Relevant Number of Index Days prior to the Interest Payment Date for such Interest Period, or such other date on which the relevant payment of interest falls due (but which by its definition or the operation of the relevant provisions is excluded from such Interest Period);

"Index Days" means, in the case of the SONIA Compounded Index, London Banking Days, and, in the case of the SOFR Compounded Index, U.S. Government Securities Business Days;

"Numerator" means, in the case of the SONIA Compounded Index, 365 and, in the case of the SOFR Compounded Index, 360;

"Relevant Decimal Place" shall, unless otherwise specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, be the fifth decimal place, rounded up or down, if necessary (with 0.000005 being rounded upwards);

"Relevant Number" is as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, but, unless otherwise specified shall be five;

"SONIA Compounded Index" means the Compounded Daily SONIA rate as published at 10:00 (London time) by the Bank of England (or a successor administrator of SONIA) on the Bank of England's Interactive Statistical Database, or any successor source;

"SOFR Compounded Index" means the Compounded SOFR rate as published at 15:00 (New York time) by Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or a successor administrator of SOFR) on the website of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or any successor source; and

"Start" means the day falling the Relevant Number of Index Days prior to the first day of the relevant Interest Period.

If, with respect to any Interest Period, the relevant rate is not published for the relevant Compounded Index either on the relevant Start or End date, then the Calculation Agent shall calculate the rate of interest for that Interest Period as if Index Determination was not specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement and as if Compounded Daily SONIA or Compounded Daily SOFR (as defined in Condition 6(e) (Floating Rate Note and Index-Linked Interest Note Provisions -Interest - Floating Rate Notes referencing SONIA) or Condition 6(f) (Floating Rate Note and Index-Linked Interest Note Provisions - Interest - Floating Rate Notes referencing SOFR), as applicable) had been specified instead in the Pricing Supplement, and in each case "Observation Shift" had been specified as the Observation Method in the relevant Pricing Supplement, and where the Observation Shift Period for the purposes of the references to that term in Condition 6(e) (Floating Rate Note and Index-Linked Interest Note Provisions - Interest – Floating Rate Notes referencing SONIA) or Condition 6(f) (Floating Rate Note and Index-Linked Interest Note Provisions - Interest - Floating Rate Notes referencing SOFR) (as applicable) shall be deemed to be the same as the Relevant Number specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement and where, in the case of Compounded Daily SONIA, the Relevant Screen Page will be determined by the Issuer. For the avoidance of doubt, if (i) (in the case of SONIA Compounded Index) a Benchmark Event has occurred in respect of SONIA, the provisions of Condition 6(p) (Floating Rate Note and Index-Linked Interest Note Provisions - Benchmark Replacement) shall apply, and (ii) (in the case of SOFR Compounded Index) a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date has occurred in respect of SOFR, the provisions of Condition 6(f)(iv) (Floating Rate Note and Index-Linked Interest Note Provisions - Interest - Floating Rate Notes referencing SOFR) shall apply.

- (i) Index-Linked Interest: If the Index-Linked Interest Note Provisions are specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being applicable, the Rate(s) of Interest applicable to the Notes for each Interest Period will be determined in the manner specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement.
- (j) Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest: If any Maximum Rate of Interest or Minimum Rate of Interest is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, then the Rate of Interest shall in no event be greater than the maximum or be less than the minimum so specified. Unless otherwise specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the Minimum Rate of Interest shall be deemed to be zero.
- (k) Calculation of Interest Amount: The Calculation Agent will, as soon as practicable after the time at which the Rate of Interest is to be determined in relation to each Interest Period, calculate the Interest Amount payable in respect of each Note for such Interest Period. The Interest Amount will be calculated by applying the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period to the Calculation Amount, multiplying the product by the relevant Day Count Fraction, rounding the resulting figure to the nearest sub-unit of the Specified Currency (half a sub-unit being rounded upwards) and multiplying such rounded figure by a fraction equal to the Specified Denomination of the relevant Note divided by the Calculation Amount. For this purpose, a "sub-unit" means, in the case of any currency other than euro, the lowest amount of such currency that is available as legal tender in the country of such currency and, in the case of euro, means one cent.
- (1) Calculation of other amounts: If the relevant Pricing Supplement specifies that any other amount is to be calculated by the Calculation Agent, the Calculation Agent will, as soon as practicable after the time or times at which any such amount is to be determined, calculate the relevant amount. The relevant amount will be calculated by the Calculation Agent in the manner specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement.
- (m) Publication: The Calculation Agent will cause each Rate of Interest and Interest Amount determined by it, together with the relevant Interest Payment Date, and any other amount(s) required to be determined by it together with any relevant payment date(s) to be notified to the Issuer, the Paying Agents and each competent authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system (if any) by which the Notes have then been admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation and, in the

case of VPS Notes, the VPS and the VPS Account Manager, as soon as practicable after such determination. Notice thereof shall also promptly be given to the Noteholders. The Calculation Agent will be entitled to recalculate any Interest Amount (on the basis of the foregoing provisions) without notice in the event of an extension or shortening of the relevant Interest Period. If the Calculation Amount is less than the minimum Specified Denomination the Calculation Agent shall not be obliged to publish each Interest Amount but instead may publish only the Calculation Amount and the Interest Amount in respect of a Note having the minimum Specified Denomination.

- (n) Notifications etc: All notifications, opinions, determinations, certificates, calculations, quotations and decisions given, expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of this Condition 6 by the Calculation Agent will (in the absence of manifest error) be binding on the Issuer, the Paying Agents, the Noteholders and the Couponholders and (subject as aforesaid) no liability to any such Person will attach to the Calculation Agent in connection with the exercise or non-exercise by it of its powers, duties and discretions for such purposes.
- (o) Determination of Rate of Interest following acceleration: If (i) the Notes become due and payable in accordance with Condition 14 (Events of Default) and (ii) the Rate of Interest for the Interest Period during which the Notes become due and payable is to be determined by reference to any of Conditions 6(e) (Floating Rate Note and Index-Linked Interest Note Provisions Interest − Floating Rate Notes referencing SONIA), 6(f) (Floating Rate Note and Index-Linked Interest Note Provisions Interest − Floating Rate Notes referencing SOFR), 6(g) (Interest − Floating Rate Notes referencing €STR) and 6(h) (Floating Rate Note and Index-Linked Interest Note Provisions Interest − SONIA Compounded Index and SOFR Compounded Index), then the final Interest Determination Date shall be the date on which the Notes become so due and payable, and such Rate of Interest shall continue to apply to the Notes for so long as interest continues to accrue thereon as provided in the Conditions.
- (p) Benchmark Replacement: Other than in the case of a U.S. dollar-denominated floating rate Note for which the Reference Rate is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being "SOFR" (or where "SOFR Compounded Index" is specified in the Pricing Supplement as the Index Determination but the proviso in the last paragraph of Condition 6(h) (Interest SONIA Compounded Index and SOFR Compounded Index) applies), if a Benchmark Event occurs in relation to the Reference Rate when the Rate of Interest (or any component part thereof) for any Interest Period remains to be determined by reference to such Reference Rate, then the Issuer shall use its reasonable endeavours to appoint an Independent Adviser, as soon as reasonably practicable, to determine a Successor Rate, failing which an Alternative Rate (in accordance with Condition 6(p)(ii)) and, in either case, an Adjustment Spread, if any (in accordance with Condition 6(p)(iii)) and any Benchmark Amendments (in accordance with Condition 6(p)(iii)).

In the absence of bad faith or fraud, the Independent Adviser shall have no liability whatsoever to the Issuer, the Fiscal Agent or the Noteholders for any determination made by it pursuant to this Condition 6(p)) and the Fiscal Agent will not be liable for any loss, liability, cost, charge or expense which may arise as a result thereof.

- (i) If the Independent Adviser determines in its discretion that:
  - (A) there is a Successor Rate, then such Successor Rate shall (subject to adjustment as provided in Condition 6(p)(ii)) subsequently be used in place of the Reference Rate to determine the Rate of Interest (or the relevant component part(s) thereof) for the relevant Interest Period and all following Interest Periods, subject to the subsequent operation of this Condition 6(p) in the event of a further Benchmark Event affecting the Successor Rate; or
  - (B) there is no Successor Rate but that there is an Alternative Rate, then such Alternative Rate shall (subject to adjustment as provided in Condition 6(p)(ii)) subsequently be used in place of the Reference Rate to determine the Rate of Interest (or the relevant component part(s) thereof) for the relevant Interest Period and all following Interest Periods, subject to the subsequent operation of this Condition 6(p) in the event of a further Benchmark Event affecting the Alternative Rate.

- (ii) If the Independent Adviser determines in its discretion (A) that an Adjustment Spread is required to be applied to the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be) and (B) the quantum of, or a formula or methodology for determining, such Adjustment Spread, then such Adjustment Spread shall apply to the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be).
- (iii) If any relevant Successor Rate, Alternative Rate or Adjustment Spread is determined in accordance with this Condition 6(p) and the Independent Adviser determines in its discretion (i) that amendments to these Conditions are necessary to ensure the proper operation of such Successor Rate, Alternative Rate and/or Adjustment Spread (such amendments, the "Benchmark Amendments") and (ii) the terms of the Benchmark Amendments, then the Issuer shall, following consultation with the Calculation Agent (or the person specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as the party responsible for calculating the Rate of Interest and the Interest Amount(s)), subject to giving notice thereof in accordance with Condition 6(p)(v), without any requirement for the consent or approval of relevant Noteholders, vary these Conditions to give effect to such Benchmark Amendments with effect from the date specified in such notice (and for the avoidance of doubt, the Fiscal Agent shall, at the direction and expense of the Issuer, consent to and effect such consequential amendments to the Agency Agreement and these Conditions as the Fiscal Agent may be required in order to give effect to this Condition 6(p)).
- (iv) If (A) the Issuer is unable to appoint an Independent Adviser or (B) the Independent Adviser appointed by it fails to determine a Successor Rate or, failing which, an Alternative Rate in accordance with this Condition 6(p) prior to the relevant Interest Determination Date, the Reference Rate applicable to the relevant Interest Period shall be the Reference Rate applicable as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date. If there has not been a first Interest Payment Date, the Reference Rate shall be the Reference Rate that would have been applicable to the Notes for the first Interest Period had the Notes been in issue for a period equal in duration to the scheduled first Interest Period but ending on (and excluding) the Interest Commencement Date. For the avoidance of doubt, any adjustment pursuant to this Condition 6(p)(iv) shall apply to the relevant Interest Period only. Any subsequent Interest Period may be subject to the subsequent operation of this Condition 6(p).
- (v) Any Successor Rate, Alternative Rate, Adjustment Spread and the specific terms of any Benchmark Amendments, determined under this Condition 6(p) will be notified promptly by the Issuer to the Fiscal Agent, the Calculation Agent, the Paying Agents and, in accordance with Condition 20 (*Notices*), the Noteholders. Such notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the effective date of the Benchmark Amendments, if any.
- (vi) No later than notifying the Fiscal Agent of the same, the Issuer shall deliver to the Fiscal Agent a certificate signed by two authorised signatories of the Issuer:
  - (A) confirming (x) that a Benchmark Event has occurred, (y) the relevant Successor Rate, or, as the case may be, the relevant Alternative Rate and, (z) where applicable, any relevant Adjustment Spread and/or the specific terms of any relevant Benchmark Amendments, in each case as determined in accordance with the provisions of this Condition 6(p); and
  - (B) certifying that (1) the relevant Benchmark Amendments are necessary to ensure the proper operation of such relevant Successor Rate, Alternative Rate and/or Adjustment Spread and (2) the intent of the drafting of such changes is solely to implement the relevant Benchmark Amendments.

The Fiscal Agent and the Agents shall be entitled to rely on such certificate (without further enquiry and without liability to any person) as sufficient evidence thereof.

(vii) The Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and the Adjustment Spread (if any) and the Benchmark Amendments (if any) specified in such certificate will (in the absence of manifest error or bad faith in the determination of such Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and such Adjustment Spread (if any) and such Benchmark Amendments (if any)) be

binding on the Issuer, Fiscal Agent, the Calculation Agent, the Paying Agents and the Noteholders.

### (viii) As used in this Condition 6(p):

- "Adjustment Spread" means either a spread (which may be positive or negative), or the formula or methodology for calculating a spread, in either case, which the Independent Adviser determines is required to be applied to the relevant Successor Rate or the relevant Alternative Rate (as the case may be) and is the spread, formula or methodology which:
- (A) in the case of a Successor Rate, is formally recommended, or formally provided as an option for parties to adopt, in relation to the replacement of the Reference Rate with the Successor Rate by any Relevant Nominating Body; or
- (B) (if no such recommendation has been made, or in the case of an Alternative Rate), the Independent Adviser, determines is customarily applied to the relevant Successor Rate or Alternative Rate (as the case may be) in international debt capital markets transactions to produce an industry-accepted replacement rate for the Reference Rate; or
- (C) (if no such determination has been made) the Independent Adviser determines, is recognised or acknowledged as being the industry standard for over-the-counter derivative transactions which reference the Reference Rate, where such rate has been replaced by the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be); or
- (D) (if the Independent Adviser determines that no such industry standard is recognised or acknowledged) the Independent Adviser determines to be appropriate to reduce or eliminate, to the extent reasonably practicable in the circumstances, any economic prejudice or benefit (as the case may be) to Noteholders as a result of the replacement of the Reference Rate with the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be);

"Alternative Rate" means an alternative benchmark or screen rate which the Independent Adviser determines in accordance with this Condition 6(p) is customary in market usage in the international debt capital markets for the purposes of determining floating rates of interest (or the relevant component part thereof) for a commensurate period and in the Specified Currency;

"Benchmark Amendments" has the meaning given to it in Condition 6(p)(iii);

### "Benchmark Event" means:

- (A) the relevant Reference Rate has ceased to be published on the Relevant Screen Page as a result of such benchmark ceasing to be calculated or administered; or
- (B) a public statement by the administrator of the relevant Reference Rate that (in circumstances where no successor administrator has been or will be appointed that will continue publication of such Reference Rate) it has ceased publishing such Reference Rate permanently or indefinitely or that it will cease to do so by a specified future date (the "Specified Future Date"); or
- (C) a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the relevant Reference Rate that such Reference Rate has been or will, by a specified future date (the "Specified Future Date"), be permanently or indefinitely discontinued; or
- (D) a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the relevant Reference Rate that means that such Reference Rate will, by a specified future date (the "Specified Future Date"), be prohibited from being used or that its use will be subject to restrictions or adverse consequences, either generally or in respect of the Notes; or

- (E) a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the relevant Reference Rate (as applicable) that, in the view of such supervisor, (i) such Reference Rate is or will, by a specified future date (the "Specified Future Date"), be no longer representative of an underlying market or (ii) the methodology to calculate such Reference Rate has materially changed; or
- (F) it has or will, by a specified date within the following six months, become unlawful for the Calculation Agent to calculate any payments due to be made to any Noteholder using the relevant Reference Rate (as applicable) (including, without limitation, under the Benchmarks Regulation (EU) 2016/1011, if applicable).

Notwithstanding the sub-paragraphs above, where the relevant Benchmark Event is a public statement within sub-paragraphs (B), (C), (D) or (E) above and the Specified Future Date in the public statement is more than six months after the date of that public statement, the Benchmark Event shall not be deemed to occur until the date falling six months prior to such Specified Future Date;

"Independent Adviser" means an independent financial institution of international repute or other independent financial adviser experienced in the international capital markets, in each case appointed by the Issuer at its own expense;

"Relevant Nominating Body" means, in respect of a benchmark or screen rate (as applicable):

- (A) the central bank for the currency to which the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable) relates, or any central bank or other supervisory authority which is responsible for supervising the administrator of the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable); or
- (B) any working group or committee sponsored by, chaired or co-chaired by or constituted at the request of (a) the central bank for the currency to which the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable) relates, (b) any central bank or other supervisory authority which is responsible for supervising the administrator of the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable), (c) a group of the aforementioned central banks or other supervisory authorities or (d) the Financial Stability Board or any part thereof; and

"Successor Rate" means a successor to or replacement of the Reference Rate which is formally recommended by any Relevant Nominating Body.

### 7. Zero Coupon Note Provisions

- (a) Application: This Condition 7 (Zero Coupon Note Provisions) is applicable to the Notes only if the Zero Coupon Note Provisions are specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being applicable.
- (b) Late payment on Zero Coupon Notes: If the Redemption Amount payable in respect of any Zero Coupon Note is improperly withheld or refused, the Redemption Amount shall thereafter be an amount equal to the sum of:
  - (i) the Reference Price; and
  - the product of the Accrual Yield (compounded annually) being applied to the Reference Price on the basis of the relevant Day Count Fraction from (and including) the Issue Date to (but excluding) whichever is the earlier of (i) the day on which all sums due in respect of such Note up to that day are received by or on behalf of the relevant Noteholder and (ii) the day which is seven days after the Fiscal Agent has notified the Noteholders that it has received all sums due in respect of the Notes up to such seventh day (except to the extent that there is any subsequent default in payment).

### 8. **Dual Currency Note Provisions**

- (a) Application: This Condition 8 (Dual Currency Note Provisions) is applicable to the Notes only if the Dual Currency Note Provisions are specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being applicable.
- (b) Rate of Interest: If the rate or amount of interest falls to be determined by reference to an exchange rate, the rate or amount of interest payable shall be determined in the manner specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

### 9. **Redemption and Purchase**

- (a) Scheduled redemption: Unless previously redeemed, or purchased and cancelled, the Notes will be redeemed at their Final Redemption Amount on the Maturity Date, subject as provided in Condition 10 (Payments Bearer Notes), Condition 11 (Payments Registered Notes) and Condition 12 (Payments VPS Notes).
- (b) Redemption for tax reasons: The Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole, but not in part:
  - (i) at any time (if neither the Floating Rate Note Provisions or the Index-Linked Interest Note Provisions are specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being applicable); or
  - on any Interest Payment Date (if the Floating Rate Note Provisions or the Index-Linked Interest Note Provisions are specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being applicable),

on giving not less than 15 nor more than 30 days' notice to the Noteholders, or such other period(s) as may be specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, (which notice shall be irrevocable), at their Early Redemption Amount (Tax), together with interest accrued (if any) to the date fixed for redemption, if:

- (A) the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay additional amounts as provided or referred to in Condition 13 (*Taxation*) as a result of any change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of the Republic of Finland or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax, or any change in the application or official interpretation of such laws or regulations (including a holding by a court of competent jurisdiction), which change or amendment becomes effective on or after the date of issue of the first Tranche of the Notes; and
- (B) such obligation cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures available to it,

provided, however, that no such notice of redemption shall be given earlier than:

- (1) where the Notes may be redeemed at any time, 90 days prior to the earliest date on which the Issuer would be obliged to pay such additional amounts if a payment in respect of the Notes were then due; or
- (2) where the Notes may be redeemed only on an Interest Payment Date, 60 days prior to the Interest Payment Date occurring immediately before the earliest date on which the Issuer would be obliged to pay such additional amounts if a payment in respect of the Notes were then due.

Prior to the publication of any notice of redemption pursuant to this paragraph, the Issuer shall deliver to the Fiscal Agent, or in the case of VPS Notes to the VPS and the VPS Account Manager, (X) a certificate signed by two duly authorised officers of the Issuer stating that the Issuer is entitled to effect such redemption and setting forth a statement of facts showing that the Conditions precedent to the right of the Issuer so to redeem have occurred of and (Y) an opinion of independent legal advisers of recognised standing to the effect that the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay such additional amounts as a result of such change or amendment. Upon the expiry of any such

notice as is referred to in this Condition 9(b), the Issuer shall be bound to redeem the Notes in accordance with this Condition 9(b).

- (c) Redemption at the option of the Issuer: If the Call Option is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being applicable, the Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole or, if so specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, in part on any Optional Redemption Date (Call) at the relevant Optional Redemption Amount (Call) on the Issuer giving not less than 15 nor more than 30 days' notice to the Noteholders, or such other period(s) as may be specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, (which notice shall be irrevocable and shall oblige the Issuer to redeem the Notes or, as the case may be, the Notes specified in such notice on the relevant Optional Redemption Date (Call) at the Optional Redemption Amount (Call) plus accrued interest (if any) to such date).
- (d) Partial redemption: If the Notes are to be redeemed in part only on any date in accordance with Condition 9(c) (Redemption and Purchase - Redemption at the option of the Issuer), in the case of Bearer Notes, the Notes to be redeemed shall be selected by the drawing of lots in such place as the Fiscal Agent approves and in such manner as the Fiscal Agent considers appropriate, subject to compliance with applicable law and the rules of each listing authority, stock exchange, regulated market and/or quotation system (if any) by which the Notes have then been admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation, and the notice to Noteholders referred to in Condition 9(c) (Redemption and Purchase - Redemption at the option of the Issuer) shall specify the serial numbers of the Notes so to be redeemed, and, in the case of Registered Notes, each Note shall be redeemed in part in the proportion which the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes to be redeemed on the relevant Optional Redemption Date (Call) bears to the aggregate principal amount of outstanding Notes on such date. If any Maximum Redemption Amount or Minimum Redemption Amount is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, then the Optional Redemption Amount (Call) shall in no event be greater than the maximum or be less than the minimum so specified. In the case of VPS Notes, the Notes to be redeemed shall be selected in accordance with the rules of the VPS.
- Clean-up Call: If Clean-up Call Option is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being (e) applicable, and if, at any time the outstanding aggregate principal amount of the Notes is 20 per cent. (or such other amount as is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement) or less of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes originally issued (and, for these purposes, any further Notes issued pursuant to Condition 19 (Further Issues) and consolidated with the Notes as part of the same Series shall be deemed to have been originally issued) (the "Clean-up Call Threshold"), the Issuer may redeem all (but not some only) of the remaining outstanding Notes on any date (or, if the Floating Rate Note Provisions are specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being applicable, on any Interest Payment Date) upon giving not less than 15 nor more than 30 days' notice to the Noteholders (or such other notice period as may be specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement) (which notice shall specify the date for redemption and shall be irrevocable), at the Optional Redemption Amount (Clean-up Call) together with any accrued and unpaid interest up to (but excluding) the date of redemption. Prior to the publication of any notice of redemption pursuant to this Condition 9(e), the Issuer shall deliver to the Fiscal Agent a certificate signed by two authorised signatories of the Issuer stating that the Issuer is entitled to effect such redemption and setting forth a statement of facts showing that the outstanding aggregate principal amount of the Notes is equal to or less than the Clean-up Call Threshold. The Fiscal Agent shall be entitled to accept such certificate as sufficient evidence of the satisfaction of the condition precedent set out above, in which event it shall be conclusive and binding on the Noteholders and the Couponholders.
- Redemption at the option of Noteholders: If the Put Option is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being applicable, the Issuer shall, at the option of the holder of any Note redeem such Note on the Optional Redemption Date (Put) specified in the relevant Put Option Notice at the relevant Optional Redemption Amount (Put) together with interest (if any) accrued to such date. In order to exercise the option contained in this Condition 9(f), the holder of a Note must, not less than 15 nor more than 30 days before the relevant Optional Redemption Date (Put) (or such other period(s) as may be specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement), deposit with any Paying Agent such Note together with all unmatured Coupons relating thereto and a duly completed Put Option Notice in the form obtainable from any Paying Agent. The Paying Agent with which a Note is so deposited shall deliver a duly completed Put Option Receipt to the depositing Noteholder. No Note, once deposited with a duly completed Put Option Notice in accordance with this Condition 9(f),

may be withdrawn; *provided, however, that* if, prior to the relevant Optional Redemption Date (Put), any such Note becomes immediately due and payable or, upon due presentation of any such Note on the relevant Optional Redemption Date (Put), payment of the redemption moneys is improperly withheld or refused, the relevant Paying Agent shall mail notification thereof to the depositing Noteholder at such address as may have been given by such Noteholder in the relevant Put Option Notice and shall hold such Note at its Specified Office for collection by the depositing Noteholder against surrender of the relevant Put Option Receipt. For so long as any outstanding Note is held by a Paying Agent in accordance with this Condition 9(f), the depositor of such Note and not such Paying Agent shall be deemed to be the holder of such Note for all purposes.

In the case of VPS Notes, Noteholders must, within the notice period, give notice to the relevant VPS Account Manager of such exercise in accordance with the standard procedures of the VPS from time to time.

- (g) No other redemption: The Issuer shall not be entitled to redeem the Notes otherwise than as provided in paragraphs (a) to (f) above.
- (h) Early redemption of Zero Coupon Notes: Unless otherwise specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the Redemption Amount payable on redemption of a Zero Coupon Note at any time before the Maturity Date shall be an amount equal to the sum of:
  - (i) the Reference Price; and
  - the product of the Accrual Yield (compounded annually) being applied to the Reference Price from (and including) the Issue Date to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption or (as the case may be) the date upon which the Note becomes due and payable.

Where such calculation is to be made for a period which is not a whole number of years, the calculation in respect of the period of less than a full year shall be made on the basis of such Day Count Fraction as may be specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement for the purposes of this Condition 9(h) or, if none is so specified, a Day Count Fraction of 30E/360.

- (i) Purchase: The Issuer may at any time purchase Notes in the open market or otherwise at any price and such Notes may be held, resold or, at the option of the Issuer, surrendered to any Paying Agent for cancellation (provided that, if the Notes are to be cancelled, they are purchased together with all unmatured Coupons relating to them).
- (j) Cancellation: All Notes surrendered to any Paying Agent for cancellation and any unmatured Coupons attached to or surrendered with them shall be cancelled and, in the case of VPS Notes, deleted from the records of VPS, and all Notes so cancelled and any Notes cancelled pursuant to Condition 9(i) (Redemption and Purchase Purchase) above (together with all unmatured Coupons cancelled with them) may not be reissued or resold.
- (k) Compulsory Sale: The Issuer may compel any beneficial owner of Notes initially sold pursuant to Rule 144A under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933 (as amended, the "Securities Act") to sell its interest in such Notes, or may sell such interest on behalf of such beneficial owner, if such beneficial owner is a U.S. person that is not a qualified institutional buyer (as defined in Rule 144A under the Securities Act) and also a qualified purchaser (as defined in Section 2(a)(51) of the U.S. Investment Company Act of 1940).

# 10. **Payments – Bearer Notes**

This Condition 10 is only applicable to Bearer Notes

(a) Principal: Payments of principal shall be made only against presentation and (provided that payment is made in full) surrender of Bearer Notes at the Specified Office of any Paying Agent outside the United States by cheque drawn in the currency in which the payment is due on, or by transfer to an account denominated in that currency (or, if that currency is euro, any other account to which euro may be credited or transferred) and maintained by the payee with, a bank in the Principal Financial Centre of that currency (in the case of a sterling cheque, a town clearing branch of a bank in the City of London).

- (b) Interest: Payments of interest shall, subject to paragraph (h) (Payments other than in respect of matured Coupons) below, be made only against presentation and (provided that payment is made in full) surrender of the appropriate Coupons at the Specified Office of any Paying Agent outside the United States in the manner described in paragraph (a) (Principal) above.
- (c) Payments in the United States: Payments of principal or interest may be made at the Specified Office of a Paying Agent in New York City if (i) the Issuer has appointed Paying Agents outside the United States with the reasonable expectation that such Paying Agents will be able to make payment of the full amount of the interest on the Notes in the currency in which the payment is due when due, (ii) payment of the full amount of such interest at the offices of all such Paying Agents is illegal or effectively precluded by exchange controls or other similar restrictions and (iii) payment is permitted by applicable United States law, without involving, in the opinion of the Issuer, any adverse tax consequence to the Issuer.
- (d) Payments subject to fiscal laws: All payments in respect of the Bearer Notes are subject in all cases to any applicable fiscal or other laws and regulations in the place of payment, but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 13 (*Taxation*). No commissions or expenses shall be charged to the Noteholders or Couponholders in respect of such payments.
- (e) Deductions for unmatured Coupons: If the relevant Pricing Supplement specifies that the Fixed Rate Note Provisions are applicable and a Bearer Note is presented without all unmatured Coupons relating thereto:
  - (i) if the aggregate amount of the missing Coupons is less than or equal to the amount of principal due for payment, a sum equal to the aggregate amount of the missing Coupons will be deducted from the amount of principal due for payment; *provided, however, that* if the gross amount available for payment is less than the amount of principal due for payment, the sum deducted will be that proportion of the aggregate amount of such missing Coupons which the gross amount actually available for payment bears to the amount of principal due for payment;
  - (ii) if the aggregate amount of the missing Coupons is greater than the amount of principal due for payment:
    - (A) so many of such missing Coupons shall become void (in inverse order of maturity) as will result in the aggregate amount of the remainder of such missing Coupons (the "Relevant Coupons") being equal to the amount of principal due for payment; *provided, however, that* where this sub-paragraph would otherwise require a fraction of a missing Coupon to become void, such missing Coupon shall become void in its entirety; and
    - (B) a sum equal to the aggregate amount of the Relevant Coupons (or, if less, the amount of principal due for payment) will be deducted from the amount of principal due for payment; *provided*, *however*, *that*, if the gross amount available for payment is less than the amount of principal due for payment, the sum deducted will be that proportion of the aggregate amount of the Relevant Coupons (or, as the case may be, the amount of principal due for payment) which the gross amount actually available for payment bears to the amount of principal due for payment.

Each sum of principal so deducted shall be paid in the manner provided in paragraph (a) (*Principal*) above against presentation and (*provided that* payment is made in full) surrender of the relevant missing Coupons.

(f) Unmatured Coupons void: If the relevant Pricing Supplement specifies that the Floating Rate Note Provisions or the Index-Linked Interest Note Provisions are applicable, on the due date for final redemption of any Bearer Note or early redemption in whole of such Note pursuant to Condition 9(b) (Redemption and Purchase - Redemption for tax reasons), Condition 9(f) (Redemption and Purchase - Redemption at the option of Noteholders), Condition 9(c) (Redemption and Purchase - Redemption at the option of the Issuer) or Condition 14 (Events of Default), all unmatured Coupons

- relating thereto (whether or not still attached) shall become void and no payment will be made in respect thereof.
- (g) Payments on business days: If the due date for payment of any amount in respect of any Bearer Note or Coupon is not a Payment Business Day in the place of presentation, the holder shall not be entitled to payment in such place of the amount due until the next succeeding Payment Business Day in such place and shall not be entitled to any further interest or other payment in respect of any such delay.
- (h) Payments other than in respect of matured Coupons: Payments of interest other than in respect of matured Coupons shall be made only against presentation of the relevant Bearer Notes at the Specified Office of any Paying Agent outside the United States (or in New York City if permitted by paragraph (c)).
- (i) Partial payments: If a Paying Agent makes a partial payment in respect of any Bearer Note or Coupon presented to it for payment, such Paying Agent will endorse thereon a statement indicating the amount and date of such payment.
- (j) Exchange of Talons: On or after the maturity date of the final Coupon which is (or was at the time of issue) part of a Coupon Sheet relating to the Bearer Notes, the Talon forming part of such Coupon Sheet may be exchanged at the Specified Office of the Fiscal Agent for a further Coupon Sheet (including, if appropriate, a further Talon but excluding any Coupons in respect of which claims have already become void pursuant to Condition 15 (Prescription)). Upon the due date for redemption of any Bearer Note, any unexchanged Talon relating to such Note shall become void and no Coupon will be delivered in respect of such Talon.

### 11. Payments – Registered Notes

This Condition 11 is only applicable to Registered Notes.

- (a) Principal: Payments of principal shall be made by cheque drawn in the currency in which the payment is due drawn on, or, upon application by a Holder of a Registered Note to the Specified Office of the Fiscal Agent not later than the fifteenth day before the due date for any such payment, by transfer to an account denominated in that currency (or, if that currency is euro, any other account to which euro may be credited or transferred) and maintained by the payee with, a bank in the Principal Financial Centre of that currency (in the case of a sterling cheque, a town clearing branch of a bank in the City of London) and (in the case of redemption) upon surrender (or, in the case of part payment only, endorsement) of the relevant Note Certificates at the Specified Office of any Paying Agent.
- (b) Interest: Payments of interest shall be made by cheque drawn in the currency in which the payment is due drawn on, or, upon application by a Holder of a Registered Note to the Specified Office of the Fiscal Agent not later than the fifteenth day before the due date for any such payment, by transfer to an account denominated in that currency (or, if that currency is euro, any other account to which euro may be credited or transferred) and maintained by the payee with, a bank in the Principal Financial Centre of that currency (in the case of a sterling cheque, a town clearing branch of a bank in the City of London) and (in the case of interest payable on redemption) upon surrender (or, in the case of part payment only, endorsement) of the relevant Note Certificates at the Specified Office of any Paying Agent.
- (c) Payments in the United States: In the case of any payment in respect of a Global Note Certificate denominated in a Specified Currency other than U.S. dollars and registered in the name of DTC or its nominee and in respect of which an accountholder of DTC (with an interest in such Global Note Certificate) has elected to receive any part of such payment in U.S. dollars, such payment shall only be made on a day on which commercial banks are not authorised or required by law or regulation to be closed in New York City.
- (d) Payments subject to fiscal laws: All payments in respect of the Registered Notes are subject in all cases to any applicable fiscal or other laws and regulations in the place of payment, but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 13 (Taxation). No commissions or expenses shall be charged to the Noteholders in respect of such payments.

- (e) Payments on business days: Where payment is to be made by transfer to an account, payment instructions (for value the due date, or, if the due date is not Payment Business Day, for value the next succeeding Payment Business Day) will be initiated and, where payment is to be made by cheque, the cheque will be mailed (i) (in the case of payments of principal and interest payable on redemption) on the later of the due date for payment and the day on which the relevant Note Certificate is surrendered (or, in the case of part payment only, endorsed) at the Specified Office of a Paying Agent and (ii) (in the case of payments of interest payable other than on redemption) on the due date for payment. A Holder of a Registered Note shall not be entitled to any interest or other payment in respect of any delay in payment resulting from (A) the due date for a payment not being a Payment Business Day or (B) a cheque mailed in accordance with this Condition 11 arriving after the due date for payment or being lost in the mail.
- (f) Partial payments: If a Paying Agent makes a partial payment in respect of any Registered Note, the Issuer shall procure that the amount and date of such payment are noted on the Register and, in the case of partial payment upon presentation of a Note Certificate, that a statement indicating the amount and the date of such payment is endorsed on the relevant Note Certificate.
- (g) Record date: Each payment in respect of a Registered Note will be made to the person shown as the Holder in the Register at the opening of business in the place of the Registrar's Specified Office on the fifteenth day before the due date for such payment (the "Record Date"). Where payment in respect of a Registered Note is to be made by cheque, the cheque will be mailed to the address shown as the address of the Holder in the Register at the opening of business on the relevant Record Date.
- (h) Notes held through DTC: Notwithstanding any other provision of these Conditions, payments in respect of Registered Notes held through DTC and represented by a Global Note Certificate will be paid as follows:
  - (i) if the Specified Currency for principal or interest payments is U.S. dollars, payments will be made in accordance with the above provisions of this Condition 11; and
  - (ii) if the Specified Currency for principal or interest payments is a currency other than U.S. dollars, payments will be made by the Fiscal Agent in the relevant currency by wire transfer of same day funds to the designated account in such currency of DTC participants entitled to receive the relevant payment who have made an irrevocable election prior to 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the fifteenth calendar day prior to the due date for payment thereof (the "DTC Record Date"). In the case of DTC participants entitled to receive the relevant payments but who have not elected to receive payments in such currency, the Fiscal Agent shall pay such amounts to Citibank, N.A., London Branch in its capacity as foreign exchange agent (the "Foreign Exchange Agent", which expression includes any successor exchange agent appointed from time to time in connection with the Notes) and the Foreign Exchange Agent, after converting amounts in such currency into U.S. dollars as necessary to make payments in U.S. dollars, will deliver U.S. dollar amounts in same day funds to DTC for payment through its settlement system to such DTC participants. The Agency Agreement sets out the manner in which such conversions or such elections are to be made. Paragraphs (a) (Principal) and (b) (Interest) of this Condition 11 do not apply to payments made pursuant to this paragraph (h)(ii).

## 12. **Payments – VPS Notes**

Payments of principal and interest in respect of VPS Notes will be made to the VPS Noteholders shown in the records of the VPS in accordance with and subject to the rules and regulations from time to time regulating the VPS.

#### 13. Taxation

(a) Gross up: All payments (whether in respect of principal, interest or otherwise) in respect of the Notes and the Coupons by or on behalf of the Issuer shall be made free and clear of, and without withholding or deduction for or on account of, any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by or on behalf of the Republic of Finland or any political subdivision therein or any authority therein or

thereof having power to tax, unless the withholding or deduction of such taxes, duties, assessments, or governmental charges is required by law. In that event, the Issuer shall pay such additional amounts as will result in receipt by the Noteholders and the Couponholders after such withholding or deduction of such amounts as would have been received by them had no such withholding or deduction been required, except that no such additional amounts shall be payable in respect of any Note or Coupon:

- (i) held by or on behalf of a holder which is liable to such taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges in respect of such Note or Coupon by reason of its having some connection with the jurisdiction by which such taxes, duties, assessments or charges have been imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed other than the mere holding of the Note or Coupon; or
- (ii) where the relevant Note or Coupon or Note Certificate is presented or surrendered for payment more than 30 days after the Relevant Date except to the extent that the holder of such Note or Coupon would have been entitled to such additional amounts on presenting or surrendering such Note or Coupon for payment on the last day of such period of 30 days.
- (b) FATCA: The Issuer shall be permitted to withhold or deduct any amounts required by the rules of U.S. Internal Revenue Code Sections 1471 through 1474 (or any amended or successor provisions), pursuant to any inter-governmental agreement, or implementing legislation adopted by another jurisdiction in connection with these provisions, or pursuant to any agreement with the U.S. Internal Revenue Service ("FATCA withholding") as a result of a holder, beneficial owner or an intermediary that is not an agent of the Issuer not being entitled to receive payments free of FATCA withholding. The Issuer will have no obligation to pay additional amounts or otherwise indemnify an investor for any such FATCA withholding deducted or withheld by the Issuer, the paying agent or any other party.

#### 14. Events of Default

If any of the following events or circumstances (each an "Event of Default") occurs and is continuing:

- (a) *Non-payment*: the Issuer fails to pay any amount of principal, interest or other amount due in respect of the Notes within 30 days of the due date for payment thereof; or
- (b) Breach of other obligations: if the Issuer or the Guarantor defaults in the performance or observance of any of its other obligations under or in respect of the Notes or the Guarantee Undertaking and (except where such failure is incapable of remedy when no notice will be required) such default remains unremedied for 60 days after written notice thereof, addressed to the Issuer and the Guarantor by any Noteholder, has been delivered to the Issuer and the Guarantor or to the Specified Office of the Fiscal Agent;
- (c) Insolvency etc: the Issuer is adjudicated or found bankrupt or insolvent, or suspends payments, any order or action is made or taken by any competent court or administrative agency, or any resolution is passed by the Issuer, to apply for judicial composition proceedings with its creditors or for the appointment of a receiver or trustee or other similar official in insolvency proceedings in relation to the Issuer or a substantial part of its assets, or the Issuer is wound up or dissolved; or
- (d) Guarantee not in force: the Guarantee of the Notes is not (or is claimed by the Guarantor not to be) in full force and effect,

then the holders of at least 25 per cent. in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes may, by notice in writing to the Issuer (with a copy to the Fiscal Agent), declare all the Notes to be immediately due and payable, whereupon they shall become immediately due and payable at their Early Termination Amount together with accrued interest without further action or formality. Notice of any such declaration shall promptly be given to all other Noteholders by the Issuer,

**provided that** if the Issuer receives notice in writing from holders of at least 50 per cent. in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes to the effect that the Event of Default or Events of Default giving rise to the above-mentioned declaration of acceleration is or are cured following any such declaration and that such holders request the Issuer to rescind the relevant declaration, the Issuer shall, by notice in writing

to the Noteholders (with a copy to the Fiscal Agent), rescind the relevant declaration whereupon it shall be rescinded and shall have no further effect. No such rescission shall affect any other or any subsequent Event of Default or any right of any Noteholder in relation thereto.

#### 15. **Prescription**

Claims for principal in respect of Bearer Notes shall become void unless the relevant Bearer Notes are presented for payment within ten years of the appropriate Relevant Date. Claims for interest in respect of Bearer Notes shall become void unless the relevant Coupons are presented for payment within five years of the appropriate Relevant Date. Claims for principal and interest on redemption in respect of Registered Notes shall become void unless the relevant Note Certificates are surrendered for payment within ten years of the appropriate Relevant Date.

### 16. Replacement of Notes and Coupons

If any Note, Note Certificate or Coupon is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it may be replaced at the Specified Office of the Fiscal Agent, in the case of Bearer Notes, or the Registrar, in the case of Registered Notes (and, if the Notes are then admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by any competent authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system which requires the appointment of a Paying Agent or Transfer Agent in any particular place, the Paying Agent or Transfer Agent having its Specified Office in the place required by such competent authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system), subject to all applicable laws and competent authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system requirements, upon payment by the claimant of the expenses incurred in connection with such replacement and on such terms as to evidence, security, indemnity and otherwise as the Issuer may reasonably require. Mutilated or defaced Notes, Note Certificates or Coupons must be surrendered before replacements will be issued.

### 17. Agents

In acting under the Agency Agreement and in connection with the Notes and the Coupons, the Paying Agents act solely as agents of the Issuer and do not assume any obligations towards or relationship of agency or trust for or with any of the Noteholders or Couponholders.

The initial Paying Agents and their initial Specified Offices are listed below. The initial Calculation Agent (if any) is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement. The Issuer reserve the right at any time to vary or terminate the appointment of any Paying Agent and to appoint a successor fiscal agent or registrar or Calculation Agent and additional or successor paying agents; *provided*, *however*, *that*:

- (a) the Issuer shall at all times maintain a Fiscal Agent and a Registrar; and
- (b) if a Calculation Agent is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the Issuer shall at all times maintain a Calculation Agent; and
- (c) if and for so long as the Notes are admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by any competent authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system which requires the appointment of a Paying Agent and/or a Transfer Agent in any particular place, the Issuer shall maintain a Paying Agent and/or a Transfer Agent having its Specified Office in the place required by such competent authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system.

Notice of any change in any of the Agents or in their Specified Offices shall promptly be given to the Noteholders.

## 18. Meetings of Noteholders; Modification and Waiver

(a) Meetings of Noteholders: The Agency Agreement contains provisions for convening meetings of Noteholders to consider matters relating to the Notes (other than VPS Notes), including the modification of any provision of these Conditions. Any such modification may be made if sanctioned by an Extraordinary Resolution. Such a meeting may be convened by the Issuer and shall be convened by them upon the request in writing of Noteholders holding not less than one-tenth of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes (other than VPS Notes). The quorum at any meeting convened to vote on an Extraordinary Resolution will be two or more Persons holding or representing one more than half of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes (other than VPS Notes) or, at any adjourned meeting, two or more Persons being

or representing Noteholders whatever the principal amount of the Notes held or represented; *provided, however, that* Reserved Matters may only be sanctioned by an Extraordinary Resolution passed at a meeting of Noteholders at which two or more Persons holding or representing not less than three-quarters or, at any adjourned meeting, one quarter of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes (other than VPS Notes) form a quorum. Any Extraordinary Resolution duly passed at any such meeting shall be binding on all the Noteholders and Couponholders, whether present or not.

Any such meeting of the Noteholders may be convened at a physical location, or such other method (which may include, without limitation, a conference call or video conference) as the Issuer may determine in accordance with the provisions of the Agency Agreement.

In addition, a resolution in writing signed by or on behalf of all Noteholders who for the time being are entitled to receive notice of a meeting of Noteholders will take effect as if it were an Extraordinary Resolution. Such a resolution in writing may be contained in one document or several documents in the same form, each signed by or on behalf of one or more Noteholders.

- (b) *Modification:* The Notes, these Conditions, the Guarantee Undertaking and the Deed of Covenant may be amended without the consent of the Noteholders or the Couponholders to correct a manifest error. In addition, the parties to the Agency Agreement may agree to modify any provision thereof, but the Issuer and the Guarantor shall not agree, without the consent of the Noteholders, to any such modification unless it is of a formal, minor or technical nature, it is made to correct a manifest error or it is, in the opinion of such parties, not materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders. In addition, the Notes, these Conditions, the Guarantee Undertaking, the Deed of Covenant and the Agency Agreement may be amended without the consent of the Noteholders or Couponholders to give effect to Condition 6(p) (*Floating Rate Note and Index-Linked Interest Note Provisions Benchmark Replacement*) in connection with implementing any Successor Rate, Alternative Reference Rate, Adjustment Spread or any other consequential changes referred to in Condition 6(p) (*Floating Rate Note and Index-Linked Interest Note Provisions Benchmark Replacement*).
- Provisions with respect to holders of VPS Notes: The VPS Trustee Agreement may contain (c) provisions for convening meetings of the VPS Noteholders to consider any matter affecting their interests, including sanctioning by a majority of two-thirds of votes (as more fully set out in the VPS Trustee Agreement) of a modification of the VPS Notes or any of the provisions of the VPS Trustee Agreement or the VPS Account Manager Agreement. Such a meeting may be convened by the Issuer, the VPS Trustee, or by VPS Noteholders holding not less than 10 per cent. of the Voting VPS Notes (as defined in the VPS Trustee Agreement). The quorum at any such meeting for passing a resolution requiring a two-thirds voting majority is one or more persons holding at least one half of the Voting VPS Notes or at any adjourned meeting one or more persons being or representing VPS Noteholders whatever the nominal amount of the VPS Notes so held or represented, except that at any meeting the business of which includes the modification of certain provisions of the VPS Notes, the VPS Trustee Agreement or the VPS Account Manager Agreement (including modifying the date of maturity of the VPS Notes or any date for payment of interest thereof, reducing or cancelling the amount of principal or the rate of interest payable in respect of the VPS Notes or altering the currency of payment of the VPS Notes), the quorum shall be one or more persons holding or representing not less than two-thirds in aggregate nominal amount of the VPS Notes for the time being outstanding, or at any adjourned such meeting one or more persons holding or representing not less than one-third in aggregate nominal amount of the VPS Notes for the time being outstanding. A resolution passed at any meeting of the VPS Noteholders shall be binding on all the VPS Noteholders, whether or not they are present at such meeting.

### 19. Further Issues

The Issuer may from time to time, without the consent of the Noteholders or the Couponholders, create and issue further notes having the same terms and conditions as the Notes in all respects (or in all respects except for the first payment of interest) so as to form a single series with the Notes, even if further Notes have original issue discount for U.S. federal income tax purposes and even if doing so may adversely affect the value of the original Notes.

#### 20. Notices

- (a) Bearer Notes: Notices to the holders of Bearer Notes shall be valid if published in a leading English language daily newspaper having general circulation in London (which is expected to be the Financial Times) or, if such publication is not so required or practicable, in another leading English language daily newspaper having general circulation in Europe. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the date of first publication (or if required to be published in more than one newspaper, on the first date on which publication shall have been made in all the required newspapers). Couponholders shall be deemed for all purposes to have notice of the contents of any notice given to the Noteholders. The Issuer shall also ensure that notices are duly published in compliance with the requirements of each listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system on or by which the Notes are admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation at the relevant time.
- (b) Registered Notes: Notices to the Holders of Registered Notes shall be sent to them by first class mail (or its equivalent) or (if posted to an overseas address) by airmail at their respective addresses on the Register or, if such publication is not practicable, in a leading English language daily newspaper having general circulation in Europe. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the fourth day after the date of mailing. The Issuer shall also ensure that notices are duly published in compliance with the requirements of each listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system on or by which the Notes are admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation at the relevant time.
- (c) VPS Notes: In the case of VPS Notes, notices shall be given in accordance with the procedures of the VPS as amended from time to time.

## 21. Currency Indemnity

If any sum due from the Issuer in respect of the Notes or the Coupons or any order or judgment given or made in relation thereto has to be converted from the currency (the "first currency") in which the same is payable under these Conditions or such order or judgment into another currency (the "second currency") for the purpose of (a) making or filing a claim or proof against the Issuer, (b) obtaining an order or judgment in any court or other tribunal or (c) enforcing any order or judgment given or made in relation to the Notes, the Issuer shall indemnify each Noteholder, on the written demand of such Noteholder addressed to the Issuer and delivered to the Issuer or to the Specified Office of the Fiscal Agent, against any loss suffered as a result of any discrepancy between (i) the rate of exchange used for such purpose to convert the sum in question from the first currency into the second currency and (ii) the rate or rates of exchange at which such Noteholder may in the ordinary course of business purchase the first currency with the second currency upon receipt of a sum paid to it in satisfaction, in whole or in part, of any such order, judgment, claim or proof.

This indemnity constitutes a separate and independent obligation of the Issuer and shall give rise to a separate and independent cause of action.

## 22. Rounding

For the purposes of any calculations referred to in these Conditions (unless otherwise specified in these Conditions or the relevant Pricing Supplement), (a) all percentages resulting from such calculations will be rounded, if necessary, to the nearest one hundred-thousandth of a percentage point (with 0.000005 per cent. being rounded up to 0.00001 per cent.), (b) all United States dollar amounts used in or resulting from such calculations will be rounded to the nearest cent (with one half cent being rounded up), (c) all Japanese Yen amounts used in or resulting from such calculations will be rounded downwards to the next lower whole Japanese Yen amount, and (d) all amounts denominated in any other currency used in or resulting from such calculations will be rounded to the nearest two decimal places in such currency, with 0.005 being rounded upwards.

### 23. Governing Law and Jurisdiction

(a) Governing law: The Notes and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Notes are governed by English law, except for VPS Notes that will be governed by Norwegian law. Further, the VPS Trustee Agreement and the VPS Account Manager Agreement will be governed by and shall be construed in accordance with Norwegian law.

- (b) English courts: The courts of England have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any dispute (a "Dispute") arising out of or in connection with the Notes (including any non-contractual obligation arising out of or in connection with the Notes). However, the Issuer agrees, for the exclusive benefit of the VPS Trustee and the VPS Noteholders that the courts of Norway are to have jurisdiction to settle any disputes which may arise out of, or in connection with, the VPS Trustee Agreement, the VPS Notes and the VPS Account Manager Agreement.
- (c) Appropriate forum: The Issuer agrees that the courts of England are the most appropriate and convenient courts to settle any Dispute and, accordingly, that it will not argue to the contrary.
- (d) Rights of the Noteholders to take proceedings outside England: Condition 23(b) (Governing Law and Jurisdiction English courts) is for the benefit of the Noteholders only. As a result, nothing in this Condition 23 (Governing Law and Jurisdiction) prevents any Noteholder from taking proceedings relating to a Dispute ("Proceedings") in any other courts with jurisdiction. To the extent allowed by law, Noteholders may take concurrent Proceedings in any number of jurisdictions.
- (e) Service of process: The Issuer agrees that the documents which start any Proceedings and any other documents required to be served in relation to those Proceedings may be served on it by being delivered to the Issuer at Vistra Limited, 7th Floor, 50 Broadway, London SW1H 0DB. Nothing in this paragraph shall affect the right of any Noteholder to serve process in any other manner permitted by law. This Condition applies to Proceedings in England and to Proceedings elsewhere.

#### FORM OF GUARANTEE UNDERTAKING

The following is the text of the Guarantee Undertaking in respect of the Notes issued pursuant to Government Decision (VN/34224/2024), adopted on 19 December 2024 (and which decision replaced the decision of the Government of the Republic of Finland (VM/1220/02.04.06/2019), adopted on 24 October 2019) made according to Section 8a of the Act on the State-Owned Specialised Financing Company (443/1998).

Noteholders should be aware that payments under the Guarantee Undertaking will be made only in respect of payments of principal and interest and default interest under the Notes. Noteholders will have to seek other redress in respect of any costs associated with enforcement of the Guarantee Undertaking. Noteholders should be aware that the Guarantee Undertaking is duly valid in respect of Notes (i) which are issued no later than 31 December 2029 and (ii) which have a maximum maturity of 25 years and should consider this in the context of any purchase of Notes.

THIS AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT UNDERTAKING (the "Amendment Undertaking") is issued on 20 December 2024:

By:

(1) THE REPUBLIC OF FINLAND (Fi: Suomen valtio) (the "Guarantor")

In favour of:

- (2) THE HOLDERS OF BEARER NOTES OR COUPONS, OR OF REGISTERED NOTES, OR OF VPS NOTES (as defined in the Offering Circular, as defined in the Dealer Agreement referred to below); and
- (3) THE ACCOUNT HOLDERS (as defined in the Deed of Covenant, as defined below),
  - (2)-(3) above are, together, the "Beneficiaries".

### WHEREAS

- (A) The Guarantor has issued on 2 October 2012 a guarantee undertaking (the "Original Guarantee") in favour of the Beneficiaries to guarantee the payment of all sums expressed to be payable from time to time by Finnvera plc (the "Issuer") to (i) the Noteholders in respect of the debt instruments issued under the Euro Medium Term Note Programme of the Issuer (the "Programme") and to (ii) Accountholders in respect of the deed of covenant relating to the Programme, subject to the terms and conditions set out in the Original Guarantee.
- (B) The Original Guarantee was amended by the Amendment and Restatement Undertaking to the Guarantee Undertaking on 7 April 2015 and further amended by the Amendment and Restatement Undertaking to the Guarantee Undertaking on 24 April 2017 and by the Amendment and Restatement Undertaking to the Guarantee Undertaking on 28 October 2019 (the "Original Amended Guarantee").
- (C) The Guarantor has agreed that the Original Amended Guarantee shall be amended as set out in this Amendment Undertaking (the Original Amended Guarantee amended by this Amendment Undertaking, the "Amended Guarantee").

### 1. INCORPORATION OF DEFINED TERMS

- 1.1 Unless a contrary indication appears, a term defined in the Amended Guarantee has the same meaning in this Amendment Undertaking.
- 1.2 The principles of construction set out in the Amended Guarantee shall have effect as if set out in this Amendment Undertaking.

# 2. AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT ON THE EFFECTIVE DATE

With effect from the date hereof, the Original Guarantee shall be amended and restated so that it shall be read and construed for all purposes as set out in <u>Schedule 1</u> (*Amended Guarantee*).

### 3. INCORPORATION OF TERMS

The provisions of Clauses 13 (*Counterparts*) and 14 (*Governing law, jurisdiction, waiver of immunity*) of the Amended Guarantee shall be incorporated into this Amendment Undertaking as if set out in full in this Amendment Undertaking and as if references in those clauses to "this Guarantee" are references to this Amendment Undertaking.

**IN WITNESS WHEREOF** this Amendment Undertaking has been entered into on the date stated at the beginning of this Amendment Undertaking.

On behalf of THE REPUBLIC OF FINLAND	ND		
Name:			
Title:			

#### **SCHEDULE 1**

## **Amended Guarantee**

**THIS GUARANTEE UNDERTAKING** (the "Guarantee") is issued on 2 October 2012 as amended and restated pursuant to an amendment and restatement undertaking dated 7 April 2015, as further amended and restated pursuant to an amendment and restatement undertaking dated 24 April 2017, as further amended and restated pursuant to an amendment and restatement undertaking dated 28 October 2019 and as further amended and restated pursuant to an amendment and restatement undertaking dated 20 December 2024.

By:

(1) THE REPUBLIC OF FINLAND (Fi: Suomen valtio) (the "Guarantor")

In favour of:

- (2) THE HOLDERS OF BEARER NOTES OR COUPONS, OR OF REGISTERED NOTES, OR OF VPS NOTES (as defined in the Offering Circular, as defined in the Dealer Agreement referred to below); and
- (3) THE ACCOUNT HOLDERS (as defined in the Deed of Covenant, as defined below),

(2)-(3) above are, together, the "Beneficiaries".

#### WHEREAS

- (A) Finnvera plc (the "Issuer") has a Euro Medium Term Note Programme (the "Programme") for the issuance of debt instruments (the "Notes"), in connection with which it has entered into an amended and restated dealer agreement dated 20 December 2024 (as amended, supplemented and/or restated from time to time, the "Dealer Agreement") and an amended and restated issue and paying agency agreement dated 20 December 2024 (as amended, supplemented and/or restated from time to time, the "Agency Agreement") and it has executed a deed of covenant dated 20 December 2024 (as amended, supplemented and/or restated from time to time, the "Deed of Covenant").
- (B) Each Tranche of Notes will be issued either (1) pursuant to the Offering Circular as amended and/or supplemented by a document specific to such Tranche describing the pricing supplement of the relevant Tranche (the "Pricing Supplement") or (2) in a separate prospectus specific to such Tranche (the "Drawdown Prospectus") which may be constituted either (a) by a single document or (b) by a registration document, a securities note and, if applicable, a summary which relates to a particular Tranche of Notes issued under the Programme.
- (C) The Government of the Republic of Finland has in its decision VN/34224/2024, adopted on 19 December 2024 (the "Government Decision") (and which Government Decision replaced the decision of the Government of the Republic of Finland (VM/1220/02.04.06/2019, adopted on 24 October 2019)), decided to grant this Guarantee to guarantee the payment of all sums expressed to be payable from time to time by the Issuer to Noteholders in respect of the Notes and to Accountholders in respect of the Deed of Covenant.

## **IT IS AGREED** as follows:

### 1. INTERPRETATION

## 1.1 **Definitions**

All terms and expressions defined in the Offering Circular, the Dealer Agreement, the Agency Agreement or the Deed of Covenant shall have the same meaning in this Guarantee except where the context requires otherwise or unless otherwise stated.

# 1.2 Construction

In this Guarantee, unless the contrary intention appears, references to:

- (a) a provision of law regulation or other legislation is a reference to that provision as amended or re-enacted from time to time;
- (b) a person includes its successors, transferees and assigns;
- (c) any document, agreement or other instrument is a reference to that document, agreement or other instrument as from time to time amended, novated, varied, restated, replaced or supplemented, without limitation, (i) any increase or reduction in any amount made available thereunder or any alteration of or addition to the purposes for which any such amount, or increased amount, may be used, (ii) any rescheduling of the indebtedness incurred thereunder, whether in isolation or in connection with any of the foregoing and (iii) any combination of any of the foregoing; and
- (d) a Clause is, unless otherwise stated, to a clause hereof.

# 1.3 Headings

Headings and sub-headings are for ease of reference only and shall not affect the construction of this Guarantee.

### 2. **GUARANTEE**

## 2.1 Guarantee obligation

Pursuant to the Government Decision the Guarantor guarantees the following obligations:

### a) <u>The Notes:</u>

Subject to Clause 2.2 (Guaranteed Amount), the Guarantor hereby unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees as if it was the principal obligor (and without requiring the relevant Noteholder first to take steps against the Issuer or any other person) (Fi: omavelkainen takaus) to each Noteholder the due and punctual payment of all sums from time to time payable by the Issuer to such Noteholder in respect of the relevant Note as and when the same become due and payable and accordingly undertakes to pay to such Noteholder in the manner and currency prescribed by the Conditions for payments by the Issuer in respect of such Note, any and every sum or sums which the Issuer is at any time liable to pay to such Noteholder in respect of the Notes and which the Issuer has failed to pay.

# b) <u>The Direct Rights:</u>

Subject to Clause 2.2 (Guaranteed Amount), the Guarantor hereby unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees as if it was the principal obligor (and without requiring the relevant Accountholder first to take steps against the Issuer or any other person) (Fi: omavelkainen takaus) to each Accountholder the due and punctual payment of all sums from time to time payable by the Issuer to such Accountholder in respect of the Direct Rights as and when the same become due and payable and accordingly undertakes to pay to such Accountholder in the manner and currency prescribed by the Conditions for payments by the Issuer in respect of the Deed of Covenant, any and every sum or sums which the Issuer is at any time liable to pay to such Accountholder in respect of the Deed of Covenant and which the Issuer has failed to pay.

#### 2.2 Guaranteed Amount

The total liability of the Guarantor under this Guarantee shall not exceed the maximum principal amount of the Notes capable of being issued by the Issuer under the Programme, in any case not exceeding EUR 17,000,000,000 (seventeen billion euro) (the "Guaranteed Amount"). In addition to the Guaranteed Amount, the Guarantor shall be liable to pay any interest or default interest as described in Clause 2.1 (Guarantee obligation) in respect of the relevant Note and the Direct Rights in case of a non-payment of such amounts by the Issuer. The Guaranteed Amount

will be reduced by the amount of each payment made by the Guarantor in respect of the principal amount of the Notes or the Direct Rights as a result of a payment to the Beneficiaries.

# 2.3 Continuing obligations

The obligations of the Guarantor herein contained shall constitute and be continuing obligations notwithstanding any settlement of account or other matter or thing whatsoever and shall not be considered satisfied by any intermediate payment or satisfaction of all or any of the Issuer's obligations under any Note or the Deed of Covenant and shall continue in full force and effect for so long as the Programme remains in effect and thereafter until all sums due from the Issuer under the Notes and the Deed of Covenant have been paid, and all other actual or contingent obligations of the Issuer thereunder or in respect thereof have been satisfied, in full.

# 2.4 Non-exclusivity

The rights of the Beneficiaries provided by this Guarantee are cumulative and are not, nor are they to be construed as, exclusive of any rights provided by any applicable law or by any Note or the Deed of Covenant.

### 2.5 **Benefit of the Guarantee**

This Guarantee shall enure to the benefit of each Beneficiary and its (and any subsequent) successors and assigns, each of which shall be entitled severally to enforce this Guarantee against the Guarantor.

### 2.6 Issuer's Notice to Guarantor

The Guarantor acknowledges that the Issuer has agreed to give a notice to the Guarantor of any potential failure of payment in relation to the Guaranteed Amount not later than five (5) days before the due date of the respective payment. A failure by the Issuer to give such a notice will not, however, affect the Guarantor's obligations under the Guarantee.

## 3. PARI PASSU

The Guarantor represents and warrants that the obligations of the Guarantor under this Guarantee constitute the direct and unconditional and unsecured obligations of the Guarantor and will rank pari passu with all other outstanding unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Guarantor in respect of moneys borrowed and guarantees by the Guarantor in respect of moneys borrowed by others save for such obligations as may be preferred by provisions of law that are both mandatory and of general application.

## 4. WAIVER OF DEFENCES

The obligations of the Guarantor under this Guarantee shall not be affected by an act, omission, matter or thing which, but for this Clause, would reduce, release or prejudice any of its obligations under this Guarantee (without limitation and whether or not known to it) including:

- (a) any time, waiver or consent granted to the Issuer;
- (b) the variation, exchange or renewal of any rights against the Issuer;
- (c) any novation, supplement, extension, (whether of maturity (not however in any event exceeding 25 years from the original issue date of the relevant Notes without the consent of the Guarantor) or otherwise) or restatement of, any obligation of the Issuer under or in respect of any Note or the Deed of Covenant including, without limitation, any change in the purposes for which the proceeds of the issue of any Note are to be applied and any extension of the obligations of the Issuer in respect of any note or under the Deed of Covenant; or
- (d) any bankruptcy (Fi: *konkurssi*), merger (Fi: *sulautuminen*), dissolution (Fi: *purkaminen*) or re-organisation (Fi: *yrityssaneeraus*) of the Issuer or any change in its status, function, control or ownership.

### 5. **NON-COMPETITION**

The Guarantor undertakes that, if and to the extent that it is by operation of law or otherwise by virtue of any payment made or moneys received under this Guarantee subrogated to any rights, moneys held, received or receivable by the Beneficiaries or entitled to any right of contribution or indemnity, the Guarantor shall not until all sums due from the Issuer under the Notes and the Deed of Covenant have been paid, and all other actual or contingent obligations of the Issuer thereunder or in respect thereof have been satisfied in full, without the prior written consent of the Beneficiaries:

- (a) exercise or claim or accept the benefit of any such right of subrogation contribution or indemnity;
- (b) claim, rank, prove or vote as a creditor in the bankruptcy (Fi: *konkurssi*) dissolution (Fi: *purkaminen*) or re-organisation (Fi: *yrityssaneeraus*) of the Issuer in competition with any Beneficiary; or
- (c) receive, claim or have the benefit of any payment or distribution from or on account of the Issuer or exercise any right of set-off as against the Issuer or claim the benefit of any moneys held by or for the account of any Beneficiary,

and the Guarantor hereby waives any right which it might otherwise have against the Issuer and the Issuer is hereby released from all obligations in respect of such a claim until all sums due from the Issuer under the Notes and the Deed of Covenant have been paid in full.

The Guarantor will forthwith pay or transfer to the Beneficiaries any payment or distribution or, to the extent permitted under applicable law, benefit of security received by it contrary to the above. If the Guarantor exercises any right of set-off contrary to the above, it will forthwith pay an amount equal to the amount set off to the Beneficiaries.

#### 6. ENFORCEMENT OF THE GUARANTEE

# 6.1 Full enforcement

Upon a failure by the Issuer to pay any sum from time to time payable by the Issuer in respect of the relevant Note as and when the same become due and payable and for as long as the same is continuing, the Beneficiaries may, subject to Clause 2.2 (*Guaranteed Amount*) and to the fullest extent permitted under Finnish law, enforce the Guarantee without a judgment or a decision of a competent court and exercise all of its rights hereunder. The Guarantor waives any right it may have of first requiring the Beneficiaries to proceed against or enforce any other rights against, or claim payment from the Issuer before enforcing this Guarantee.

# 6.2 Waiver of statutory restrictions

The provisions of the Act on Guarantees and Third Party Pledges (Fi: *laki takauksesta ja vierasvelkapanttauksesta*, 19.3.1999/361, as amended) shall not apply to the Guarantee and the Guarantor waives any rights and defences under the said act against the Beneficiaries.

### 6.3 **Appropriations**

Until all amounts, which may be or become payable by the Issuer or the Guarantor under or in connection with the Notes, have been irrevocably paid in full, each Beneficiary (or any agent on its behalf) may refrain from applying or enforcing any other moneys, held or received by that Beneficiary (or any agent on its behalf) in respect of those amounts, or apply and enforce the same in such manner and order as it sees fit (whether against those amounts or otherwise) and the Guarantor shall not be entitled to the benefit of the same.

# 6.4 **Discharge conditional**

Where any discharge is made in whole or in part or any arrangement is made on any payment or other disposition which is avoided or must be restored on insolvency, liquidation or otherwise without limitation, this Guarantee and the liability of the Guaranter under this Guarantee shall continue as if the discharge or arrangement had not occurred until all sums due from the Issuer under the Notes and the Deed of Covenant have been paid, and any other actual or contingent obligations of the Issuer thereunder or in respect thereof have been paid in full.

### 7. **DEPOSIT OF GUARANTEE**

A copy of this Guarantee shall be deposited with and held by the Fiscal Agent for so long as the Programme remains in effect and thereafter until the date which is one year after all the obligations of the Issuer under or in respect of the Notes (including, without limitation, its obligations under the Deed of Covenant) have been discharged in full.

#### 8. **PARTIAL INVALIDITY**

If at any time any provision hereof is or becomes illegal, invalid or unenforceable in any respect under the laws of any jurisdiction, neither the legality, validity or enforceability of the remaining provisions hereof nor the legality, validity or enforceability of such provision under the laws of any other jurisdiction shall in any way be affected or impaired thereby.

### 9. **ADDITIONAL SECURITY**

This Guarantee is in addition to and is not in any way prejudiced by any present or future guarantee, security assets, lien or other security now or subsequently held by any Beneficiary.

#### 10. TAXES

The Guarantor shall make payments hereunder without withholding or deduction on account of any tax or other fiscal charges (including any interest and penalties thereon and in connection therewith) unless required by law, in which case the Guarantor shall increase the amount of the payment to an amount which (after making the relevant withholding or deduction) leaves an amount equal to the payment which would have been due if no such withholding or deduction had been required, except that no additional amounts shall be payable with respect to any payment:

- (a) to, or to a third party on behalf of, a holder who is liable to such taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges in respect of such Note, Receipt or Coupon by reason of his having some connection with Finland other than the mere holding of the Note, Receipt or Coupon; or
- (b) presented (or in respect of which the Certificate representing it is presented) for payment more than 30 days after the Relevant Date except to the extent that the holder of it would have been entitled to such additional amounts on presenting it for payment on the thirtieth such day.

## 11. **ASSIGNMENT**

The Guarantor shall not be entitled to assign or transfer any of its rights and/or obligations under this Guarantee.

# 12. NOTICES

#### 12.1 Address for notices

All notices and other communications to the Guarantor hereunder shall be made in writing (by letter or email) and shall be sent to the Guarantor at:

Address: State Treasury

PO Box 14

FI-00054 STATE TREASURY

Helsinki, Finland

Attention: Finance/State Guarantees

Email: stateguarantees@statetreasury.fi

or to such other address or email address or for the attention of such other person or department as the Guarantor has notified to the relevant Beneficiaries in the manner prescribed for the giving of notices in connection with the relevant Notes.

#### 12.2 Effectiveness

Every notice or other communication sent in accordance with Clause 12.1 (*Address for notices*) shall be effective upon receipt by the Guarantor *provided that* any such notice or other communication which would otherwise take effect after 4.00 p.m. on any particular day shall not take effect until 10.00 a.m. on the immediately succeeding business day in the place of the Guarantor.

#### 13. **COUNTERPARTS**

This Guarantee may be executed in any number of counterparts and this has the same effect as if the signatures on the counterparts were on a single copy of this Guarantee.

# 14. GOVERNING LAW, JURISDICTION, WAIVER OF IMMUNITY

#### 14.1 Law

This Guarantee is governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of Finland.

#### 14.2 Finnish courts

Subject to Clause 14.3 (*Jurisdiction*), the courts of Finland shall have exclusive jurisdiction over matters arising of or in connection with this Guarantee. The District Court of Helsinki (Fi: *Helsingin käräjäoikeus*) shall be court of first instance.

#### 14.3 **Jurisdiction**

The submission to the jurisdiction of Finnish Courts shall not limit the right of the Beneficiaries to take proceedings against the Guarantor in another court, which may otherwise exercise jurisdiction over the Guarantor or any of its assets.

# 14.4 Waiver of immunity

To the extent that the Guarantor is lawfully entitled to do so, the Guarantor waives any right to claim sovereign or other immunity from jurisdiction or execution in respect of any proceedings arising solely out of or in connection with this Guarantee, with the exception of execution, attachment or other legal or judicial process or remedy against property or assets which are used solely or mainly for official purposes (including but not limited to (a) the premises, furnishings, means of transport, archives and documents of a diplomatic mission, (b) the premises, archives or documents of a consular post, (c) assets or property of the armed forces of the Guarantor, (d) any asset in which the central bank or other monetary authority of the Guarantor has an interest, and (e) any bank account of a diplomatic mission or consulate, in each case necessary for the proper, official, diplomatic or consular functioning of the Guarantor and the assets necessary for the proper functioning of the Guarantor as a sovereign power). The waiver of immunities and consent to enforcement in this Clause 14.4 constitute a limited and specific waiver and consent for the purposes of this Guarantee and under no circumstances shall it be interpreted as a general waiver or consent to enforcement by the Guarantor.

This Guarantee has been entered into on the date stated at the beginning of this Guarantee.

On behalf of THE REPUBLIC OF FINLAND

# **USE OF PROCEEDS**

The net proceeds from each issue of Notes will be applied by the Issuer for its general corporate purposes or as otherwise specified in the Pricing Supplement.

#### FORM OF PRICING SUPPLEMENT

The Pricing Supplement in respect of each Tranche of Notes will be substantially in the following form, duly supplemented (if necessary), amended (if necessary), replaced (if necessary) and completed to reflect the particular terms of the relevant Notes and their issue. Text in this section appearing in italics does not form part of the form of the Pricing Supplement but denotes directions for completing the Pricing Supplement.

## Pricing Supplement dated [•]

[EU MiFID II product governance / Professional investors and ECPs only target market – Solely for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer's product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is eligible counterparties and professional clients only, each as defined in Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended[, "EU MiFID II"]); and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Notes to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate. [Consider any negative target market.] Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a "distributor") should take into consideration the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to the MiFID Product Governance rules under EU Delegated Directive 2017/593 (the "EU MiFID Product Governance Rules") is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.]

[EU MiFID II product governance / Retail investors, professional investors and ECPs target market - Solely for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer's product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is eligible counterparties, professional clients and retail clients each as defined in Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended[, "EU MiFID II"]) [EU MiFID II]; EITHER [and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Notes are appropriate[, including investment advice, portfolio management, non-advised sales and pure execution services]] OR [(ii) all channels for distribution to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate; and (iii) the following channels for distribution of the Notes to retail clients are appropriate investment advice, portfolio management, non-advised sales and pure execution services - subject to the distributor's suitability and appropriateness obligations under EU MiFID II, as applicable]. [Consider any negative target market.] Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a "distributor") should take into consideration the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to the MiFID Product Governance rules under EU Delegated Directive 2017/593 (the "EU MiFID Product Governance Rules") is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels[, subject to the distributor's suitability and appropriateness obligations under EU MiFID II, as applicable.]

[UK MiFIR product governance / Professional investors and ECPs only target market — Solely for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer's product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is only eligible counterparties, as defined in the FCA Handbook Conduct of Business Sourcebook ("COBS"), and professional clients, as defined in Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of UK domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 [("UK MiFIR")]; and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Notes to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate. [Consider any negative target market]. Any [person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes][distributor] (a "distributor") should take into consideration the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to the FCA Handbook Product Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook (the "UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules") is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.]

**[UK MiFIR product governance / Retail investors, professional investors and ECPs target market** — Solely for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer's product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is retail clients, as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 ("**EUWA**"), eligible counterparties, as defined in the FCA Handbook Conduct of Business Sourcebook ("**COBS**") and professional clients as defined in Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA ("**UK MiFIR**"); *EITHER* [and

(ii) all channels for distribution of the Notes are appropriate[, including investment advice, portfolio management, non-advised sales and pure execution services]] OR [(ii) all channels for distribution to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate; and (iii) the following channels for distribution of the Notes to retail clients are appropriate - investment advice, portfolio management, non-advised sales and pure execution services - subject to the distributor's suitability and appropriateness obligations under COBS, as applicable]. [Consider any negative target market.] Any [person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a "distributor")][distributor] should take into consideration the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to FCA Handbook Product Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook (the "UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules") is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels[, subject to the distributor's suitability and appropriateness obligations under COBS, as applicable.]

[Singapore Securities and Futures Act Product Classification – Solely for the purposes of its obligations pursuant to sections 309B(1)(a) and 309B(1)(c) of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 of Singapore, as modified or amended from time to time (the "SFA"), the Issuer has determined, and hereby notifies all relevant persons (as defined in Section 309A of the SFA) that the Notes [are]/[are not] "prescribed capital markets products" (as defined in the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018)]

### FINNVERA PLC

Legal Entity Identifier (LEI): 743700T69OBBJO7TCA15

Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] [Title of Notes]

Guaranteed by the Republic of Finland under the €17,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme

This document constitutes the Pricing Supplement relating to the issue of Notes described herein.

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions (the "Conditions") set forth in the offering circular dated 20 December 2024 [and the supplement thereto dated [•]] which [together] constitute[s] an offering circular (the "Offering Circular"). This Pricing Supplement must be read in conjunction with such Offering Circular.

[The following alternative language applies if the first tranche of an issue which is being increased was issued under an offering circular with an earlier date:

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions (the "Conditions") set forth in the offering circular dated [original date] [and the supplement thereto dated [•]]. This document constitutes the Pricing Supplement relating to the issue of Notes described herein and, save in respect of the Conditions, must be read in conjunction with the offering circular dated [current date] [and the supplement thereto dated [•]] ([together, ]the "Offering Circular"). The Conditions are incorporated by reference in the Offering Circular.]

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933 (as amended, the "Securities Act"), or with any securities regulatory authority of any state or other jurisdiction of the United States, and Notes in bearer form are subject to U.S. tax law requirements and may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or its possessions or to a U.S. person except in certain transactions permitted by U.S. tax regulations. The Notes may not be offered, sold or (in the case of Notes in bearer form) delivered within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons (as defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act ("Regulation S")), except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act. The Notes may be offered and sold (i) in bearer form or registered form outside the United States to non-U.S. persons in reliance on Regulation S and (ii) in registered form within the United States to "qualified institutional buyers" ("QIBs", as defined in Rule 144A under the Securities Act ("Rule 144A")) that are also "qualified purchasers" ("QPs") as defined in Section 2(a)(51) of the United States Investment Company Act of 1940 (as amended, the "Investment Company Act") in reliance on Rule 144A.

[Include whichever of the following apply or specify as "Not Applicable" (N/A). Note that the numbering should remain as set out below, even if "Not Applicable" is indicated for individual paragraphs or subparagraphs. Italics denote directions for completing the Pricing Supplement.]

1.	(1)	Issuer:	Finn	vera plc
	(ii)	Guarantor:	The l	Republic of Finland
2.	[(i)	[Series Number:]	[	]
	(ii)	[Tranche Number: If fungible with an existing Series, [ ] details of that Series, including the date on which the Notes become fungible).]	[	]
3.	Specif	ied Currency or Currencies:	[	1
			inter than	lotes are being cleared through DTC with est and or principal payable in a currency other U.S. dollars, check whether DTC will accept tents in such currency)
4.	Aggre	gate Nominal Amount:	[	1
	[(i)]	[Series:]	[	]
	[(ii)]	[Tranche:]	[	]
5.	Issue l	Price:		] per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount accrued interest from [insert date] (in the case ngible issues only, if applicable)]
6.	(i)	Specified Denominations:	respe accep whos section than value curre inves	es [(including Notes denominated in Sterling) in ect of which the issue proceeds are to be ofted by the issuer in the United Kingdom or its issue otherwise constitutes a contravention of on 19 FSMA and] which have a maturity of less one year must have (i) a minimum redemption of £100,000 (or its equivalent in other encies) and be sold only to "professional etors" or (ii) another applicable exemption from 19 of the FSMA must be available]
	(ii)	Calculation Amount:	[	]
7.	[(i)]	Issue Date:	[	]
	[(ii)	Interest Commencement Date:	[Spec	cify/Issue Date/Not Applicable]]
8.	Matur	ity Date:	[	] specify date or (for Floating Rate Notes)
				est Payment Date falling in or nearest to the ant month and year
			Issue recei the a an e	e Maturity Date is less than one year from the Date and either (a) the issue proceeds are wed by the Issuer in the United Kingdom or (b) ctivity of issuing the Notes is carried out from stablishment maintained by the Issuer in the Ed Kingdom, (i) the Notes must have a minimum

redemption value of £100,000 (or its equivalent in

			inves	currencies) and be sold only to "professional tors" or (ii) another applicable exemption from on 19 of the FSMA must be available.]
9.	Intere	est Basis:	]]	] per cent. Fixed Rate]
			[[spe Rate]	cify reference rate] +/- [ ] per cent. Floating
			[Zero	Coupon]
			[Inde	x-Linked Interest]
			[Othe	er (specify)]
			(furth	ner particulars specified below)
10.	Rede	mption/Payment Basis:	[Red	emption at par]
			[Inde	x-Linked Redemption]
			[Dua	Currency]
			[Part]	y Paid]
			[Insta	ilment]
			[Othe	er (specify)]
11.		ge of Interest or Redemption/ ent Basis:		ify details of any provision for convertibility of into another interest or redemption/payment ]
12.	Put/C	all Options:	[Inve	stor Put]
			[Issue	er Call]
			[Clea	n-up Call Option]
			[(furt	her particulars specified below)]
13.	Status	s of the Notes:	Senio	or
14.	Listin	g:	[Spec	ify/None]
15.	Metho	od of distribution:	[Syno	licated/Non-syndicated]
PROV	/ISION	S RELATING TO INTEREST (	IF ANY	) PAYABLE
16.	Fixed	Rate Note Provisions	[App	licable/Not Applicable]
				ot applicable, delete the remaining sub- graphs of this paragraph)
	(i)	Rate[(s)] of Interest:	[ semi-	] per cent. per annum [payable [annually/annually/quarterly/monthly] in arrear]
	(ii)	Interest Payment Date(s):	[	] in each year
	(iii)	Fixed Coupon Amount[(s)]:	[	] per Calculation Amount
	(iv)	Broken Amount(s):	[ Intere	] per Calculation Amount, payable on the est Payment Date falling [in/on] [ ]

	(v)	Day Co	ount Fraction:	[30/360/Actual/Actual (ICMA/ISDA)/other]
	(vi)	method	erms relating to the documents of calculating interest ed Rate Notes:	[Not Applicable/give details]
17.	Floati	ng Rate	Note Provisions	[Applicable/Not Applicable]
				(If not applicable delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph)
	(i)	Specifi	ed Period:	[ ]
	(ii)	Interes	t Payment Dates:	[ ]
	(iii)	[First I	nterest Payment Date]:	[ ]
	(iv)	Busine	ss Day Convention:	[Following Business Day Convention/Modified Following Business Day Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention/FRN Convention/other (give details)]
	(v)	Additio	onal Business Centre(s):	[Not Applicable/[ ]]
	(vi)		r in which the Rate(s) of t is/are to be determined:	[Screen Rate Determination/ISDA Determination/other (give details)]
	(vii)	calcula	esponsible for ting the Rate(s) of t and/or Interest ht(s):	[[Fiscal Agent] / [an institution other than the Fiscal Agent] shall be the Calculation Agent
	(viii)	Screen	Rate Determination:	[Applicable/Not Applicable]
				(If not applicable delete the remaining sub- paragraphs of this paragraph)
		•	Reference Rate:	[[•] [•] EURIBOR/SONIA/SOFR/€STR/other ( <i>give details</i> )]
		•	Observation Method:	[Lag / Observation Shift]
		•	Lag Period:	[5 / [ ] T2 Settlement Days/U.S. Government Securities Business Days/London Banking Days/Not Applicable]
		•	Observation Shift Period:	[5 / [ ] T2 Settlement Days/U.S. Government Securities Business Days/London Banking Days /Not Applicable]
				(NB: A minimum of 5 should be specified for the Lag Period or Observation Shift Period, unless otherwise agreed with the Calculation Agent)
		•	D:	[360/365/[ ]] / [Not Applicable]
		•	Index Determination:	[Applicable/Not Applicable]
		•	SONIA Compounded	[Applicable/Not Applicable]

Index:

• SOFR Compounded Index:

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

• Relevant Decimal Place:

[ ] [5] (unless otherwise specified in the Pricing Supplement, it should be the fifth decimal place)

• Relevant Number of Index Days:

[ ] [5] (unless otherwise specified in the Pricing Supplement, the Relevant Number shall be 5)

• Interest Determination Date(s):

[The first Business Day in the relevant Interest Period / (select where Interest Determination Date has the meaning specified in Condition 6(e) (Floating Rate Note and Index-Linked Interest Note Provisions - Interest - Floating Rate Notes referencing SONIA), 6(f) (Floating Rate Note and Index-Linked Interest Note Provisions -Interest -Floating Rate Notes referencing SOFR) or 6(g) (Floating Rate Note and Index-Linked Interest Note Provisions - Interest - Floating Rate Notes referencing €STR)) [ [London Banking Days/U.S. Government Securities **Business** Days/T2 Settlement Days] prior to each Interest Payment Date

- Relevant Screen Page: [
- Relevant Time: [ ]
- Relevant Financial Centre:
- (ix) ISDA Determination:

[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph)

• ISDA Definitions:

[2006 ISDA Definitions / 2021 ISDA Definitions]

• Floating Rate Option: [•]

(The Floating Rate Option should be selected from one of: CHF-SARON / EUR-EURIBOR-Reuters (if 2006 ISDA Definitions apply) EUR-EURIBOR (if 2021 ISDA Definitions apply) / EUR-EuroSTR / EUR-EuroSTR Compounded Index / GBP SONIA / GBP SONIA Compounded Index / HKD-HONIA / JPY-TONA / USD-SOFR / USD-SOFR Compounded Index (each as defined in the ISDA Definitions). These are the options envisaged by the terms and conditions)

• Designated Maturity: [•]

(Designated Maturity will not be relevant where the Floating Rate Option is a risk free rate)

• Reset Date: [•]/[as specified in the ISDA Definitions]/[the first

1

1

day of the relevant Interest Period, subject to adjustment in accordance with the Business Day Convention set out in (v) above and as specified in

the ISDA Definitions]

Compounding:

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable delete the remaining subparagraphs of this paragraph)

- Compounding Method:

[Compounding with Lookback

• Lookback: [•] Applicable Business Days]

[Compounding with Observation Period Shift

- Observation Period Shift: [•] Observation Period Shift Business Days
- Observation Period Shift Additional Business Days: [[•] / Not Applicable]]

[Compounding with Lockout

- Lockout: [•] Lockout Period Business Days
- Lockout Period Business Days: [[•]/Applicable Business Days]]
- Averaging

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable delete the remaining subparagraphs of this paragraph)

- Averaging Method:

[Averaging with Lookback

• Lookback: [•] Applicable Business Days]

[Averaging with Observation Period Shift

- Observation Period Shift: [•] Observation Period Shift Business Days
- Observation Period Shift Additional Business Days: [[•]/Not Applicable]]

[Averaging with Lockout

- Lockout: [•] Lockout Period Business Days
- Lockout Period Business Days: [[•]/Applicable Business Days]]
- Index Provisions:

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable delete the remaining subparagraphs of this paragraph)

- Index Method:

Compounded Index Method with Observation Period Shift

- Observation Period Shift: [•] Observation Period Shift Business Days
- Observation Period Shift Additional Business Days: [[•] / Not Applicable]]

	(x)	[Linear interpolation:	Not Applicable/Applicable – the Rate of Interest for the [long/short] [first/last] Interest Period shall be calculated using Linear Interpolation (specify for each short or long interest period)]
	(xi)	Margin(s):	[+/-][ ] per cent. per annum
	(xii)	Minimum Rate of Interest:	[Not be less than [ ] per cent. per annum]
	(xiii)	Maximum Rate of Interest:	[ ] per cent. per annum
	(xiv)	Day Count Fraction:	[ ]
	(xv)	Calculation Agent:	[The Fiscal Agent/other] shall be the Calculation Agent.]
	(xvi)	Other interest terms:	[ ]
18.		Rate/Floating Rate Note	[Applicable/Not Applicable]
	Provis	ions	(If not applicable delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph)
	(i)	Fixed Rate[(s)] of Interest:	[ ] per cent. per annum [payable [annually/semi-annually/quarterly/monthly] in arrear]
	(ii)	Interest Payment Date(s) on and prior to the Floating Rate Commencement Date:	[ ] in each year
	(iii)	Fixed Coupon Amount[(s)]:	[ ] per Calculation Amount
	(iv)	Broken Amount(s):	[ ] per Calculation Amount, payable on the Interest Payment Date falling [in/on] [ ]
	(v)	Day Count Fraction:	[30/360/Actual/Actual (ICMA/ISDA)/other]
	(vi)	Other terms relating to the method of calculating interest for Fixed Rate Notes:	[Not Applicable/give details]
	(vii)	Floating Rate Commencement Date:	[•]
	(viii)	Specified Period:	[ ]
	(ix)	Interest Payment Dates after the Floating Rate Commencement Date:	[ ]
	(x)	[First Interest Payment Date]:	[ ]
	(xi)	Business Day Convention:	[Following Business Day Convention/Modified Following Business Day Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention/FRN Convention/other (give details)]
	(xii)	Additional Business Centre(s):	[Not Applicable/[ ]]
	(xiii)	Manner in which the Rate(s) of Interest is/are to be determined:	[Screen Rate Determination/ISDA Determination/other (give details)]

(xiv)	calcula	esponsible for atting the Rate(s) of and/or Interest ant(s):	[[Fiscal Agent] / [an institution other than the Fiscal Agent] shall be the Calculation Agent
(xv)	Screen	Rate Determination:	[Applicable/Not Applicable]
			(If not applicable delete the remaining sub- paragraphs of this paragraph)
	•	Reference Rate:	[[•] [•] EURIBOR/SONIA/SOFR/ $\in$ STR/other (give details)]
	•	Observation Method:	[Lag / Observation Shift]
	•	Lag Period:	[5 / [ ] T2 Settlement Days/U.S. Government Securities Business Days/London Banking Days/Not Applicable]
	•	Observation Shift Period:	[5 / [ ] T2 Settlement Days/U.S. Government Securities Business Days/London Banking Days /Not Applicable]
			(NB: A minimum of 5 should be specified for the Lag Period or Observation Shift Period, unless otherwise agreed with the Calculation Agent)
	•	D:	[360/365/[ ]] / [Not Applicable]
	•	Index Determination:	[Applicable/Not Applicable]
	•	SONIA Compounded Index:	[Applicable/Not Applicable]
	•	SOFR Compounded Index:	[Applicable/Not Applicable]
	•	Relevant Decimal Place:	[ ] [5] (unless otherwise specified in the Pricing Supplement, it should be the fifth decimal place)
	•	Relevant Number of Index Days:	[ ] [5] (unless otherwise specified in the Pricing Supplement, the Relevant Number shall be 5)
	•	Interest Determination Date(s):	[The first Business Day in the relevant Interest Period / (select where Interest Determination Date has the meaning specified in Condition 6(e) (Floating Rate Note and Index-Linked Interest Note Provisions - Interest − Floating Rate Notes referencing SONIA), 6(f) (Floating Rate Note and Index-Linked Interest Note Provisions - Interest − Floating Rate Notes referencing SOFR) or 6(g) (Floating Rate Note and Index-Linked Interest Note Provisions - Interest − Floating Rate Notes referencing €STR)) [
	•	Relevant Screen Page:	[ ]
	•	Relevant Time:	[ ]

• Relevant Financial Centre:

[ ]

(xvi) ISDA Determination:

[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph)

• ISDA Definitions:

[2006 ISDA Definitions / 2021 ISDA Definitions]

• Floating Rate Option:

[•]

(The Floating Rate Option should be selected from one of: CHF-SARON / EUR-EURIBOR-Reuters (if 2006 ISDA Definitions apply) EUR-EURIBOR (if 2021 ISDA Definitions apply) / EUR-EUROSTR / EUR-EUROSTR Compounded Index / GBP SONIA / GBP SONIA Compounded Index / HKD-HONIA / JPY-TONA / USD-SOFR / USD-SOFR Compounded Index (each as defined in the ISDA Definitions). These are the options envisaged by the terms and conditions)

ty: [•]

Designated Maturity:

(Designated Maturity will not be relevant where the Floating Rate Option is a risk free rate)

• Reset Date:

[•]/[as specified in the ISDA Definitions]/[the first day of the relevant Interest Period, subject to adjustment in accordance with the Business Day Convention set out in (v) above and as specified in the ISDA Definitions]

• Compounding:

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable delete the remaining subparagraphs of this paragraph)

- Compounding Method:

[Compounding with Lookback

• Lookback: [•] Applicable Business Days]

[Compounding with Observation Period Shift

- Observation Period Shift: [•] Observation Period Shift Business Days
- Observation Period Shift Additional Business Days: [[•] / Not Applicable]]

[Compounding with Lockout

- Lockout: [•] Lockout Period Business Days
- Lockout Period Business Days: [[•]/Applicable Business Days]]
- Averaging

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable delete the remaining subparagraphs of this paragraph)

		• Lookback: [•] Applicable Business Days]
		[Averaging with Observation Period Shift
		• Observation Period Shift: [•] Observation Period Shift Business Days
		• Observation Period Shift Additional Business Days: [[•]/Not Applicable]]
		[Averaging with Lockout
		• Lockout: [•] Lockout Period Business Days
		• Lockout Period Business Days [[•]/Applicable Business Days]]
	• Index Provisions:	[Applicable/Not Applicable]
		(If not applicable delete the remaining subparagraphs of this paragraph)
	- Index Method:	Compounded Index Method with Observation Period Shift
		• Observation Period Shift: [•] Observation Period Shift Business Days
		• Observation Period Shift Additional Business Days: [[•] / Not Applicable]]
(xvii)	[Linear interpolation:	Not Applicable/Applicable – the Rate of Interest for the [long/short] [first/last] Interest Period shall be calculated using Linear Interpolation (specify for each short or long interest period)]
(xviii)	Margin(s):	[+/-][ ] per cent. per annum
(xix)	Minimum Rate of Interest:	[Not be less than [ ] per cent. per annum]
(xx)	Maximum Rate of Interest:	[ ] per cent. per annum
(xxi)	Day Count Fraction:	[ ]
(xxii)	Calculation Agent:	[The Fiscal Agent/other] shall be the Calculation Agent.]
(xxiii)	Other interest terms:	[ ]
Zero C	Coupon Note Provisions	[Applicable/Not Applicable
		(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph)
(i)	Accrual Yield:	[ ] per cent. per annum
(ii)	Reference Price:	[ ]
(iii)	Any other formula/basis of determining amount payable:	[Consider whether it is necessary to specify a Day Count Fraction for the purposes of Condition 9(h)

[Averaging with Lookback

Averaging Method:

19.

20. **Index-Linked Interest Note** [Applicable/Not Applicable] **Provisions** (If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this paragraph) (i) Index/Formula: [Give or annex details] Party responsible for [The Fiscal Agent/[ ]] shall be the Calculation (ii) calculating the Rate(s) of Agent Interest and/or Interest Amount(s): (iii) Provisions for determining ſ ] Coupon where calculation by reference to Index and/or Formula is impossible or impracticable or otherwise disrupted: (iv) Interest or calculation ſ ] period(s): **Interest Payment Dates:** Γ ] (v) **Business Day Convention:** [Following Business Day Convention/Modified (vi) Following Business Day Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention/FRN Convention/other (give details)] Additional Business Centre(s): (vii) Γ 1 Minimum Rate of Interest: (viii) ] per cent. per annum (ix) Maximum Rate of Interest: ] per cent. per annum Day Count Fraction: (x) [ ] Not Applicable (xi) Section 871(m) 21. **Dual Currency Note Provisions** [Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this paragraph) (i) Rate of Exchange/method of [*Give details*] calculating Rate of Exchange: (ii) Party responsible for [None] shall be the Calculation Agent (no need to calculating the Rate(s) of specify if the Fiscal Agent is to perform this Interest and/or Interest function) Amount(s) (if not the Fiscal Agent): (iii) Provisions applicable where 1 calculation by reference to Rate of Exchange impossible or impracticable:

(Redemption and Purchase - Early redemption of

Zero Coupon Notes)]

(iv)	Person at whose option	[	]
	Specified Currency(ies) is/are		
	payable:		

# PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION

22.	Call Option		[Applicable/Not Applicable]			
				not applicable, delete the remaining subgraphs of this paragraph)		
	(i)	Optional Redemption Date(s):	[	]		
	(ii)	Optional Redemption Amount(s) and method, if any, of calculation of such amount(s):	[	] per Calculation Amount		
	(iii)	If redeemable in part:				
	(a)	Minimum Redemption Amount:	[	] per Calculation Amount		
	(b)	Maximum Redemption Amount:	[	] per Calculation Amount		
	(iv)	Notice period:	[	1		
23.	Put O	Pption	[App	licable/Not Applicable]		
				not applicable, delete the remaining subgraphs of this paragraph)		
	(i)	Optional Redemption Date(s):	[	]		
	(ii)	Optional Redemption Amount(s) and method, if any, of calculation of such amount(s):	[	] per Calculation Amount		
	(iii)	Notice period:	[	]		
24.	Clean	1-up Call Option	[App	licable/Not Applicable]		
				not applicable, delete the remaining subgraphs of this paragraph)		
	(i)	Clean-up Call Threshold:	[	] per cent.		
	(ii)	Optional Redemption Amount (Clean-up Call):	[	]		
	(iii)	Notice period:	[	]		
25.	Final	Redemption Amount	]]	] per Calculation Amount		
26.	Early	Redemption Amount				
	Calcu redem event	Redemption Amount(s) per lation Amount payable on aption for taxation reasons or on of default and/or the method of ating the same (if required or if	Amoi are t	Applicable (if both the Early Redemption and (Tax) and the Early Termination Amount he principal amount of the Notes/ specify the Redemption Amount (Tax) and/or the Early		

different from that set out in the Conditions):

Termination Amount if different from the principal amount of the Notes)

### GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTES

#### 27. Form of Notes:

#### **Bearer Notes:**

[Temporary Global Note exchangeable for a Permanent Global Note which is exchangeable for Definitive Notes [on [ ] days' notice/at any time/in the limited circumstances specified in the Permanent Global Note].]

[Temporary Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes [on [ ] days' notice/at any time/in the limited circumstances specified in the Permanent Global Note].]

[Permanent Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes [on [ ] days' notice/at any time/in the limited circumstances specified in the Permanent Global Note].]

# **Registered Notes:**

[Unrestricted Global Note Certificate exchangeable for unrestricted Individual Note Certificates [on [] days' notice/at any time/in the limited circumstances described in the Unrestricted Global Note Certificate].]

[and]

[Restricted Global Note Certificate exchangeable for Restricted Individual Note Certificates [on [ ] days' notice/at any time/in the limited circumstances described in the Restricted Global Note Certificate].]

[and]

[Restricted Global Note Certificate [([•] nominal amount)] registered in the name of a nominee for [DTC].]

[Unrestricted Global Note Certificate [([•] nominal amount)] registered in the name of a nominee for [DTC/a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg/a common safekeeper for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg (that is, held under the New Safekeeping Structure (NSS)).]

# **VPS Notes:**

[VPS Notes will be issued in uncertificated and dematerialised book-entry form.]

- 28. New Global Note: [Yes/No/Not Applicable]
- 29. New Safekeeping Structure: [Yes/No/Not Applicable]

30. Additional Financial Centre(s) or other special provisions relating to Payment Dates:

[Not Applicable/give details. Note that this item relates to the date and place of payment, and not interest period end dates, to which items 16(ii), 17(ii) and 19(v) relate]

31. Talons for future Coupons to be attached to Definitive Notes (and dates on which such Talons mature):

[Yes/No. If yes, give details]

32. Details relating to partly paid Notes: amount of each payment comprising the Issue Price and date on which each payment is to be made and consequences (if any) of failure to pay, including any right of the Issuer to forfeit the Notes and interest due on late payment:

[Not Applicable/give details]

33. Details relating to instalment Notes amount of each instalment, date on which each payment is to be made:

[Not Applicable/give details]

34. Redenomination, renominalisation and reconventioning provisions:

Not Applicable/The provisions annexed [to this Pricing Supplement apply]

35. Other terms or special conditions:

[Not Applicable/give details]

#### DISTRIBUTION

36. If syndicated names of Managers:

[Not Applicable/give names]

37. If non-syndicated name of Dealer:

[give name(s)]

38. Stabilising Manager (if any):

[Not Applicable/give name]

39. U.S. Selling Restrictions:

[Reg. S Category 1]

There are restrictions on the sale and transfer of Notes and the distribution of offering materials in the United States. The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act, or with any securities regulatory authority of any State or other jurisdiction of the United States, and Notes in bearer form are subject to U.S. tax law requirements and may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or its possessions or to a U.S. person except in certain transactions permitted by U.S. tax regulations. The Notes may not be offered, sold or (in the case of Notes in bearer form) delivered within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons (as defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act), except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act. The Notes may be offered and sold outside the United States to non-U.S. persons in reliance on Regulation S and within the United States to QIBs who are also QPs in reliance on Rule 144A. Prospective purchasers are hereby notified that sellers of the Notes may be relying on the exemption from the provisions of Section 5 of the Securities Act provided by Rule 144A. See "Subscription and

Sale" and "Transfer Restrictions" in the Offering Circular.

(In the case of Bearer Notes) - [TEFRA C/TEFRA D/ TEFRA not applicable]

(In the case of Registered Notes) - [Not] Rule 144A Eligible

40. ERISA-Permitted Issuance: [Yes/No]

41. Additional selling restrictions: [Not Applicable/give details]

#### OPERATIONAL INFORMATION

42. ISIN Code: [ ]

43. Common Code: [ ]

44. CUSIP: [ ] [Not Applicable]

[Select "Not Applicable" if no Restricted Registered Notes will be issued]

45. Any clearing system(s) other than DTC, Euroclear Bank SA/NV and Clearstream Banking S.A. and the relevant identification number(s): [Not Applicable/give name(s) and number(s)/ The Norwegian Central Securities Depositary, Verdipapirsentralen ASA (trading as Euronext Securities Oslo), VPS identification number: [•]. The Issuer shall be entitled to obtain information from the register maintained by the VPS for the purposes of performing its obligations under the issue of VPS Notes.]

46. Delivery: Delivery [against/free of] payment

47. Additional Paying Agent(s) (if any):

48. Intended to be held in a manner which would allow Eurosystem eligibility

[Not Applicable] /

[Yes. Note that the designation "yes" simply means that the Notes are intended upon issue to be deposited with one of the ICSDs as common safekeeper[, and registered in the name of a nominee of one of the ICSDs acting as common safekeeper,][include this text for registered notes]] and does not necessarily mean that the Notes will be recognized as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit operations by the Eurosystem either upon issue or at any or all times during their life. Such recognition will depend upon the ECB being satisfied that Eurosystem eligibility criteria have been met.] /

[No. Whilst the designation is specified as "no" at the date of this pricing supplement, should the Eurosystem eligibility criteria be amended in the future such that the Notes are capable of meeting them the Notes may then be deposited with one of the ICSDs as common safekeeper [(and registered in the name of a nominee of one of the ICSDs acting as common safekeeper,][include this text for registered notes]. Note that this does not necessarily

mean that the Notes will then be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra day credit operations by the Eurosystem at any time during their life. Such recognition will depend upon the ECB being satisfied that Eurosystem eligibility criteria have been met.]]

### **RATINGS**

49. The Notes to be issued [have been/are expected to be] rated]/[The following ratings reflect ratings assigned to Notes of this type issued under the Programme generally]:

[[Rating entity]: [Rating]]

# RESPONSIBILITY

Finnvera plc accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Pricing Supplement.

Signed on behalf of Finnvera plc:

By:

Duly authorised

#### SUMMARY OF PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE NOTES WHILE IN GLOBAL FORM

# **Clearing System Accountholders**

In relation to any Tranche of Notes represented by a Global Note, references in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes to "Noteholder" are references to the bearer of the relevant Global Note which, for so long as the Global Note is held by a depositary or a common depositary, in the case of a CGN, or a common safekeeper, in the case of an NGN for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system, will be that depositary or common depositary or, as the case may be, common safekeeper. Special arrangements apply for VPS Notes (see terms and conditions set out under "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" above).

In relation to any Tranche of Notes represented by one or more Global Note Certificates, references in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes to "Noteholder" are references to the person in whose name the relevant Global Note Certificate is for the time being registered in the Register which (a) in the case of a Restricted Global Note Certificate will be Cede & Co. (or such other entity as is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement) as nominee for DTC; and (b) in the case of any Unrestricted Global Note Certificate which is held by or on behalf of a depositary or a common depositary or a common safekeeper for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system, will be that depositary or common depositary or common safekeeper.

Each of the persons shown in the records of DTC, Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system as being entitled to an interest in a Global Note or a Global Note Certificate (each an "Accountholder") must look solely to DTC, Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or such other relevant clearing system (as the case may be) for such Accountholder's share of each payment made by the Issuer, or failing whom the Guarantor, to the holder of such Global Note or Global Note Certificate and in relation to all other rights arising under such Global Note or Global Note Certificate. The extent to which, and the manner in which, Accountholders may exercise any rights arising under a Global Note or Global Note Certificate will be determined by the respective rules and procedures of DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and any other relevant clearing system from time to time. For so long as the relevant Notes are represented by a Global Note or Global Note Certificate, Accountholders shall have no claim directly against the Issuer in respect of payments due under the Notes and such obligations of the Issuer will be discharged by payment to the holder of such Global Note or Global Note Certificate.

#### **Deed of Covenant**

Under the Deed of Covenant, persons shown in the records of DTC, Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system as being entitled to an interest in a Global Note or Global Note Certificate will acquire directly against the Issuer all those rights to which they would have been entitled if, immediately before the Global Note or Global Note Certificate became void, they had been the holders of Definitive Notes or Individual Note Certificates in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of Notes they were shown as holding in the records of DTC, Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system.

# Transfers of Interests in Global Notes and Global Note Certificates

Transfers of interests in Global Notes and Global Note Certificates within DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other relevant clearing system will be in accordance with their respective rules and operating procedures. None of the Issuer, the Registrar, the Dealers or the Agents will have any responsibility or liability for any aspect of the records of any DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other relevant clearing system or any of their respective participants relating to payments made on account of beneficial ownership interests in a Global Note or Global Note Certificate or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any of the records of DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other relevant clearing system or the records of their respective participants relating to such beneficial ownership interests.

The laws of some states of the United States require that certain persons receive individual certificates in respect of their holdings of Notes. Consequently, the ability to transfer interests in a Global Note Certificate to such persons will be limited. Because clearing systems only act on behalf of participants, who in turn act on behalf of indirect participants, the ability of a person having an interest in a Global Note Certificate to

pledge such interest to persons or entities which do not participate in the relevant clearing systems, or otherwise take actions in respect of such interest, may be affected by the lack of an Individual Note Certificate representing such interest.

Subject to compliance with the transfer restrictions applicable to the Registered Notes described under "*Transfer Restrictions*", transfers between DTC participants, on the one hand, and Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg accountholders, on the other will be effected by the relevant clearing systems in accordance with their respective rules and through action taken by the DTC Custodian, the Registrar and the Fiscal Agent.

On or after the issue date for any Series, transfers of Notes of such Series between accountholders in Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and transfers of Notes of such Series between participants in DTC will generally have a settlement date one business day after the trade date (T+1). The customary arrangements for delivery versus payment will apply to such transfers.

Transfers between DTC participants, on the one hand, and Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg accountholders, on the other will need to have an agreed settlement date between the parties to such transfer. Because there is no direct link between DTC, on the one hand, and Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, on the other, transfers of interests in the relevant Global Note Certificates will be effected through the Fiscal Agent, the DTC Custodian, the relevant Registrar and any applicable Transfer Agent receiving instructions (and where appropriate certification) from the transferor and arranging for delivery of the interests being transferred to the credit of the designated account for the transferee. Transfers will be effected on the later of (i) three business days after the trade date for the disposal of the interest in the relevant Global Note Certificate resulting in such transfer and (ii) two business days after receipt by the Fiscal Agent or the Registrar, as the case may be, of the necessary certification or information to effect such transfer. In the case of cross-market transfers, settlement between Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg accountholders and DTC participants cannot be made on a delivery versus payment basis. The securities will be delivered on a free delivery basis and arrangements for payment must be made separately. The customary arrangements for delivery versus payment between Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg account holders or between DTC participants are not affected.

For a further description of restrictions on the transfer of Notes, see "Subscription and Sale" and "Transfer Restrictions".

Upon the issue of a Global Note Certificate to be held by or on behalf of DTC, DTC or the DTC Custodian will credit the respective nominal amounts of the individual beneficial interests represented by such Global Note Certificate to the account of DTC participants. Ownership of beneficial interests in such Global Note Certificate will be held through participants of DTC, including the respective depositaries of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. Ownership of beneficial interests in such Global Note Certificate will be shown on, and the transfer of such ownership will be effected only through, records maintained by DTC or its nominee. DTC has advised the Issuer that it will take any action permitted to be taken by a holder of Registered Notes represented by a Global Note Certificate held by or on behalf of DTC (including, without limitation, the presentation of such Global Note Certificates for exchange as described above) only at the direction of one or more participants in whose account with DTC interests in such Global Note Certificate are credited, and only in respect of such portion of the aggregate nominal amount of such Global Note Certificate as to which such participant or participants has or have given such direction. However, in certain circumstances, DTC will exchange the relevant Global Note Certificate for Individual Note Certificates (which will bear the relevant legends set out in "Transfer Restrictions").

Although DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg have agreed to the foregoing procedures in order to facilitate transfers of interests in the Global Note Certificates among participants and account holders of DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, they are under no obligation to perform or continue to perform such procedures, and such procedures may be discontinued at any time. None of the Issuer, the Registrar, the Dealers or the Agents will have any responsibility for the performance by DTC, Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or their respective direct or indirect participants or account holders of their respective obligations under the rules and procedures governing their respective operations.

While a Global Note Certificate is lodged with DTC, Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or any relevant clearing system, Individual Note Certificates for the relevant Series of Notes will not be eligible for clearing and settlement through such clearing systems.

## DTC Notes denominated in a Specified Currency other than U.S. dollars

Holders of Notes holding interests in respect of Registered Notes held through DTC and represented by a Global Note Certificate ("DTC Notes") denominated in a Specified Currency for principal or interest payments other than U.S. dollars through DTC (the "DTC Noteholders") will receive such payments in U.S. dollars, unless they notify DTC by the DTC Record Date of (i) such holder's election to receive all or a portion of such payment in the Specified Currency for value the relevant interest payment date or final maturity date, as the case may be, and (ii) wire transfer instructions to an account denominated in the Specified Currency with respect to any payment to be made in the Specified Currency. In the event that a DTC Noteholder has not made such election, payments to such DTC Noteholder will be converted from the Specified Currency to U.S. dollars by the Foreign Exchange Agent and paid by wire transfer of sameday funds to, or to the order of, the registered holder for payment through DTC's settlement system. The Agency Agreement sets out the manner in which such conversions or such elections are to be made. All costs of any conversion into U.S. dollars will be borne by the relevant DTC Noteholder by deduction from such payments.

If complete instructions are received by the DTC participant and forwarded by the DTC participant to DTC, and by DTC to the Foreign Exchange Agent, on or prior to the relevant deadline(s), the DTC Noteholder will receive payment in the Specified Currency outside DTC. Otherwise, only U.S. dollar payments will be made (unless the Foreign Exchange Agent is unable to convert the relevant Specified Currency into U.S. dollars). Payments in the Specified Currency outside DTC will be made by wire transfer of same day funds in accordance with the relevant wire transfer instructions for value the relevant payment date.

# Conditions applicable to Global Notes and Global Note Certificates

Each Global Note and Global Note Certificate will contain provisions which modify the Terms and Conditions of the Notes as they apply to the Global Note or Global Note Certificate. The following is a summary of certain of those provisions:

Payments: All payments in respect of the Global Note or Global Note Certificate which, according to the Terms and Conditions of the Notes, require presentation and/or surrender of a Note, Note Certificate or Coupon will be made against presentation and (in the case of payment of principal in full with all interest accrued thereon) surrender of the Global Note or Global Note Certificate to or to the order of any Paying Agent and will be effective to satisfy and discharge the corresponding liabilities of the Issuer in respect of the Notes. On each occasion on which a payment of principal or interest is made in respect of the Global Note, the Issuer shall procure that in respect of a CGN the payment is noted in a schedule thereto and in respect of an NGN the payment is entered pro rata in the records of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg.

Calculation of interest: The calculation of any interest amount in respect of any Note which is represented by a Global Note or a Global Note Certificate will be calculated on the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Notes represented by such Global Note or a Global Note Certificate, as the case may be, and not by reference to the Calculation Amount.

Payment Business Day: In the case of a Global Note, or a Global Note Certificate, shall be, if the currency of payment is euro, any day which is a T2 Settlement Day and a day on which dealings in foreign currencies may be carried on in each (if any) Additional Financial Centre; or, if the currency of payment is not euro, any day which is a day on which dealings in foreign currencies may be carried on in the Principal Financial Centre of the currency of payment and in each (if any) Additional Financial Centre.

Payment Record Date: Each payment in respect of a Global Note Certificate will be made to the person shown as the Holder in the Register at the close of business (in the relevant clearing system) on the Clearing System Business Day before the due date for such payment (the "Record Date") where "Clearing System Business Day" means a day on which each clearing system for which the Global Note Certificate is being held is open for business.

Exercise of put option: In order to exercise the option contained in Condition 9(e) (Redemption and Purchase - Redemption at the option of Noteholders) the bearer of a Permanent Global Note or the holder of a Global Note Certificate must, within the period specified in the Conditions for the deposit of the relevant Note and put notice, give written notice of such exercise to the Fiscal Agent specifying the principal

amount of Notes in respect of which such option is being exercised. Any such notice will be irrevocable and may not be withdrawn.

Partial exercise of call option: In connection with an exercise of the option contained in Condition 9(c) (Redemption at the option of the Issuer) in relation to some only of the Notes, the Permanent Global Note or Global Note Certificate may be redeemed in part in the principal amount specified by the Issuer in accordance with the Conditions and the Notes to be redeemed will not be selected as provided in the Conditions but in accordance with the rules and procedures of DTC, Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (to be reflected in the records of DTC, Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg as either a pool factor or a reduction in principal amount, at their discretion).

Notices: Notwithstanding Condition 20 (Notices), while all the Notes are represented by a Permanent Global Note (or by a Permanent Global Note and/or a Temporary Global Note) or a Global Note Certificate and the Permanent Global Note is (or the Permanent Global Note and/or the Temporary Global Note are), or the Global Note Certificate is, registered in the name of DTC's nominee or deposited with a depositary or a common depositary for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system or a common safekeeper, notices to Noteholders may be given by delivery of the relevant notice to DTC and/or Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system and, in any case, such notices shall be deemed to have been given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 20 (Notices) on the date of delivery to DTC and/or Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system.

Similarly, the provisions for meetings of Noteholders in the Agency Agreement contain provisions that apply while the Notes are represented by a Global Note or Global Note Certificate. The following is a summary of certain of those provisions:

*Electronic Consent and Written Resolution:* While any Global Note or Global Note Certificate is held on behalf of a clearing system, then:

- (a) approval of a resolution proposed by the Issuer or the Guarantor (as the case may be) given by way of electronic consents communicated through the electronic communications systems of the relevant clearing system(s) in accordance with their operating rules and procedures by or on behalf of the holders of not less than 75 per cent. in principal amount of the Notes outstanding (an "Electronic Consent" as defined in the Agency Agreement) shall, for all purposes (including matters that would otherwise require an Extraordinary Resolution to be passed at a meeting for which a special quorum was satisfied), take effect as an Extraordinary Resolution passed at a meeting of Noteholders duly convened and held, and shall be binding on all Noteholders and holders of Coupons, Talons and Receipts whether or not they participated in such Electronic Consent; and
- (b) where Electronic Consent is not being sought, for the purpose of determining whether a Written Resolution (as defined in the Agency Agreement) has been validly passed, the Issuer and the Guarantor shall be entitled to rely on consent or instructions given in writing directly to the Issuer and the Guarantor by (a) accountholders in the clearing system with entitlements to such Global Note or a Global Note Certificate and/or, where (b) the accountholders hold any such entitlement on behalf of another person, on written consent from or written instruction by the person identified by that accountholder as the person for whom such entitlement is held. For the purpose of establishing the entitlement to give any such consent or instruction, the Issuer and the Guarantor shall be entitled to rely on any certificate or other document issued by, in the case of (a) above, Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other relevant alternative clearing system (the "relevant clearing system") and, in the case of (b) above, the relevant clearing system and the accountholder identified by the relevant clearing system for the purposes of (b) above. Any resolution passed in such manner shall be binding on all Noteholders and Couponholders, even if the relevant consent or instruction proves to be defective. Any such certificate or other document shall, in the absence of manifest error, be conclusive and binding for all purposes. Any such certificate or other document may comprise any form of statement or print out of electronic records provided by the relevant clearing system (including Euroclear's EUCLID or EasyWay or Clearstream, Luxembourg's CreationOnline or Xact Web Portal system) in accordance with its usual procedures and in which the accountholder of a particular principal or principal amount of the Notes is clearly identified together with the amount of such holding. Neither the Issuer or the Guarantor shall be liable to any person by reason of having accepted as valid or not having rejected

any certificate or other document to such effect purporting to be issued by any such person and subsequently found to be forged or not authentic.	d

#### **DESCRIPTION OF THE ISSUER**

#### Introduction

Finnvera plc ("Finnvera") is a specialised financing company, which supplements the financial services offered by the private sector. Finnvera was established under the Act on Arrangements for the Establishment of a State-Owned Specialised Financing Company (442/1998) and commenced operations on 1 January 1999. In accordance with Section 1 of the Act on the State-Owned Specialised Financing Company (443/1998) (the "Financing Company Act"), the purpose of Finnvera and its consolidated subsidiaries (the "Finnvera Group") is to provide financing services to promote and develop business, particularly that of small and medium-sized enterprises ("SMEs") and of midcap entities (being entities larger than SMEs, and with an annual turnover of up to EUR 300 million) ("Midcap"), and to promote and develop exports and internationalisation of enterprises. The Republic of Finland (the "State") is the sole shareholder of Finnvera and the Enterprise and Innovation Department of The Ministry of Economic Affairs and Employment monitors and supervises Finnvera and sets annual goals for its operations.

Finnvera provides financing for various stages during the life of an enterprise, to support its start-up and its domestic and international operations. Finnvera provides financing for export and ship credits through its subsidiary, Finnish Export Credit Ltd ("FEC"). FEC also administers on behalf of the State an interest equalisation scheme for officially supported export and ship credits. Interest equalisation enables a financial institution to provide the buyer of Finnish capital goods or services a fixed rate of credit in accordance with the terms of the OECD Arrangement on Officially Supported Export Credits ("OECD Arrangement") by providing a matching interest rate hedge for the financial institution.

Finnvera's operations are regulated by legislation such as the Act on Credits, Guarantees and Capital Investments Provided by the State-Owned Specialised Financing Company (445/1998) (the "Finnvera Operations Act"). For further detail see "Objective/strategy" below.

#### **State Support**

Although the State compensates Finnvera for part of the credit and guarantee losses incurred in SME and Midcap financing, as further detailed in "Financial services offered by the Finnvera Group", in the Financing Company Act, Section 4, a long-term goal of economic self-sustainability has been set for Finnvera's operations.

The European Commission has been informed of the Finnish legislation on officially supported export and ship credits, which entered into force at the beginning of 2012. The Ministry of Economic Affairs and Employment has expressed their view that the export credit scheme fully complies with the respective EU regulations. All other current domestic and export financing programmes of Finnvera and FEC that are supported by state aid have been duly notified or reported to the European Commission. The European Commission has stated that all such notified programmes conform to EU state aid regulations.

# Objective/strategy

In accordance with its articles of association, Finnvera engages in financing operations by granting and administering credits, guarantees, export credit guarantees and venture capital investments. By providing these financing services, Finnvera promotes SME and Midcap operations, export projects and internationalisation of enterprises, and the implementation of the government's regional policy goals. Finnvera directs its activities to correct market failures in the supply of financing services.

Finnvera is governed by several acts of Parliament which are: the Financing Company Act (443/1998); the Act on the State's Export Credit Guarantees (422/2001); the Act on State's Ship Guarantees (573/1972); the Act on State Guarantees Granted for Environmental Protection and Energy Investments (609/1973); the Act on State Guarantees Granted to Ensure the Supply of Basic Raw Materials (651/1985); and the Finnvera Operations Act (445/1998).

As of the date of this Offering Circular, the Government is preparing a comprehensive reform of the legislation on Finnvera with the aim of strengthening Finnvera's role in supporting exports.

## The Finnvera Group



# Financial services offered by the Finnvera Group

The Finnvera Group provides loans and guarantees to Finnish SMEs and Midcaps, as well as export credit guarantees, financing and interest equalisation for export credits. In accordance with a policy decision made by the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Employment, Finnvera shall cease venture capital investment activities. The Finnvera Group does not issue grants; fees are chargeable in respect of any financing and the fees payable by clients correspond to the risk involved, as determined on a case-by-case basis taking into account EU state aid regulations.

The risks involved in financing are shared between Finnvera and other financiers. The funds required for granting credits are obtained from the financial market.

## SME and Midcap loans and guarantees

Controlled risk-taking is an integral part of Finnvera's domestic operations. It is, however, a strategic objective of Finnvera that the income received from operations covers both Finnvera's operating expenses and the credit and guarantee losses in excess of amounts compensated for by the State. Finnvera is able to extend financing to companies that would not otherwise find commercially viable financing in the market because the State directly compensates in accordance with Article 8 of the Finnvera Operations Act, for some of the credit and guarantee losses that arise from Finnvera's operations. The commitment from the State to compensate Finnvera for credit and guarantee losses is renewed from time to time and the percentage of compensation may vary over time. Currently the State compensates Finnvera for 50 per cent. of the credit and guarantee losses incurred in SME and Midcap financing. The annual profit and loss from SME and Midcap financing is transferred to the reserve for domestic operations.

# **Export Credit Guarantees**

Finnvera provides export credit guarantees to cover the risk of a borrower defaulting or not making scheduled payments for some other reason. Reinsurance or credit derivatives are used to hedge some credit risks in export credit guarantee operations. Credit losses from export credit guarantees are covered from accumulated profits from previous years that have been transferred to the reserve for export credit guarantee and special guarantee operations on Finnvera's balance sheet. According to the Act on the State Guarantee Fund (444/1998), the State guarantee fund and the State are responsible for Finnvera's losses for the part exceeding the assets in Finnvera's reserve.

# Finnish Export Credit Ltd

FEC was established in 2000 and is 100 per cent. owned by Finnvera. FEC's operations are governed by the Act on Finnish Export Credit Ltd (1136/1996) and the Act on Officially supported Export and Ship Credits and Interest Equalisation (1543/2011), as well as a Government Decree and a Decree by the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Employment. The objective of FEC is to promote Finland's economic development by financing exports and domestic ship deliveries as well as administrating interest equalisation on behalf of the State.

During 2009–2012, FEC provided financing for export credits through a refinancing scheme where the State agreed to provide an aggregate amount of up to €3.5 billion to refinance export credits arranged by financial institutions. This scheme was replaced in 2012 by a permanent financing scheme where Finnvera provides the necessary funds to FEC. Under the financing scheme a commercial bank arranges an export credit and further transfers it together with Finnvera's guarantee to FEC. The bank administers the credit during the life of the credit. Since February 2023, FEC may also grant export credits directly to creditworthy foreign buyers. These direct export credits are backed by Finnvera's guarantee to FEC.

FEC also administers on behalf of the State an interest equalisation scheme for export credits and domestic ship-financing in accordance with the OECD Arrangement. Interest equalisation enhances the opportunities of financial institutions to arrange internationally competitive long-term, fixed-rate financing for exports by providing a matching interest rate hedge for the financial institution.

# Project Assessment at Finnvera

## SME and Midcap loans and guarantees

In connection with each application for financing, Finnvera assesses the applicant's credit worthiness and gives an internal rating for the enterprise.

Finnvera's rating methodology is based on credit analysis which requires a comprehensive due diligence study of an enterprise and an understanding of its business. This includes confidential discussions between the enterpreneur and Finnvera on the enterprise's plans at various stages of development and growth. The discussions encompass the enterprise's current status, future expectations and financing needs. Credit analysis is one of the cornerstones of Finnvera's credit risk management.

Enterprises can provide some collateral for a portion of the financing granted by Finnvera (such as assets or personal guarantees), but Finnvera can also grant financing without collateral. Finnvera does not, however, base its financing decision solely on the value of the collateral available from the enterprise. More important is the assessment of the enterprise's ability to repay its debt, its business potential and future outlook.

When assessing the business of small start-up enterprises, Finnvera may also use the opinions received from banks or from its regional cooperation partners. Finnish banks assess the viability of start-up enterprises and if the collateral offered is not enough for a bank loan, the banks can apply for a Finnvera guarantee (up to a maximum of 80 per cent. of the principal loan amount) for such loans. Regional cooperation partners provide free advisory services and guidance on business planning to the prospective entrepreneurs.

# **Export Credit Guarantees**

For the purpose of assessing export guarantee risks, Finnvera assesses the geographical risk of each project according to an internal country policy with eight country risk categories, which are based on the OECD country categories. To establish the appropriate country policies, Finnvera analyses the business environment and financing sector in the target country, the current solvency of the government of the target country and the associated risks.

Finnvera makes an overall assessment of the risks included in the export transaction for which the guarantee is applied. In the analysis, the following factors are considered: the financing structure; the creditworthiness of the obligor; the target country; and the business and legal operating environment and whether an indepth environmental and social review should be carried out. The review focuses on the level of environmental and social protection measures associated with the project in the target country and any environmental and social risks that may be involved, and it is based on independent studies conducted on the project. The project is benchmarked against both the target country's national norms as well as international standards. Projects are classified into 4 different categories determining the thoroughness of the environmental and social analysis required.

## Customer due diligence

While carrying out its financing activities, Finnvera seeks to prevent money laundering and terrorist financing by applying, as applicable, the customer identification and due diligence standards issued by the Finnish Financial Supervisory Authority and several other international standards, including the European

Banking Authority's (EBA) guidance and Financial Action Task Force (FATF) standards and guidance. These are aimed at preventing money laundering and terrorist financing.

Customer due diligence involves establishing a customer's identity or, if applicable, the identity of the person acting on behalf of each customer and the identification of the ultimate beneficial owners of the customers (as applicable), gathering of information on the purpose and type of the intended customer relationship and the recording of customer details.

These processes are adhered to (a) so that Finnvera is not subject to money laundering by cleansing of assets obtained through illegal sources; (b) to ensure that financing provided by Finnvera is not used to finance terrorism or other illegal operations; and (c) to ensure that Finnvera is in compliance with international sanctions.

# Non-performing financing

Finnvera applies the regulations and guidelines of the European Banking Authority for recognising non-performing financing.

Finnvera has in place processes for the enforcement and collection of non-performing financing similar to the common practises of financial institutions in Finland. Finnvera initially strives to agree with the customer on a revised payment schedule to handle overdue payments. If this does not lead to a satisfactory result, Finnvera will initiate a legal collection process to recover its receivable. Customers with non-performing financing, the total amount of non-performing financing, and the outcome of collection assignments are regularly monitored. Customers with non-performing financing are put under special observation and a team of specialists are available to assist in taking required legal measures.

## Competition

Finnvera's objective, as a state owned specialised financing company, is to supplement the financial services offered by the private sector, and therefore it does not compete with the private sector.

# Management

The Ministry of Economic Affairs and Employment supervises and monitors Finnvera's operations. Being responsible for the ownership and industrial policy steering of Finnvera, the Enterprise and Innovation Department of the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Employment sets industrial and ownership policy goals for Finnvera. Finnvera is governed by the board of directors (the "Board of Directors") with oversight from the supervisory board (the "Supervisory Board"). The day-to-day management is conducted by the management group (the "Management Group"). The Management Group is enlarged when determining matters relating to personnel issues (such an enlarged group is referred to as the "Corporate Management Team").

# General meeting of shareholders

The general meeting of shareholders elects the members of the Supervisory Board and the Board of Directors, the chairs and vice chairs of both bodies, and appoints and approves the appointment of the auditors for a term of one year at a time. The annual general meeting of shareholders is held annually, usually by the end of June.

# Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board supervises Finnvera's administration. It gives the annual general meeting its opinion on the financial statements and the auditors' report, and counsels on issues that concern considerable reduction or expansion of Finnvera's operations or substantial reorganisation of Finnvera. In addition, the Supervisory Board advises the Board of Directors on matters that have far-reaching consequences or are otherwise important as questions of principle. Finnvera has a Supervisory Board consisting of at least eight and at most eighteen members. The general meeting of shareholders elects the members of the Supervisory Board for a term of one year.

As at the date of this Offering Circular, the Supervisory Board consists of the following members:

Name	Party/Institution Represented	Position
Sofia Vikman	National Coalition Party	Member of Parliament
Seppo Eskelinen	Finnish Social Democratic Party	Member of Parliament
Hilkka Kemppi	Finnish Centre Party	Member of Parliament
Hanna-Maija Kiviranta	The Finnish Business School Graduates	Vice Chair
Mari Laaksonen	Federation of Finnish Enterprises	Chair of the Council
Rami Lehtinen	Finns Party	Member of Parliament
Aki Lindén	Finnish Social Democratic Party	Member of Parliament
Kari Luoto	Finnish Grocery Trade Association	Managing Director
Veli-Matti Mattila	Finance Finland FFI	Director, Chief Economist
Seppo Nevalainen	Finnish Confederation of Professionals STTK	Economist
Onni Rostila	Finns Party	Member of Parliament
Johanna Reinikainen	Finnvera	Regional Manager
Hanna Sarkkinen	Left Alliance	Member of Parliament
Katja Syvärinen	The Central Organisation of Finnish Trade Unions	Director
•	SAK	
Mari-Leena Talvitie	National Coalition Party	Member of Parliament
Tommi Toivola	Confederation of Finnish Industries	Director
Sofia Virta	Greens	Member of Parliament
Ville Väyrynen	National Coalition Party	Member of Parliament

## **Board of Directors**

The Board of Directors is responsible for the administration of Finnvera and for the proper organisation of activities and approves Finnvera's strategy and annual plans, the half-yearly reports and the financial statements, as well as the risk management principles.

The Board of Directors advances Finnvera's development and ensures that the operations conform to law and meet the goals set by the owner. The Board of Directors ensures the supervision of accounting, asset and liability management and approves other matters of principle. The Board of Directors also decides important individual cases of financing.

The Board of Directors steers and supervises Finnvera's executive management and ensures the functioning of the management system. The Board of Directors decides on the appointment and dismissal of Finnvera's Chief Executive Officer (the "CEO"), the CEO's Deputy, and other members of Finnvera's senior management, and on their salaries and other remuneration. The Board of Directors has appointed the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee from among its members to assist the Board of Directors in managing its tasks.

Finnvera's Board of Directors consists of a minimum of six members and a maximum of nine members. At the annual general meeting members are elected for a term of one year at a time. One Board member is elected among candidates named by the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Employment and one among candidates named by the Ministry of Finance.

As at the date of this Offering Circular, the Board of Directors consists of the following members:

Name	Position	
Jan Vapaavuori	Chairman	
Jan Hjelt	First Vice Chairman	
Mikko Spolander	Second Vice Chairman	
Hannu Jaatinen	Member	
Eila Kreivi	Member	
Anne Nurminen	Member	
Elina Piispanen	Member	
Pia Santavirta	Member	

# Audit Committee of the Board of Directors

The Audit Committee assists Finnvera's Board of Directors in ensuring that Finnvera's accounting, supervision of assets and liability management are arranged appropriately and that internal control, risk management, auditing of the accounts and internal auditing have been organised in accordance with laws, regulations and the operating principles confirmed by the Board of Directors.

The Audit Committee has at least three members. The Board of Directors selects the Audit Committee's members and chairman from among the Board of Directors members, for a term of one year at a time.

# Remuneration Committee of the Board of Directors

The Remuneration Committee assists Finnvera's Board of Directors in managing issues pertaining to the appointment, terms of employment and salaries of senior executives, and the rewards and incentive systems applied to the management and personnel.

The committee has at least three members. The Board of Directors selects the Remuneration Committee's members and chairman from among the Board of Director members, for a term of one year at a time.

### Chief Executive Officer, Management Group and Corporate Management Team

The CEO is responsible for Finnvera's operational administration in keeping with the guidelines and regulations issued by the Board of Directors. In management of the tasks specified in the Limited Liability Companies Act, the CEO is assisted by the Management Group and the Corporate Management Team.

Juuso Heinilä (M.Sc. (Tech.), M.Sc. (Econ.) has served as the Chief Executive Officer of Finnvera plc since 2024.

The Management Group discusses issues relating to strategy, operational policies and client work as well as ownership steering.

The Corporate Management Team discusses matters that have a major impact on the Finnvera Group's personnel. In addition to the members of the Management Group, the Corporate Management Team includes the Regional Director of Eastern Finland and representatives of the personnel organisations.

As at the date of this Offering Circular, the Management Group and the Corporate Management Team consists of the members listed below:

Name	Position	Year of Appointment		
Members of the Management Group and the Corporate Management Team				
Juuso Heinilä	CEO, Chairman	2024		
Jussi Haarasilta	Executive Vice President, Large Corporates	2015		
Ulla Hagman	Senior Vice President, Finance and Treasury	2007		
Risto Huopaniemi	Senior Vice President, Legal Affairs and Administration	2009		
Tapio Jordan	Group Chief Credit Officer	2019		
Minna Kaarto	Development director, (CDO, Chief Digitalisation Officer)	2019		
Juha Ketola	Deputy Executive Vice President, SMEs	2024		
Tina Schumacher	Chief Risk Officer, Risk Control	2019		
Tarja Svartström	Senior Vice President, Corporate Communications and HR	2011		
Members of the Corporate	Management Team only			
Mikko Vänttinen	Regional Director, Eastern Finland	2018		
Arja Parkkinen	Development Specialist	2019		
Heikki Lähdesmäki	Finance Manager	2006		

## Finnvera's portfolio with respect to financial services offered by Finnvera Group

Finnvera uses an internal rating system to assess credit risk exposure.

Finnvera uses rating categories in its internal rating system which, as at the date of this Offering Circular, are identical to the S&P/Moody's rating categories as set out below. However, the rating methodologies used by Finnvera are internal methodologies and hence differ from the rating agencies' methodologies. The estimates set out below are only indicative and may not correspond accurately.

S&P	Moody's	Finnvera	
AAA	Aaa	AAA	
AA+	Aal	AA+	
AA	Aa2	AA	
AA-	Aa3	AA-	
A+	A1	$\mathbf{A}$ +	
A	A2	A	
A-	A3	A-	

S&P	Moody's	Finnvera	
BBB+	Baa1	BBB+	
BBB	Baa2	BBB	
BBB-	Baa3	BBB-	Investment Grade
BB+	Ba1	BB+	
BB	Ba2	BB	
BB-	Ba3	BB-	
B+	B1	$\mathbf{B}$ +	
В	B2	В	
B-	В3	B-	
CCC+/CCC/CCC-	Caa1/Caa2/Caa3	CCC+/CCC/CCC-	
D	D	D	

## Export Credit Guarantees, Corporate and Bank Exposure

The following table shows the breakdown of export credit guarantee exposure, according to Finnvera's internal rating system as at 31 December 2023:

_	As at 31 December 2023	
Rating	€ million	%
AAA	0.59	0.0
AA+	85.97	0.4
AA	722.26	3.1
AA	252.98	1.1
A+	468.23	2.0
A	78.29	0.3
A	77.17	0.3
BBB+	994.82	4.3
BBB	1,692.40	7.3
BBB	2,957.64	12.7
BB+	1,455.58	6.3
BB	385.06	1.7
BB	5,050.67	21.8
B+	4,653.77	20.0
В	984.62	4.2
B	140.65	0.6
CCC+	184.11	0.8
CCC	2,762.12	11.9
CCC	139.27	0.6
D	72.98	0.3
no classification (including sovereign risks)	51.84	0.2
Total	23,211.02	100.0

The amount of non-performing exposure in export financing stood at €178.2 million at the end of 2023. Non-performing exposure accounted for 0.8 per cent. of total exposure for the same period. This was a 0.7 percentage point increase compared to the amount of non-performing exposure at the end of 2022 (0.1 per cent.).

# SME and Midcap Financing, Loans and Guarantees

The following table shows the breakdown of non-impaired receivables from customers and guarantees exposure to SMEs and Midcaps according to Finnvera's internal rating system as at 31 December 2023:

	As at 31 December 2023	
Rating	€ million	%
AAA		
	0.0	0.0
AA+	0.10	0.0
AA	0.13	0.0
AA	0.41	0.0
A+	3.25	0.1
A	3.77	0.2
A	10.48	0.4
BBB+	29.11	1.2

_	As at 51 December 2025	
Rating _	€ million	%
BBB	32.00	1.3
BBB	53.26	2.2
BB+	212.59	9.0
BB	292.25	12.3
BB	286.05	12.0
B+	479.63	20.2
В	257.51	10.8
B	242.38	10.2
CCC+	151.82	6.4
CCC	148.00	6.2
CCC	29.92	1.3
D	142.42	6.0
<del>-</del>		
Total	2,375.07	100.0

As at 31 December 2023

The amount of non-performing exposure in SME and Midcap financing stood at €157 million at the end of 2023. This was a 0.6 percentage point increase compared to the amount of non-performing exposure at the end of 2022 (6.0 per cent.). The ratio of non-performing exposure to total exposure was 6.6 per cent. for the same period.

## **Funding**

The Finnvera Group funds its operations primarily by issuing senior debt under this Programme. Finnvera seeks to fund itself in such a way that no significant funding deficit is created in the long term and that the need for refinancing in future years is distributed fairly evenly. Finnvera also seeks to ensure a large investor base and to diversify its funding geographically and by investor type. Finnvera also has a small amount of subordinated debt to the State.

# Risk management

Risk management is an integral part of Finnvera's internal control. Finnvera's Board of Directors approves the principles of the Finnvera Group's risk management and risk appetite and adopts all key risk policies, including the credit policy, market and liquidity risk policy, asset management policy and operational risk management policy. In keeping with Finnvera's internal control and the "three lines of defence" model, the business units and support functions bear the primary responsibility for internal control and risk management.

The principal risk for Finnvera's operations is credit risk, which may be realised if the party that has received a loan or a guarantee cannot fully meet its obligations, potentially causing credit losses. Risk identification and monitoring are based on the internal risk classification systems and credit analyses used in assessing the creditworthiness of the risk object in connection with financing projects and, in case of a significant exposure, regularly each year.

Liquidity risk is the situation in which an enterprise does not have sufficient funds to meet its required payment obligations at that moment. The sufficiency of liquidity is assessed and measured with stressed scenarios over 1-month and 12-month periods, also over longer periods within the company's ILAAP (internal liquidity adequacy assessment process). Finnvera has a contingency plan that describes funding in exceptional circumstances and the related decision-making process.

Market risk is the possibility of losses due to market parameter fluctuations. Market risks that are critical for Finnvera are interest rate, currency, and funding cost risks. Risks are identified and monitored using risk indicators when assessing the impact of market price changes on Finnvera's profit and loss statement and balance sheet. In addition, the credit risk associated with investments and derivative counterparties is measured through different risk indicators, including using minimum rating targets for counterparties.

Operational risks are the risk of losses caused by inadequately or incorrectly functioning internal processes, personnel and information systems, as well as legal and compliance risks, reputation risk and information security and data protection risks. Operational risk management is closely linked with the development of the quality of Finnvera's operations, the processes that guide operations and the operational system.

The identification, assessment and reporting of risks and the development of controls ensure that the consequences of risk realisation are not very significant financially and do not result in loss of reputation. Operational risks pertaining to financial reporting are identified, assessed and controlled as part of operational risk management.

## **Risk Control function**

The purpose of the Risk Control function as part of the second line of defence is, independently of business and support units, to monitor and evaluate risk management in the Finnvera Group and to assess the Finnvera Group's risk position in relation to the risk appetite decided by the Board of Directors and set out in the strategy. Risk Control reports to Finnvera's Management Group, the Board of Directors' risk committee and the Board of Directors.

Risk Control ensures that Finnvera has an adequate and appropriate risk control system through which Finnvera's material risks are identified, assessed, measured, controlled, managed and reported.

## **Compliance function**

Finnvera's Compliance function ensures that Finnvera operates in accordance with key regulations and internal operating principles. Compliance is a second line of defence function independent of business and support units, which regularly reports on its observations to Finnvera's Management Group, the Board's Risk Committee and the Board of Directors.

#### Internal audit

Internal auditing supports Finnvera and its executive management in meeting goals by providing a systematic approach to evaluating and developing the functioning and efficiency of the organisation's risk management, control, and managerial and governance processes. Internal auditing consists of independent and objective assessment, assurance and consulting activities, aimed at the creation of added value for Finnvera and the enhancement of its operations.

Finnvera's internal auditing is a third line of defence, which functions independently of its business and support units, that audits the sufficiency and efficiency of the internal control system, risk management and administration and management processes. The Board of Directors approves the action plan and guidelines for internal auditing annually. Internal auditing reports regularly on audit results and observations to the Management Group, the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors and the Board. International professional standards and ethical rules of the field are complied with in auditing.

# Litigation

There are no governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings, (including any such proceedings which are pending or threatened, of which the Issuer is aware), which may have, or have had during the 12 months prior to the date of this Offering Circular, a significant effect on the financial position or profitability of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries.

## **Selected Financial Information**

The audited financial statements and other financial statements or reports of the Issuer incorporated by reference in this Offering Circular from time to time (see "Documents Incorporated by Reference") are available on the Issuer's website at https://www.finnvera.fi/eng/finnvera.

#### **TAXATION**

The following is a general description of certain tax considerations relating to the Notes. It does not purport to be a complete analysis of all tax considerations relating to the Notes, whether in those countries or elsewhere. Prospective purchasers of Notes should consult their own tax advisers as to which countries' tax laws could be relevant to acquiring, holding and disposing of Notes and receiving payments of interest, principal and/or other amounts under the Notes and the consequences of such actions under the tax laws of those countries. This summary is based upon the law as in effect on the date of this Offering Circular and is subject to any change in law that may take effect after such date.

## Republic of Finland

Interest on the Notes is currently exempt from income taxes in the Republic of Finland, including withholding tax, if paid to an individual who is not a resident of the Republic of Finland, or to a corporation organised under the laws of a country other than the Republic of Finland, unless the individual or corporation has an office or other fixed place of business in the Republic of Finland to which the interest is attributable. Gain on the sale or disposition of the Notes by a non-resident of the Republic of Finland outside of the Republic of Finland will not be subject to tax in the Republic of Finland, unless such gain is related to a fixed place of business in the Republic of Finland.

Under existing Finnish law, there is a withholding tax in respect of any payment of interest on the Notes to any Noteholder or Couponholder who is a natural person or a deceased estate and is generally liable to tax on income in the Republic of Finland.

#### United States Federal Income Taxation

The following summary discusses the principal U.S. federal income tax consequences of the acquisition, ownership and disposition of the Notes. Except as specifically noted below, this discussion applies only to:

- Notes purchased on original issuance at their issue price (as defined below);
- Notes held as capital assets; and
- U.S. Holders (as defined below).

This discussion does not describe all of the tax consequences that may be relevant in light of a Noteholder's particular circumstances or to Noteholders subject to special rules, such as:

- financial institutions;
- insurance companies;
- dealers in securities or foreign currencies;
- persons holding Notes as part of a hedging transaction, straddle, conversion transaction or other integrated transaction;
- U.S. Holders whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar;
- persons required for U.S. federal income tax purposes to accelerate the recognition of any item of
  gross income with respect to the Notes as a result of such income being recognised on an applicable
  financial statement;
- partnerships or other entities or arrangements classified as partnerships for U.S. federal income tax purposes; or
- former citizens and residents of the United States.

This summary is based on the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended to the date hereof (the "Code"), administrative pronouncements, judicial decisions and final, temporary and proposed U.S. Treasury Regulations all as of the date of this Offering Circular and any of which may at any time be repealed,

revised or subject to differing interpretation, possibly retroactively so as to result in U.S. federal income tax consequences different from those described below. Persons considering the purchase of the Notes should consult the relevant Pricing Supplement for any additional discussion regarding U.S. federal income taxation and should consult their tax advisors with regard to the application of the U.S. federal income tax laws to their particular situations as well as any tax consequences arising under the laws of any U.S. state, local or non-U.S. taxing jurisdiction.

This summary does not discuss Notes with a maturity of greater than 30 years, the impact of redenomination of a Note, Notes that by their terms may be retired for an amount less than their principal amount and Notes subject to special rules. The tax treatment of certain Notes such as, for example, Index-Linked Notes or Dual Currency Notes, may be specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement. Moreover, this summary does not discuss Bearer Notes. In general, U.S. federal income tax law imposes significant limitations on U.S. Holders of Bearer Notes. U.S. Holders should consult their tax advisors regarding the restrictions and penalties imposed under U.S. federal income tax law with respect to Bearer Notes and any other tax consequences with respect to the acquisition, ownership and disposition of any of these Notes.

As used herein, the term "U.S. Holder" means a beneficial owner of a Note that is for U.S. federal income tax purposes:

- a citizen or individual resident of the United States;
- a corporation created or organised in or under the laws of the United States or of any state thereof
  or the District of Columbia;
- an estate the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income taxation regardless of its source; or
- a trust if a court within the United States is able to exercise primary supervision over the administration of the trust and one or more U.S. persons have the authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust.

If an entity or an arrangement that is classified as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes holds Notes, the U.S. federal income tax treatment of a partner in such partnership will generally depend on the status of the partner and upon the activities of the partnership. Partners of partnerships holding Notes should consult with their tax advisors regarding the U.S. federal tax consequences of an investment in the Notes.

## Payments of Stated Interest

Interest paid on a Note will be taxable to a U.S. Holder as ordinary interest income at the time it accrues or is received in accordance with the U.S. Holder's method of accounting for U.S. federal income tax purposes, provided that the interest is "qualified stated interest" (as defined below). Interest income earned by a U.S. Holder with respect to a Note will constitute foreign source income for U.S. federal income tax purposes, which may be relevant in calculating the U.S. Holder's foreign tax credit limitation. The rules regarding foreign tax credits are complex and prospective investors should consult their tax advisors about the application of such rules to them in their particular circumstances. Special rules governing the treatment of interest paid with respect to original issue discount notes and foreign currency notes are described under "—Original Issue Discount," "—Contingent Payment Debt Instruments," and "—Foreign Currency Notes."

## Pre-Issuance Accrued Interest

If a portion of the price paid for a Note is allocable to interest that accrued prior to the date the *Note* is issued ("pre-issuance accrued interest"), the Issuer intends to take the position that, on the first interest payment date, a portion of the interest received in an amount equal to any pre-issuance accrued interest will be treated as a return of the pre-issuance accrued interest and not as a payment of interest on the *Note*. Amounts treated as a return of pre-issuance accrued interest should not be taxable when received. The remainder of this discussion does not address the treatment of pre-issuance accrued interest and assumes that in determining the issue price of a Note and the amount paid for a Note, there will be excluded an amount equal to the pre-issuance accrued interest. U.S. Holders should consult their tax advisers with regard to the tax treatment of the pre-issuance accrued interest on a Note.

#### Original Issue Discount

A Note that has an "issue price" that is less than its "stated redemption price at maturity" will be considered to have been issued with original issue discount for U.S. federal income tax purposes (and will be referred to as an "original issue discount Note") unless the Note satisfies a *de minimis* threshold (as described below) or is a short-term Note (as defined below). The "issue price" of a Note generally will be the first price at which a substantial amount of the Notes is sold to the public (which does not include sales to bond houses, brokers or similar persons or organisations acting in the capacity of underwriters, placement agents or wholesalers), excluding pre-issuance accrued interest (as discussed in "—*Pre-Issuance Accrued Interest*" above). The "stated redemption price at maturity" of a Note generally will equal the sum of all payments required to be made under the Note other than payments of "qualified stated interest." "Qualified stated interest" is stated interest unconditionally payable (other than in debt instruments of the Issuer) at least annually during the entire term of the Note at a single fixed rate of interest, at a single qualified floating rate of interest or at a rate that is determined at a single fixed formula that is based on objective financial or economic information. A rate is a qualified floating rate if variations in the rate can reasonably be expected to measure contemporaneous fluctuations in the cost of newly borrowed funds in the currency in which the Note is denominated.

If the difference between a Note's stated redemption price at maturity and its issue price is less than a *de minimis* amount, i.e.,  $\frac{1}{4}$  of 1 per cent. of the stated redemption price at maturity multiplied by the number of complete years to maturity (or weighted average maturity if any amount included in the stated redemption price at maturity is payable before maturity), the Note will not be considered to have original issue discount. U.S. Holders of the Notes with a *de minimis* amount of original issue discount will include this original issue discount in income, as capital gain, on a *pro rata* basis as principal payments are made on the Note.

U.S. Holders of original issue discount Notes that mature more than one year from their date of issuance will be required to include original issue discount in income for U.S. federal income tax purposes as it accrues in accordance with a constant yield method based on a compounding of interest, regardless of whether cash attributable to this income is received. Under these rules, U.S. Holders generally will have to include in taxable income, increasingly greater amounts of original issue discount in successive accrual periods.

A U.S. Holder may make an election to include in gross income all interest that accrues on any particular Note (including stated interest, acquisition discount, original issue discount, *de minimis* original issue discount, market discount, *de minimis* market discount and unstated interest, as adjusted by any amortisable bond premium or acquisition premium) in accordance with a constant yield method based on the compounding of interest, and generally may revoke such election only with the permission of the U.S. Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") (a "constant yield election"). If a U.S. Holder makes a constant yield election with respect to a Note with market discount (discussed below), the U.S. Holder will be treated as having made an election to include market discount in income currently over the life of all debt instruments with market discount acquired by the electing U.S. Holder on or after the first day of the first taxable year to which such election applies. U.S. Holders should consult their tax advisors about making this election in light of their particular circumstances.

A Note that matures one year or less from its date of issuance (a "short-term Note") will be treated as being issued at a discount and none of the interest paid on the Note will be treated as qualified stated interest regardless of issue price. In general, a cash method U.S. Holder of a short-term Note is not required to accrue the discount for U.S. federal income tax purposes unless it elects to do so. Cash method U.S. Holders who do not elect to accrue the discount should include stated interest payments on short-term Notes as ordinary income upon receipt. Cash method U.S. Holders who do elect to accrue the discount and certain other U.S. Holders, including those who report income on the accrual method of accounting for U.S. federal income tax purposes, are required to include the discount in income as it accrues on a straight-line basis, unless another election is made to accrue the discount according to a constant yield method based on daily compounding. In the case of a U.S. Holder who is not required and who does not elect to include the discount in income currently, any gain realised on the sale, exchange, or retirement of the short-term Note will be ordinary income to the extent of the discount accrued on a straight-line basis (or, if elected, according to a constant yield method based on daily compounding) through the date of sale, exchange or retirement. In addition, those U.S. Holders will be required to defer deductions for any interest paid on indebtedness incurred to purchase or carry short-term Notes in an amount not exceeding the accrued discount until the accrued discount is included in income.

The Issuer may have an unconditional option to redeem, or U.S. Holders may have an unconditional option to require the Issuer to redeem, a Note prior to its stated maturity date. Under applicable regulations, if the Issuer has an unconditional option to redeem a Note prior to its stated maturity date, this option will be presumed to be exercised if, by utilising any date on which the Note may be redeemed as the maturity date and the amount payable on that date in accordance with the terms of the Note as the stated redemption price at maturity, the yield on the Note would be lower than its yield to maturity. If the U.S. Holders have an unconditional option to require the Issuer to redeem a Note prior to its stated maturity date, this option will be presumed to be exercised if making the same assumptions as those set forth in the previous sentence, the yield on the Note would be higher than its yield to maturity. If it was presumed that an option would be exercised but it is not in fact exercised, the Note would be treated solely for purposes of calculating original issue discount as if it were redeemed, and a new Note were issued, on the presumed exercise date for an amount equal to the Note's adjusted issue price on that date. The adjusted issue price of an original issue discount Note is defined as the sum of the issue price of the Note and the aggregate amount of previously accrued original issue discount, less any prior payments other than payments of qualified stated interest.

#### Market Discount

If a U.S. Holder purchases a Note (other than a short-term Note) for an amount that is less than its stated redemption price at maturity or, in the case of an original issue discount Note, its adjusted issue price, the amount of the difference will be treated as market discount for U.S. federal income tax purposes, unless this difference is less than a specified *de minimis* amount.

A U.S. Holder will be required to treat any principal payment (or, in the case of an original issue discount Note, any payment that does not constitute qualified stated interest) on, or any gain on the sale, exchange, retirement or other disposition of a Note, including disposition in certain nonrecognition transactions, as ordinary income to the extent of the market discount accrued on the Note at the time of the payment or disposition unless this market discount has been previously included in income by the U.S. Holder pursuant to an election by the U.S. Holder to include market discount in income as it accrues. An election to include market discount in income as it accrues applies to all debt instruments with market discount acquired by the electing U.S. Holder on or after the first day of the first taxable year to which such election applies and may not be revoked without the consent of the IRS. In addition, a U.S. Holder that does not elect to include market discount in income currently may be required to defer, until the maturity of the Note or its earlier disposition (including certain nontaxable transactions), the deduction of all or a portion of the interest expense on any indebtedness incurred or maintained to purchase or carry such Note.

Market discount will accrue on a straight line basis unless a U.S. Holder makes an election with respect to a particular note to accrue on a constant yield basis or makes a constant yield election (as described under "—Original Issue Discount"). Such election will result in a deemed election for all market discount bonds acquired by the U.S. Holder on or after the first day of the first taxable year to which such election applies.

## Acquisition Premium and Amortisable Bond Premium

A U.S. Holder who purchases a Note for an amount that is greater than the Note's adjusted issue price but less than or equal to sum of all amounts payable on the Note after the purchase date other than payments of qualified stated interest will be considered to have purchased the Note at an acquisition premium. Under the acquisition premium rules, the amount of original issue discount that the U.S. Holder must include in its gross income with respect to the Note for any taxable year will be reduced by the portion of acquisition premium properly allocable to that year.

If a U.S. Holder purchases a Note for an amount that is greater than the stated redemption price at maturity, the U.S. Holder will be considered to have purchased the Note with amortisable bond premium equal in amount to the excess of the purchase price over the amount payable at maturity. The U.S. Holder may elect to amortise this premium, using a constant yield method, over the remaining term of the Note. A U.S. Holder who elects to amortise bond premium must reduce its tax basis in the Note by the amount of the premium amortised in any year. An election to amortise bond premium applies to all taxable debt obligations then owned and thereafter acquired by the U.S. Holder and may be revoked only with the consent of the IRS.

If a U.S. Holder makes a constant yield election (as described under "—Original Issue Discount") for a Note with amortisable bond premium, such election will result in a deemed election to amortise bond premium for all of the U.S. Holder's debt instruments with amortisable bond premium.

#### Sale, Exchange or Retirement of the Notes

Upon the sale, exchange or retirement of a Note, a U.S. Holder will recognise taxable gain or loss equal to the difference between the amount realised on the sale, exchange or retirement and the Noteholder's adjusted tax basis in the Note. A U.S. Holder's adjusted tax basis in a Note generally will equal the acquisition cost of the Note increased by the amount of original issue discount and market discount included in the Holder's gross income and decreased by any bond premium or acquisition premium previously amortised and by the amount of any payment received from the Issuer other than a payment of qualified stated interest. Gain or loss, if any, will generally be U.S. source income for purposes of computing a U.S. Holder's foreign tax credit limitation. For these purposes, the amount realised does not include any amount attributable to accrued but unpaid qualified stated interest on the Note. Amounts attributable to accrued but unpaid qualified stated interest as described under "—Payments of Stated Interest."

Gain or loss realised on the sale, exchange or retirement of a Note will generally be capital gain or loss and will be long-term capital gain or loss if at the time of sale, exchange or retirement the U.S. Holder has held the Note for more than one year. Exceptions to this general rule apply to the extent of any accrued market discount or, in the case of a short-term Note, to the extent of any accrued discount not previously included in the U.S. Holder's taxable income. See "—Original Issue Discount" and "—Market Discount." In addition, other exceptions to this general rule apply in the case of foreign currency Notes, and contingent payment debt instruments. See "—Foreign Currency Notes" and "—Contingent Payment Debt Instruments." The deductibility of capital losses is subject to limitations.

## Contingent Payment Debt Instruments

If the terms of the Notes provide for certain contingencies that affect the timing and amount of payments (including Notes with a variable rate or rates that do not qualify as "variable rate debt instruments" for purposes of the original issue discount rules) they generally will be "contingent payment debt instruments" for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Under the rules that govern the treatment of contingent payment debt instruments, no payment on such Notes qualifies as qualified stated interest. Rather, a U.S. Holder must account for interest for U.S. federal income tax purposes based on a "comparable yield" and the differences between actual payments on the Note and the Note's "projected payment schedule" as described below. The comparable yield is determined by us at the time of issuance of the Notes. The comparable yield may be greater than or less than the stated interest, if any, with respect to the Notes. Solely for the purpose of determining the amount of interest income that a U.S. Holder will be required to accrue on a contingent payment debt instrument, the Issuer will be required to construct a "projected payment schedule" that represents a series of payments the amount and timing of which would produce a yield to maturity on the contingent payment debt instrument equal to the comparable yield.

# Neither the comparable yield nor the projected payment schedule constitutes a representation by the Issuer regarding the actual amount, if any, that the contingent payment debt instrument will pay.

For U.S. federal income tax purposes, a U.S. Holder will be required to use the comparable yield and the projected payment schedule established by the Issuer in determining interest accruals and adjustments, unless the U.S. Holder timely discloses and justifies the use of a different comparable yield and projected payment schedule to the IRS.

A U.S. Holder, regardless of the U.S. Holder's method of accounting for U.S. federal income tax purposes, will be required to accrue interest income on a contingent payment debt instrument at the comparable yield, adjusted upward or downward to reflect the difference, if any, between the actual and the projected amount of any contingent payments on the contingent payment instrument (as set forth below).

A U.S. Holder will be required to recognise interest income equal to the amount of any net positive adjustment, i.e., the excess of actual payments over projected payments, in respect of a contingent payment debt instrument for a taxable year. A net negative adjustment, i.e., the excess of projected payments over actual payments, in respect of a contingent payment debt instrument for a taxable year:

• will first reduce the amount of interest in respect of the contingent payment debt instrument that a U.S. Holder would otherwise be required to include in income in the taxable year; and

- to the extent of any excess, will give rise to an ordinary loss equal to so much of this excess as does not exceed the excess of:
  - the amount of all previous interest inclusions under the contingent payment debt instrument over
  - the total amount of the U.S. Holder's net negative adjustments treated as ordinary loss on the contingent payment debt instrument in prior taxable years.

A net negative adjustment will not be subject to the two per cent. floor limitation imposed on miscellaneous deductions when miscellaneous deductions become available to individual U.S. Holders for tax years beginning on or after 1 January 2026. Any net negative adjustment in excess of the amounts described above will be carried forward to offset future interest income in respect of the contingent payment debt instrument or to reduce the amount realised on a sale, exchange or retirement of the contingent payment debt instrument. Where a U.S. Holder purchases a contingent payment debt instrument for a price other than its adjusted issue price, the difference between the purchase price and the adjusted issue price must be reasonably allocated to the daily portions of interest or projected payments with respect to the contingent payment debt instrument over its remaining term and treated as a positive or negative adjustment, as the case may be, with respect to each period to which it is allocated.

Upon a sale, exchange or retirement of a contingent payment debt instrument, a U.S. Holder generally will recognise taxable gain or loss equal to the difference between the amount realised on the sale, exchange or retirement and the U.S. Holder's adjusted basis in the contingent payment debt instrument. A U.S. Holder's adjusted basis in a Note that is a contingent payment debt instrument generally will be the acquisition cost of the Note, increased by the interest previously accrued by the U.S. Holder on the Note under these rules, disregarding any net positive and net negative adjustments, and decreased by the amount of any noncontingent payments and the projected amount of any contingent payments previously made on the Note. A U.S. Holder generally will treat any gain as interest income, and any loss as ordinary loss to the extent of the excess of previous interest inclusions in excess of the total net negative adjustments previously taken into account as ordinary losses, and the balance as capital loss. The deductibility of capital losses is subject to limitations. In addition, if a U.S. Holder recognises loss above certain thresholds, the U.S. Holder may be required to file a disclosure statement with the IRS (as described under "—Reportable Transactions").

A U.S. Holder will have a tax basis in any property, other than cash, received upon the retirement of a contingent payment debt instrument equal to the fair market value of the property, determined at the time of retirement. The U.S. Holder's holding period for the property will commence on the day immediately following its receipt. Special rules apply to contingent payment debt instruments that are denominated, or provide for payments, in a currency other than the U.S. dollar ("Foreign Currency Contingent Payment Debt Instruments"). Very generally, these instruments are accounted for like a contingent payment debt instrument, as described above, but in the currency of the Foreign Currency Contingent Payment Debt Instruments. The relevant amounts must then be translated into U.S. dollars. The rules applicable to Foreign Currency Contingent Payment Debt Instruments are complex and U.S. Holders are urged to consult their own tax advisors regarding the U.S. federal income tax consequences of the acquisition, ownership and disposition of such instruments.

# Foreign Currency Notes

The following discussion summarizes the principal U.S. federal income tax consequences to a U.S. Holder of the ownership and disposition of the Notes that are denominated in a specified currency other than the U.S. dollar or the payments of interest or principal on which are determined by reference to a currency other than the U.S. dollar ("foreign currency Notes").

The rules applicable to foreign currency Notes could require some or all gain or loss on the sale, exchange or other disposition of a foreign currency Note to be recharacterised as ordinary income or loss. The rules applicable to foreign currency Notes are complex and may depend on the U.S. Holder's particular U.S. federal income tax situation. For example, various elections are available under these rules, and whether a U.S. Holder should make any of these elections may depend on the U.S. Holder's particular U.S. federal income tax situation. U.S. Holders are urged to consult their tax advisors regarding the U.S. federal income tax consequences of the ownership and disposition of foreign currency Notes.

A U.S. Holder who uses the cash method of accounting and who receives a payment of qualified stated interest in a foreign currency with respect to a foreign currency Note will be required to include in income the U.S. dollar value of the foreign currency payment (determined on the date the payment is received) regardless of whether the payment is in fact converted to U.S. dollars at the time, and this U.S. dollar value will be the U.S. Holder's tax basis in the foreign currency.

An accrual method U.S. Holder will be required to include in income the U.S. dollar value of the amount of interest income (including original issue discount or market discount, but reduced by acquisition premium and amortisable bond premium, to the extent applicable) that has accrued and is otherwise required to be taken into account with respect to a foreign currency Note during an accrual period. An accrual method U.S. Holder may determine the amount of income recognised with respect to an interest payment in a foreign currency in accordance with either of two methods. Under the first method, the U.S. dollar value of the accrued income will be determined by translating the income at the average rate of exchange for the accrual period or, with respect to an accrual period that spans two taxable years, at the average rate for the partial period within the taxable year. Under the second method, the U.S. Holder (and cash method U.S. Holder accruing original issue discount) may elect to translate interest income (including original issue discount) into U.S. dollars at the spot rate on the last day in the interest accrual period (or, in the case of a partial accrual period, the spot rate on the last day of the partial accrual period in the taxable year) or, if the date of receipt is within five business days of the last day of the interest accrual period, the spot rate on the date of receipt. A U.S. Holder that makes this election must apply it consistently to all debt instruments from year to year and cannot change the election without the consent of the IRS. The U.S. Holder will recognise ordinary income or loss with respect to accrued interest income on the date the income is actually received. The amount of ordinary income or loss recognised will equal the difference between the U.S. dollar value of the foreign currency payment received (determined on the date the payment is received) in respect of the accrual period and the U.S. dollar value of interest income that has accrued during the accrual period (as determined above). Rules similar to these rules apply in the case of a cash method taxpayer required to currently accrue original issue discount or market discount.

Original issue discount, market discount, acquisition premium and amortisable bond premium on a foreign currency Note are to be determined in the relevant foreign currency. Where the taxpayer elects to include market discount in income currently, the amount of market discount will be determined for any accrual period in the relevant foreign currency and then translated into U.S. dollars on the basis of the average rate in effect during the accrual period. Exchange gain or loss realised with respect to such accrued market discount shall be determined in accordance with the rules relating to accrued interest described above. Accrued market discount (other than market discount currently included in income) taken into account upon the receipt of any partial principal payment or upon the sale, retirement or other disposition of a Note is translated into U.S. dollars at the spot rate on such payment or disposition date.

If an election to amortise bond premium is made, amortisable bond premium taken into account on a current basis shall reduce interest income in units of the relevant foreign currency. Exchange gain or loss is realised on amortised bond premium with respect to any period by treating the bond premium amortised in the period in the same manner as payments on the sale, exchange or retirement of the foreign currency Note, as described below. Any exchange gain or loss will be ordinary income or loss as described below. If the election is not made, any loss realised on the sale, exchange or retirement of a foreign currency Note with amortisable bond premium by a U.S. Holder who has not elected to amortise the premium will be a capital loss to the extent of the bond premium.

A U.S. Holder's tax basis in a foreign currency Note, and the amount of any subsequent adjustment to the U.S. Holder's tax basis, will be the U.S. dollar value amount of the foreign currency amount paid for such foreign currency Note, or of the foreign currency amount of the adjustment, determined on the date of the purchase or adjustment. A U.S. Holder who purchases a foreign currency Note with previously owned foreign currency will recognise ordinary income or loss in an amount equal to the difference, if any, between such U.S. Holder's tax basis in the foreign currency and the U.S. dollar fair market value of the foreign currency Note on the date of purchase.

Gain or loss realised upon the sale, exchange or retirement of a foreign currency Note that is attributable to fluctuation in currency exchange rates will be ordinary income or loss that will not be treated as interest income or expense. Gain or loss attributable to fluctuations in exchange rates will equal the difference between (i) the U.S. dollar value of the foreign currency principal amount of the Note, determined on the date the payment is received or the Note is disposed of, and (ii) the U.S. dollar value of the foreign currency principal amount of the Note, determined on the date the U.S. Holder acquired the Note. Payments received

attributable to accrued interest will be treated in accordance with the rules applicable to payments of interest on foreign currency Notes described above. The foreign currency gain or loss will be recognised only to the extent of the total gain or loss realised by the U.S. Holder on the sale, exchange or retirement of the foreign currency Note. The source of the foreign currency gain or loss will be determined by reference to the residence of the U.S. Holder on whose books the Note is properly reflected. Any gain or loss realised by these U.S. Holders in excess of the foreign currency gain or loss will be capital gain or loss except to the extent of any accrued market discount or, in the case of short-term Note, to the extent of any discount not previously included in the U.S. Holder's income *provided that* the Note is not a Foreign Currency Contingent Payment Debt Instrument. U.S. Holders should consult their tax advisors with respect to the tax consequences of receiving payments in a currency different from the currency in which payments with respect to such Note accrue.

A U.S. Holder will have a tax basis in any foreign currency received on the sale, exchange or retirement of a foreign currency Note equal to the U.S. dollar value of the foreign currency, determined at the time the foreign currency is received. A cash method taxpayer who buys or sells a foreign currency Note that is traded on an established securities market is required to translate units of foreign currency paid or received into U.S. dollars at the spot rate on the settlement date of the purchase or sale. Accordingly, no exchange gain or loss will result from currency fluctuations between the trade date and the settlement date of the purchase or sale. An accrual method taxpayer may elect the same treatment for all purchases and sales of foreign currency obligations *provided that* the Notes are traded on an established securities market. This election cannot be changed without the consent of the IRS. If either (i) the Note is not traded on an established securities market or (ii) it is and the U.S. Holder is an accrual method taxpayer that does not make the election described above with respect to such Note, exchange gain or loss may result from currency fluctuations between the trade date and the settlement date of the purchase or sale. Any gain or loss realised by a U.S. Holder on a sale or other disposition of foreign currency (including its exchange for U.S. dollars or its use to purchase foreign currency Notes) will be ordinary income or loss.

## Backup Withholding and Information Reporting

Information returns may be filed with the IRS in connection with payments on the Notes and the proceeds from a sale or other disposition of the Notes. A U.S. Holder may be subject to U.S. backup withholding on these payments if it fails to provide its tax identification number to the paying agent and comply with certain certification procedures or otherwise establish an exemption from backup withholding. The amount of any backup withholding from a payment to a U.S. Holder will be allowed as a credit against the U.S. Holder's U.S. federal income tax liability and may entitle the U.S. Holder to a refund, *provided that* the required information is timely furnished to the IRS.

## Certain Reporting Obligations

A U.S. taxpayer that participates in a "reportable transaction" will be required to disclose its participation to the IRS. The scope and application of these rules is not entirely clear. A U.S. Holder may be required to treat a foreign currency exchange loss from the Notes as a reportable transaction if the loss exceeds U.S.\$50,000 in a single taxable year if the U.S. Holder is an individual or trust, or higher amounts for other U.S. Holders. In the event the acquisition, ownership or disposition of the Notes constitutes participation in a "reportable transaction" for purposes of these rules, a U.S. Holder will be required to disclose its investment by filing Form 8886 with the IRS. Prospective purchasers should consult their tax advisors regarding the application of these rules to the acquisition, ownership or disposition of the Notes.

In addition, U.S. Holders should consult their tax advisors about any additional reporting obligations that may apply as a result of the acquisition, holding or disposition of the Notes. Failure to comply with certain reporting obligations could result in the imposition of substantial penalties.

The U.S. federal income tax discussion set forth above is included for general information only and may not be applicable depending upon a U.S. Holder's particular situation. U.S. Holders should consult their tax advisors with respect to the tax consequences to them of the ownership and disposition of the Notes, including the tax consequences under state, local, foreign and other tax laws and the possible effects of changes in U.S. federal or other tax laws.

#### CERTAIN ERISA AND RELATED CONSIDERATIONS

The U.S. Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended ("ERISA"), imposes certain requirements on "employee benefit plans" within the meaning of section 3(3) of ERISA that are subject to Part 4 of Subtitle B of Title I of ERISA, such as certain pension plans, profit-sharing plans, collective investment funds, separate accounts and entities whose underlying assets include the assets of such employee benefit plans (collectively, "ERISA Plans"), and on those persons who are fiduciaries with respect to ERISA Plans. ERISA also imposes limits on transactions between ERISA Plans and their service providers or other related parties.

Each ERISA Plan fiduciary should consider ERISA and the regulations and guidance promulgated thereunder when considering an investment in any interest in the Notes. Fiduciaries of ERISA Plans, as well as other "plans" and arrangements within the meaning of section 4975(e)(1) of the Code that are subject to section 4975 of the Code (together with ERISA Plans, "Plans"), should also consider, among other items, the issues described below when deciding whether to invest in any interest in the Notes.

THIS OFFERING CIRCULAR IS NOT WRITTEN FOR ANY PARTICULAR PROSPECTIVE INVESTOR, AND IT DOES NOT ADDRESS THE NEEDS OF ANY PARTICULAR PROSPECTIVE INVESTOR. NONE OF THE ISSUER, THE GUARANTOR, THE DEALERS, THE PAYING AGENTS, THE REGISTRARS, THE TRANSFER AGENTS OR THEIR RESPECTIVE AFFILIATES HAS UNDERTAKEN TO PROVIDE IMPARTIAL INVESTMENT ADVICE OR TO GIVE ADVICE IN A FIDUCIARY CAPACITY, AND NONE OF THESE PARTIES HAS OR SHALL PROVIDE ANY ADVICE OR RECOMMENDATION WITH RESPECT TO THE MANAGEMENT OF ANY INVESTMENT OR THE ADVISABILITY OF ACQUIRING, HOLDING, DISPOSING OR EXCHANGING OF ANY SUCH INVESTMENT. THE FOLLOWING DISCUSSION IS GENERAL IN NATURE, IS NOT INTENDED TO BE ALL INCLUSIVE AND SHOULD NOT BE CONSTRUED AS LEGAL ADVICE. EACH PLAN FIDUCIARY SHOULD TALK TO ITS LEGAL ADVISER ABOUT THE CONSIDERATIONS DISCUSSED IN THIS SECTION BEFORE INVESTING IN ANY INTEREST IN THE NOTES. APPLICABLE LAWS GOVERNING THE INVESTMENT AND MANAGEMENT OF THE ASSETS OF GOVERNMENTAL, CHURCH AND NON-U.S. PLANS MAY ALSO CONTAIN FIDUCIARY RESPONSIBILITY AND PROHIBITED TRANSACTION REQUIREMENTS. ACCORDINGLY, FIDUCIARIES OF SUCH PLANS, IN CONSULTATION WITH THEIR ADVISERS, SHOULD CONSIDER THE IMPACT OF SUCH LAWS ON AN INVESTMENT IN ANY INTEREST IN THE NOTES.

## Fiduciary Duty of Investing ERISA Plans

Under ERISA, a person who exercises discretionary authority or control regarding the management or disposition of an ERISA Plan's assets is generally considered a fiduciary of such an ERISA Plan. Investments by ERISA Plans are subject to ERISA's general fiduciary requirements, which should be taken into account in the context of each ERISA Plan's particular facts and circumstances. In considering an investment of an ERISA Plan's assets in the Notes, the ERISA Plan fiduciary should consider among other factors, (i) whether the investment would satisfy the diversification requirements of section 404 of ERISA, (ii) whether the investment is prudent with respect to the Note's structure and the investment's potential risks and lack of liquidity, (iii) whether the investment would be consistent with the documents and instruments governing the ERISA Plan and (iv) whether the investment would involve a prohibited transaction under section 406 of ERISA or section 4975 of the Code (as discussed below).

When evaluating the prudence of investing in any interest in the Notes, an ERISA Plan fiduciary should consider the U.S. Department of Labor (the "**DOL**") regulation on investment duties, which can be found at 29 C.F.R. § 2550.404a-1. ERISA also requires an ERISA Plan fiduciary to maintain indicia of ownership for the ERISA Plan's assets within the jurisdiction of the U.S. Federal District Courts.

## **Prohibited Transactions**

Section 406 of ERISA and section 4975 of the Code prohibit transactions involving the assets of Plans and persons (and their affiliates) who have certain relationships to such Plans, such as the Plan's fiduciaries and other service providers (referred to as "parties in interest" under section 3(14) of ERISA or "disqualified persons" under section 4975(e)(2) of the Code, and collectively, "Parties in Interest"). A Party in Interest who engages in a prohibited transaction may be subject to excise taxes and other penalties and liabilities.

Whether or not the underlying assets of the Issuer are deemed to include assets of a Plan, an investment in any interest in the Notes by a Plan, to the extent it is permitted with respect to which any of the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Dealers, the Paying Agents, the Registrar, the Transfer Agents or their respective affiliates (each, a "Transaction Party") is considered a Party in Interest may constitute or result in a direct or indirect prohibited transaction under section 406 of ERISA or section 4975 of the Code (collectively, "prohibited transactions"), unless an administrative or statutory exemption is applicable to the transaction.

The Transaction Parties may be Parties in Interest with respect to many Plans. The applicability of any exemption to the prohibited transaction rules will depend, in part, on the circumstances under which any such decision is made. Included among the exemptions are the administrative exemptions of Prohibited Transaction Class Exemption ("PTCE") 84-14 (for certain transactions determined or effected by independent "qualified professional asset managers"), PTCE 90-1 (for certain transactions involving insurance company pooled separate accounts), PTCE 91-38 (for certain transactions involving bank collective investment funds), PTCE 95-60 (for transactions involving certain insurance company general accounts) and PTCE 96-23 (for transactions managed by "in-house asset managers") and the statutory exemptions of section 408(b)(17) of ERISA and section 4975(d)(20) of the Code (for the purchase and sale of securities and related lending transactions, *provided that* neither the issuer of the securities nor any of its affiliates has or exercises any discretionary authority or control or renders any investment advice with respect to the assets of any Plan involved in the transaction and provided further that the Plan pays no more than, and receives no less than, "adequate consideration" in connection with the transaction);

The fiduciary of a Plan that proposes to acquire any interest in the Notes should consider, among other things, whether any such acquisition may involve (i) a direct or indirect extension of credit to a Party in Interest, (ii) a sale or exchange of any property between a Plan and a Party in Interest or (iii) a transfer to, or use by or for the benefit of, a Party in Interest of a Plan's assets. In this regard, there can be no assurance that any of these administrative or statutory exemptions will be available with respect to any transaction involving any interest in the Notes. Most of these exemptions do not provide relief from some or all of the self-dealing prohibitions under section 406 of ERISA or section 4975 of the Code. Each Plan fiduciary is responsible to ensure that any purchase and holding of any interest in the Notes does not and will not constitute or result in a non-exempt prohibited transaction.

## Similar Plans

"Governmental plans" within the meaning of section 3(32) of ERISA, "church plans" within the meaning of section 3(33) of ERISA that have made no election under section 410(d) of the Code and non-U.S. plans described in section 4(b)(4) of ERISA (any such plan, a "Similar Plan"), while not subject to the fiduciary responsibility and prohibited transaction provisions of Part 4 of Subtitle B of Title I of ERISA or section 4975 of the Code, may nevertheless be subject to any U.S. federal, state, local or non-U.S. law or regulation that is substantially similar to the foregoing provisions of ERISA and the Code (any such law or regulation, a "Similar Law"). Fiduciaries of such Similar Plans should consult with their counsel before purchasing any interest in the Notes.

# Representations and Warranties

The Notes issued under this Programme may generally not be held by: (i) a Plan; or (ii) any person or entity whose underlying assets are deemed for the purpose of Part 4 of Subtitle B of Title I of ERISA or section 4975 of the Code to include assets of any such Plan by reason of the DOL regulation at 29 C.F.R. § 2510.3-101, as modified by section 3(42) of ERISA, or otherwise (each of (i)-(ii), a "Benefit Plan Investor"), *unless* the particular issuance of the Notes under consideration as an investment by a Benefit Plan Investor will be treated as indebtedness without substantial equity characteristics for the purposes of Part 4 of Subtitle B of Title I of ERISA or section 4975 of the Code (any such permitted issuance, an "ERISA-Permitted Issuance").

Each purchaser or transferee of any interest in the Notes will be required to represent and agree or be deemed to have represented and agreed that either (a) it is not and for so long as it holds any interest in the Notes will not be a Benefit Plan Investor, a Similar Plan that is subject to any Similar Law or any entity whose assets are treated as assets of any such Benefit Plan Investor or Similar Plan or, (b) provided that any interest in the Notes are purchased under an ERISA-Permitted Issuance, the purchase and holding of any interest in the Notes will not constitute or result in a non-exempt prohibited transaction under section 406 of ERISA or section 4975 of the Code, and in the case of a Similar Plan, a non-exempt violation of any Similar Law.

Moreover, each purchaser or transferee of any interest in the Notes that is a Benefit Plan Investor will be deemed to have represented by its acquisition of any interest in the Notes that (a) none of the Transaction Parties (i) has provided any investment recommendation or investment advice to the Benefit Plan Investor or any fiduciary or other person investing the assets of the Benefit Plan Investor (a "**Plan Fiduciary**") in connection with the decision to acquire any interest in the Notes and (ii) is acting as a "fiduciary" within the meaning of section 3(21) of ERISA or section 4975(e)(3) of the Code to the Benefit Plan Investor or Plan Fiduciary in connection with the Benefit Plan Investor's acquisition of any interest in the Notes and (b) the Plan Fiduciary is exercising its own independent judgment in evaluating the transaction.

Each purchaser or transferee of any interest in the Notes has exclusive responsibility for ensuring that its purchase and holding of any interest in the Notes does not violate the prohibited transaction rules of Part 4 of Subtitle B of Title I of ERISA, section 4975 of the Code or any applicable Similar Law. The sale of any interest in the Notes to a Benefit Plan Investor or a Similar Plan that is subject to any Similar Law is in no respect a representation by the Transaction Parties that such an investment meets all relevant requirements with respect to Benefit Plan Investors or Similar Plans that are subject to any Similar Law generally or any particular Benefit Plan Investors or Similar Plans that are subject to any Similar Law generally or any particular Benefit Plan Investors or Similar Plans that are subject to any Similar Law generally or any particular Benefit Plan Investor or Similar Plan that is subject to any Or Similar Law.

The foregoing discussion is general in nature and not intended to be all-inclusive. Any fiduciary of a Benefit Plan Investor or a Similar Plan that is subject to any Similar Law who proposes to cause any such Benefit Plan Investor or Similar Plan to purchase any interest in the Notes to the extent that any such interest in the Notes are purchased under an ERISA-Permitted Issuance should consult with its counsel regarding the applicability of the fiduciary responsibility and prohibited transaction provisions of Part 4 of Subtitle B of Title I of ERISA and section 4975 of the Code to such an investment, and to confirm that such investment will not constitute or result in a non-exempt prohibited transaction or any non-exempt violation of any applicable Similar Law.

#### SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE

Notes may be sold from time to time by the Issuer to any one or more of Citigroup Global Markets Europe AG, Citigroup Global Markets Limited, Crédit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank, Danske Bank A/S, Deutsche Bank Aktiengesellschaft, HSBC Continental Europe and Nordea Bank Abp (the "Dealers"). The arrangements under which Notes may from time to time be agreed to be sold by the Issuer to, and subscribed by, Dealers are set out in an amended and restated Dealer Agreement dated 20 December 2024 (as amended, replaced, supplemented and/or restated from time to time) (the "Dealer Agreement") and made between the Issuer and the Dealers.

If, in the case of any Tranche of Notes, the method of distribution is an agreement between the Issuer and a single Dealer for that Tranche to be issued by the Issuer and subscribed by that Dealer, the method of distribution will be described in the relevant Pricing Supplement as "Non-Syndicated" and the name of that Dealer and any other interest of that Dealer which is material to the issue of that Tranche beyond the fact of the appointment of that Dealer will be set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

If, in the case of any Tranche of Notes, the method of distribution is an agreement between the Issuer and more than one Dealer for that Tranche to be issued by the Issuer and subscribed by those Dealers, the method of distribution will be described in the relevant Pricing Supplement as "Syndicated", the obligations of those Dealers to subscribe the relevant Notes will be joint and several and the names and addresses of those Dealers and any other interests of any of those Dealers which is material to the issue of that Tranche beyond the fact of the appointment of those Dealers (including whether any of those Dealers has also been appointed to act as Stabilisation Manager in relation to that Tranche) will be set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

Any such agreement will, among other things, make provision for the form and terms and conditions of the relevant Notes, the price at which such Notes will be subscribed by the Dealer(s) and the commissions or other agreed deductibles (if any) payable or allowable by the Issuer in respect of such subscription. The Dealer Agreement makes provision for the resignation or termination of appointment of existing Dealers and for the appointment of additional or other Dealers either generally in respect of the Programme or in relation to a particular Tranche of Notes. Each new Dealer so appointed will be required to represent and undertake to the following selling restrictions as part of its appointment.

The relevant Dealers will be entitled in certain circumstances to be released and discharged from their obligations in respect of a proposed issue of Notes under or pursuant to the Dealer Agreement prior to the closing of the issue of such Notes, including in the event that certain conditions precedent are not delivered or met to their satisfaction on or before the issue date of such Notes. In this situation, the issuance of such Notes may not be completed. Investors will have no rights against the Issuer or the relevant Dealers in respect of any expense incurred or loss suffered in these circumstances.

Any Dealers of the Notes that are not U.S. registered broker dealers will agree that they will offer and sell the Notes within the United States only through U.S. registered broker dealers.

## **United States of America**

Regulation S Category 1; TEFRA D or TEFRA C as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement or neither if TEFRA is specified as not applicable in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

The Securities have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and include Notes in bearer form that are subject to U.S. tax law requirements and may not be offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons except in certain transactions exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by Regulation S.

Notes in bearer form having a maturity of more than one year are subject to U.S. tax law requirements and may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or its possessions or to a United States person, except in certain transactions permitted by U.S. tax regulations. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and regulations thereunder.

Subject to certain exceptions, the Securities may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or to U.S. persons. Each Dealer has agreed that it will not offer, sell or deliver Securities in bearer form within the United States or to U.S. persons except as permitted by the Dealer Agreement. The Dealer

Agreement provides that the Dealers may directly or through their respective U.S. broker-dealer affiliates arrange for the offer and resale of Securities in registered form (i) to non-U.S. persons located outside the United States or (ii) within the United States only to persons whom they reasonably believe are QIBs that are also QPs who can represent that (a) they are QPs who are QIBs within the meaning of Rule 144A; (b) they are not broker-dealers that own and invest on a discretionary basis less than U.S.\$25 million in securities of unaffiliated issuers; (c) they are not a participant-directed employee plan, such as a 401(k) plan; (d) they are acting for their own account, or the account of one or more QIBs, each of which is also a QP; (e) they are not formed for the purpose of investing in the Issuer; (f) each account for which they are purchasing will hold and transfer not less than the minimum denomination of the Notes at any time; (g) they understand that the Issuer may receive a list of participants holding positions in its securities from one or more book-entry depositaries; and (h) they will provide notice of the transfer restrictions set forth in this Offering Circular to any subsequent transferees.

In addition, until 40 days after the commencement of the offering of Notes comprising any Tranche, any offer or sale of the Securities within the United States by any dealer (whether or not participating in the offering) may violate the registration requirements of the Securities Act if such offer or sale is made otherwise than in accordance with Rule 144A or another exemption from registration under the Securities Act.

This Offering Circular has been prepared by the Issuer for use in connection with the offer and sale of the Notes outside the United States to non-U.S. persons in reliance on Regulation S and within the United States to QIBs that are also QPs (a "QIB/QP") in reliance on Rule 144A. The Issuer and each Dealer to be appointed under the Programme reserve the right to reject any offer to purchase the Notes, in whole or in part, for any reason. This Offering Circular does not constitute an offer to any person in the United States or to any U.S. person, other than any QIB/QP to whom an offer has been made directly by one of the Dealers to be appointed under the Programme or its U.S. broker-dealer affiliate. Distribution of this Offering Circular to any U.S. person or to any other person within the United States, other than any QIB/QP, if any, is unauthorised and any disclosure without the prior written consent of the Issuer of any of its contents to any U.S. person or other person within the United States, other than any QIB/QP, is prohibited.

Each issuance of index-, commodity- or currency-linked Notes shall be subject to additional U.S. selling restrictions as the relevant Dealer(s) shall agree as a term of the issuance and purchase of such Notes. Each Dealer (and each additional Dealer appointed under the programme will be required to) has agreed that it shall offer, sell and deliver such Notes only in compliance with such additional U.S. selling restrictions.

## **United Kingdom**

Each Dealer has represented and agreed that:

- (a) No deposit-taking: in relation to any Notes having a maturity of less than one year:
  - (i) it is a person whose ordinary activities involve it in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of its business; and:
  - (ii) it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell any Notes other than to persons:
    - (A) whose ordinary activities involve them in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of their businesses; or
    - (B) who it is reasonable to expect will acquire, hold, manage or dispose of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of their businesses,

where the issue of the Notes would otherwise constitute a contravention of Section 19 of the FSMA by the Issuer;

(b) *Financial promotion:* it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be communicated any invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of section 21 of the FSMA) received by it in connection with the issue or sale of any Notes in circumstances in which section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply to the Issuer or the Guarantor; and

(c) *General compliance*: it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything done by it in relation to any Notes in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

#### Norway

Notes may not be offered or sold within Norway or to or for the account of benefit of persons domiciled in Norway unless in compliance with all laws, regulations and guidelines applicable to the offering of Notes in Norway, including, but not limited to, the Norwegian Securities Trading Act of 29 June 2007 no. 75 (as amended from time to time) (Nw. *verdipapirhandelloven*) and any other applicable Norwegian legislation.

Each Dealer understands that Notes denominated in NOK may not be offered or sold within Norway or to or for the account or benefit of persons domiciled in Norway, unless the requirements in the CSD Act are complied with, including, but not limited to, the requirement to register such Notes in book-entry form in a licensed central securities depository in accordance with the CSDR regardless of the Notes being traded on a trading venue and only permit physical notes or documents of title evidencing the Notes in accordance with the CSD Act and the CSDR.

Notes governed by Norwegian law may not be offered or sold unless the regulation relating to the offer of VPS Notes (as defined below) and the registration in the VPS (as defined below) of VPS Notes has been complied with, including, but not limited to, the CSD Act and its requirement to register such Notes in a licensed central securities depository in accordance with the CSDR regardless of the Notes being traded on a trading venue and not permit physical notes or documents of title evidencing the Notes.

## Japan

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan (Act No. 25 of 1948, as amended, the "FIEA") and, accordingly, each Dealer has represented and agreed that it has not, directly or indirectly, offered or sold and will not, directly or indirectly, offer or sell any Notes in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any resident of Japan or to others for re-offering or resale, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to any resident of Japan, except pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of, and otherwise in compliance with, the FIEA and other relevant laws and regulations of Japan. As used in this paragraph, "resident of Japan" means any person resident in Japan, including any corporation or other entity organised under the laws of Japan.

#### Singapore

Each Dealer has acknowledged that this Offering Circular has not been registered as a prospectus with the Monetary Authority of Singapore. Accordingly, each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent, warrant and agree, that it has not offered or sold any Notes or caused the Notes to be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase and will not offer or sell any Notes or cause the Notes to be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase, and has not circulated or distributed, nor will it circulate or distribute, this Offering Circular or any other document or material in connection with the offer or sale, or invitation for subscription or purchase, of the Notes, whether directly or indirectly, to any person in Singapore other than (i) to an institutional investor (as defined in Section 4A of the SFA) pursuant to Section 274 of the SFA or (ii) to an accredited investor (as defined in Section 4A of the SFA) pursuant to and in accordance with the conditions specified in Section 275 of the SFA.

## General

Each Dealer has represented and agreed that it has complied and will comply with all applicable laws and regulations in each country or jurisdiction in or from which it purchases, offers, sells or delivers Notes or possesses, distributes or publishes this Offering Circular or any Pricing Supplement or any related offering material, in all cases at its own expense. Other persons into whose hands this Offering Circular or any Pricing Supplement comes are required by the Issuer and the Dealers to comply with all applicable laws and regulations in each country or jurisdiction in or from which they purchase, offer, sell or deliver Notes or possess, distribute or publish this Offering Circular or any Pricing Supplement or any related offering material, in all cases at their own expense.

The Dealer Agreement provides that the Dealers shall not be bound by any of the restrictions relating to any specific jurisdiction (set out above) to the extent that such restrictions shall, as a result of change(s) or

change(s) in official interpretation, after the date hereof, of applicable laws and regulations, no longer be applicable but without prejudice to the obligations of the Dealers described in the paragraph headed "General" above.

Selling restrictions may be supplemented or modified with the agreement of the Issuer. Any such supplement or modification may be set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement (in the case of a supplement or modification relevant only to a particular Tranche of Notes) or in a supplement to this Offering Circular.

#### TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS

## **Rule 144A Notes**

Each purchaser of Securities within the United States, by accepting delivery of this Offering Circular and the Notes, will be deemed to have represented, agreed and acknowledged that:

- (i) It (a) is a QIB that is also a QP, (b) is not a broker-dealer that owns and invests on a discretionary basis less than U.S.\$25 million in securities of unaffiliated issuers, (c) is not a participant-directed employee plan, such as a 401(k) plan, (d) is acquiring such Restricted Notes for its own account, or for the account of one or more QIBs, each of which is also a QP, (e) was not formed for the purpose of investing in the Securities or the Issuer or the Guarantor, and (f) is aware, and each beneficial owner of the Securities has been advised, that the sale of the Securities to it is being made in reliance on Rule 144A and the Issuer is relying on an exemption from the Investment Company Act provided by section 3(c)(7).
- (ii) It will, (a) along with each account for which it is purchasing, hold and transfer beneficial interests in the Securities in a principal amount that is not less than U.S.\$100,000 and (b) provide notice of the transfer restrictions to any subsequent transferees. In addition, it understands that the Issuer may receive a list of participants holding positions in the Restricted Notes from one or more bookentry depositories.
- (iii) (a) The Securities have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and may not be offered, sold, pledged or otherwise transferred except (1) in accordance with Rule 144A to a person that it, and any person acting on its behalf, reasonably believes is a QIB that is also a QP purchasing for its own account or for the account of one or more QIBs, each of which is also a QP, or (2) in an offshore transaction to non-U.S. persons in accordance with Rule 903 or Rule 904 of Regulation S, under the Securities Act, in each case in accordance with any applicable securities laws of any state or other jurisdiction of the United States and (b) it will, and each subsequent holder of the Restricted Notes is required to, notify any purchaser of the Restricted Notes from it of the resale restrictions on the Restricted Notes.
- (iv) It understands that the Issuer has the power under the Agency Agreement and Condition 6 to compel any beneficial owner of Notes that is a U.S. person and is not a QIB and also a QP to sell its interest in the Notes, or may sell such interest on behalf of such owner. The Issuer has the right to refuse to honour the transfer of an interest in the Notes to a U.S. person who is not both a QIB and a QP. Any purported transfer of the Notes to a purchaser that does not comply with the requirements of the transfer restrictions herein will be of no force and effect and will be void *ab initio*
- (v) Either (a) it is not and for so long as it holds any interest in the Notes will not be a Benefit Plan Investor, a Similar Plan that is subject to any Similar Law or any entity whose assets are treated as assets of any such Benefit Plan Investor or Similar Plan or, (b) provided that any interest in the Notes are purchased under an ERISA-Permitted Issuance, the purchase and holding of any interest in the Notes will not constitute or result in a non-exempt prohibited transaction under section 406 of ERISA or section 4975 of the Code, and in the case of a Similar Plan, a non-exempt violation of any Similar Law.
- (vi) If it is a Benefit Plan Investor, (a) none of the Transaction Parties (i) has provided any investment recommendation or investment advice to the Benefit Plan Investor or any Plan Fiduciary in connection with the decision to acquire any interest in the Notes and (ii) is acting as a "fiduciary" within the meaning of section 3(21) of ERISA or section 4975(e)(3) of the Code to the Benefit Plan Investor or Plan Fiduciary in connection with the Benefit Plan Investor's acquisition of any interest in the Notes and (b) the Plan Fiduciary is exercising its own independent judgment in evaluating the transaction.
- (vii) The Restricted Notes, unless the Issuer determines otherwise in accordance with applicable law, will bear a legend in or substantially in the following form:
  - "THE NOTES REPRESENTED HEREBY AND THE GUARANTEE IN RESPECT THEREOF (TOGETHER, THE "SECURITIES") HAVE NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE REGISTERED

UNDER THE UNITED STATES SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "SECURITIES ACT") OR ANY SECURITIES LAW OF ANY STATE OR OTHER JURISDICTION OF THE UNITED STATES. THE HOLDER HEREOF, BY PURCHASING THE NOTES REPRESENTED HEREBY, AGREES FOR THE BENEFIT OF THE ISSUER THAT THE SECURITIES MAY BE REOFFERED, RESOLD, PLEDGED OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED ONLY IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE SECURITIES ACT AND OTHER APPLICABLE LAWS AND ONLY (1) PURSUANT TO RULE 144A UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT ("RULE 144A") TO A PERSON THAT THE HOLDER REASONABLY BELIEVES IS A QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYER (A "QIB") WITHIN THE MEANING OF RULE 144A AND A QUALIFIED PURCHASER (A "QP") WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTION 2(A)(51) OF THE UNITED STATES INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 1940 (THE "INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT") PURCHASING FOR ITS OWN ACCOUNT OR A PERSON PURCHASING FOR THE ACCOUNT OF A QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYER WHOM THE HOLDER HAS INFORMED, IN EACH CASE, THAT THE REOFFER, RESALE. PLEDGE OR OTHER TRANSFER IS BEING MADE IN RELIANCE ON RULE 144A, AND THAT CAN REPRESENT, IN EACH CASE, THAT: (A) IT IS A QP WHO IS A QIB WITHIN THE MEANING OF RULE 144A; (B) IT IS NOT A BROKER-DEALER THAT OWNS AND INVESTS ON A DISCRETIONARY BASIS LESS THAN U.S.\$25 MILLION IN SECURITIES OF UNAFFILIATED ISSUERS; (C) IT IS NOT A PARTICIPANT-DIRECTED EMPLOYEE PLAN, SUCH AS A 401(K) PLAN; (D) IT IS ACTING FOR ITS OWN ACCOUNT, OR THE ACCOUNT OF ONE OR MORE QIBS, EACH OF WHICH IS ALSO A QP; (E) IT IS NOT FORMED FOR THE PURPOSE OF INVESTING IN THE ISSUER; (F) EACH ACCOUNT FOR WHICH IT IS PURCHASING WILL HOLD AND TRANSFER NOT LESS THAN THE MINIMUM DENOMINATION OF THE NOTES AT ANY TIME; (G) IT UNDERSTANDS THAT THE ISSUER MAY RECEIVE A LIST OF PARTICIPANTS HOLDING POSITIONS IN ITS SECURITIES FROM ONE OR MORE BOOK-ENTRY DEPOSITARIES; AND (H) IT WILL PROVIDE NOTICE OF THE TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS SET FORTH IN THIS OFFERING CIRCULAR TO ANY SUBSEQUENT TRANSFEREES; (2) TO NON-U.S. PERSONS IN AN OFFSHORE TRANSACTION IN ACCORDANCE WITH REGULATION S UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT, OR (3) TO THE ISSUER OR ITS AFFILIATES. THE HOLDER WILL, AND EACH SUBSEQUENT HOLDER IS REQUIRED TO, NOTIFY ANY PURCHASER FROM IT OF THE NOTES IN RESPECT HEREOF OF THE RESALE RESTRICTIONS REFERRED TO ABOVE. TRANSFER IN VIOLATION OF THE FOREGOING WILL BE OF NO FORCE OR EFFECT. WILL BE VOID AB INITIO. AND WILL TRANSFER ANY RIGHTS TO THE OPERATE TO TRANSFEREE. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY INSTRUCTIONS TO THE CONTRARY TO THE ISSUER OF THIS NOTE, THE TRUSTEE OR ANY INTERMEDIARY. NO REPRESENTATION CAN BE MADE AS TO THE AVAILABILITY OF ANY EXEMPTION UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT FOR RESALES OF THE SECURITIES.

THE ISSUER HAS THE RIGHT TO COMPEL ANY BENEFICIAL OWNER THAT IS A U.S. PERSON AND IS NOT A QIB AND A QP TO SELL ITS INTEREST IN THIS NOTE, OR MAY SELL SUCH INTEREST ON BEHALF OF SUCH BENEFICIAL OWNER. THE ISSUER HAS NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE REGISTERED AS AN INVESTMENT COMPANY UNDER THE INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT.

BY ITS PURCHASE AND HOLDING OF A NOTE OR ANY INTEREST THEREIN, THE PURCHASER OR HOLDER THEREOF AND EACH TRANSFEREE WILL BE DEEMED TO HAVE REPRESENTED AND WARRANTED THAT EITHER (A) IT IS NOT AND FOR SO LONG AS IT HOLDS ANY INTEREST IN THE NOTES WILL NOT BE A BENEFIT PLAN INVESTOR, A SIMILAR PLAN THAT IS SUBJECT TO ANY SIMILAR LAW OR ANY ENTITY WHOSE ASSETS ARE TREATED AS ASSETS OF ANY SUCH BENEFIT PLAN INVESTOR OR SIMILAR PLAN OR, (B) PROVIDED THAT ANY INTEREST IN THE NOTES ARE PURCHASED UNDER AN ERISA-PERMITTED ISSUANCE (AS DEFINED BELOW), THE PURCHASE AND HOLDING OF ANY INTEREST IN THE NOTES WILL NOT CONSTITUTE OR RESULT IN A NON-EXEMPT PROHIBITED TRANSACTION UNDER SECTION 406 OF THE U.S. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT INCOME SECURITY ACT OF 1974, AS AMENDED ("ERISA"), OR SECTION 4975 OF THE U.S. INTERNAL REVENUE CODE OF 1986, AS AMENDED (THE "CODE"), AND IN THE CASE OF A SIMILAR PLAN, A NON-EXEMPT VIOLATION OF ANY U.S. FEDERAL, STATE, LOCAL

OR NON-U.S. LAW OR REGULATION THAT CONTAINS ONE OR MORE PROVISIONS THAT ARE SUBSTANTIALLY SIMILAR TO THE FIDUCIARY RESPONSIBILITY AND PROHIBITED TRANSACTION PROVISIONS OF PART 4 OF SUBTITLE B OF TITLE I OF ERISA OR SECTION 4975 OF THE CODE ("SIMILAR LAW").

THE TERM "BENEFIT PLAN INVESTOR" MEANS (A) AN "EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN" WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTION 3(3) OF ERISA THAT IS SUBJECT TO PART 4 OF SUBTITLE B OF TITLE I OF ERISA, (B) A "PLAN" WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTION 4975(e)(1) OF THE CODE THAT IS SUBJECT TO SECTION 4975 OF THE CODE OR (C) ANY PERSON OR ENTITY WHOSE UNDERLYING ASSETS INCLUDE "PLAN ASSETS" BY REASON OF AN INVESTMENT IN THE PERSON OR ENTITY BY AN EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN OR PLAN DESCRIBED IN (A) OR (B) UNDER THE U.S. DEPARTMENT OF LABOR REGULATION AT 29 C.F.R. § 2510.3-101, AS MODIFIED BY SECTION 3(42) OF ERISA, OR OTHERWISE FOR THE PURPOSES OF PART 4 OF SUBTITLE B OF TITLE I OF ERISA OR SECTION 4975 OF THE CODE. THE TERM "SIMILAR PLAN" MEANS A GOVERNMENTAL, CHURCH OR NON-U.S. PLAN.

THE TERM "ERISA-PERMITTED ISSUANCE" MEANS A PARTICULAR ISSUANCE OF THE NOTES THAT IS TREATED AS INDEBTEDNESS WITHOUT SUBSTANTIAL EQUITY CHARACTERISTICS FOR THE PURPOSES OF PART 4 OF SUBTITLE B OF TITLE I OF ERISA OR SECTION 4975 OF THE CODE.

MOREOVER, BY ITS PURCHASE AND HOLDING OF A NOTE OR ANY INTEREST THEREIN, THE PURCHASER OR HOLDER THEREOF AND EACH TRANSFEREE THAT IS A BENEFIT PLAN INVESTOR WILL BE DEEMED TO HAVE REPRESENTED AND WARRANTED THAT (A) NONE OF THE ISSUER, THE GUARANTOR, THE DEALERS, THE PAYING AGENTS, THE REGISTRAR, THE TRANSFER AGENTS OR THEIR RESPECTIVE **AFFILIATES** (I) HAS **PROVIDED** ANY **INVESTMENT** RECOMMENDATION OR INVESTMENT ADVICE TO THE BENEFIT PLAN INVESTOR OR ANY FIDUCIARY OR OTHER PERSON INVESTING THE ASSETS OF THE BENEFIT PLAN INVESTOR (A "PLAN FIDUCIARY") IN CONNECTION WITH THE DECISION TO ACQUIRE ANY INTEREST IN THE NOTES AND (II) IS ACTING AS A "FIDUCIARY" WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTION 3(21) OF ERISA OR SECTION 4975(e)(3) OF THE CODE TO THE BENEFIT PLAN INVESTOR OR PLAN FIDUCIARY IN CONNECTION WITH THE BENEFIT PLAN INVESTOR'S ACQUISITION OF ANY INTEREST IN THE NOTES AND (B) THE PLAN FIDUCIARY IS EXERCISING ITS OWN INDEPENDENT JUDGMENT IN EVALUATING THE TRANSACTION.

[THIS NOTE HAS BEEN ISSUED WITH ORIGINAL ISSUE DISCOUNT ("OID") FOR U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX PURPOSES. YOU CAN CONTACT [NAME/TITLE OF REPRESENTATIVE OF ISSUER] AT [ADDRESS/TELEPHONE NUMBER OF SUCH REPRESENTATIVE] TO RECEIVE INFORMATION NECESSARY TO PROPERLY ACCOUNT FOR OID ON THE NOTE]

[THIS NOTE HAS BEEN ISSUED WITH ORIGINAL ISSUE DISCOUNT ("OID") FOR U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX PURPOSES. THIS NOTE HAS OID OF [currency][amount] PER EACH [currency][amount] OF PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF THIS NOTE; THE ISSUE PRICE OF THIS NOTE IS [currency][amount]; THE ISSUE DATE IS [date]; AND THE YIELD TO MATURITY (COMPOUNDED [semi-annually]) IS [yield].] [THE COMPARABLE YIELD IS: [yield] AND THE PROJECTED PAYMENT SCHEDULE IS AS FOLLOWS: [table]]"

- (viii) It understands that the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Registrar, the relevant Dealer(s) and their affiliates, and others will rely upon the truth and accuracy of the foregoing acknowledgements, representations and agreements and agrees that, if any of the acknowledgements, representations or agreements deemed to have been made by it by its purchase of Restricted Notes is no longer accurate, it shall promptly notify the Issuer and the Dealers.
- (ix) If it is acquiring any Securities for the account of one or more QIBs that are also QPs, it represents that it has sole investment discretion with respect to each of those accounts and that it has full power to make the foregoing acknowledgements, representations and agreements on behalf of each such account.

(x) It understands that the Restricted Notes will be represented by a Restricted Global Note Certificate. Before any interest in a Restricted Global Note Certificate may be offered, sold, pledged or otherwise transferred to a person who takes delivery in the form of an interest in the Unrestricted Global Note Certificate or as the case may be, Global Note, it will be required to provide a Transfer Agent with a written certification (in the form provided in the Agency Agreement) as to compliance with applicable securities laws.

Prospective purchasers are hereby notified that sellers of the Notes may be relying on the exemption from the provisions of Section 5 of the Securities Act provided by Rule 144A.

## **Regulation S Notes**

Each purchaser of Securities outside the United States (or beneficial interest therein) while in the form of Temporary Global Notes, by accepting delivery of this Offering Circular and the Securities, will be deemed to have represented, agreed and acknowledged that:

- (i) It is, or at the time Securities are purchased will be, the beneficial owner of the Securities and (a) it is not a U.S. person and it is located outside the United States (within the meaning of Regulation S) and (b) it is not an affiliate of the Issuer or the Guarantor or a person acting on behalf of such an affiliate.
- (ii) It understands that such Securities have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and that it will not offer, sell, pledge or otherwise transfer such Securities except (a) in accordance with Rule 144A under the Securities Act to a person that it and any person acting on its behalf reasonably believes is a QIB that is also a QP purchasing for its own account, or for the account of one or more QIBs each of which is also a QP, in a transaction that meets the requirements of Rule 144A and takes delivery in the form of a Restricted Note or (b) in an offshore transaction in accordance with Rule 903 or Rule 904 of Regulation S, in each case in accordance with any applicable securities laws of any State of the United States.
- (iii) Either (a) it is not and for so long as it holds any interest in the Notes will not be a Benefit Plan Investor, a Similar Plan that is subject to any Similar Law or any entity whose assets are treated as assets of any such Benefit Plan Investor or Similar Plan or, (b) provided that any interest in the Notes are purchased under an ERISA-Permitted Issuance, the purchase and holding of any interest in the Notes will not constitute or result in a non-exempt prohibited transaction under section 406 of ERISA or section 4975 of the Code, and in the case of a Similar Plan, a non-exempt violation of any Similar Law.
- (iv) If it is a Benefit Plan Investor, (a) none of the Transaction Parties (i) has provided any investment recommendation or investment advice to the Benefit Plan Investor or any Plan Fiduciary in connection with the decision to acquire any interest in the Notes and (ii) is acting as a "fiduciary" within the meaning of section 3(21) of ERISA or section 4975(e)(3) of the Code to the Benefit Plan Investor or Plan Fiduciary in connection with the Benefit Plan Investor's acquisition of any interest in the Notes and (b) the Plan Fiduciary is exercising its own independent judgment in evaluating the transaction.
- (v) It understands that such Notes, unless otherwise determined by the Issuer in accordance with applicable law, will bear a legend in or substantially in the following form:

"THIS NOTE AND THE GUARANTEE IN RESPECT THEREOF (TOGETHER, THE "SECURITIES") HAS NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE REGISTERED UNDER THE U.S. SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 AS AMENDED (THE "SECURITIES ACT"), OR WITH ANY SECURITIES REGULATORY AUTHORITY OF ANY STATE OR OTHER JURISDICTION OF THE UNITED STATES AND MAY NOT BE OFFERED, SOLD, PLEDGED OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED WITHIN THE UNITED STATES OR TO, OR FOR THE ACCOUNT OR BENEFIT OF U.S. PERSONS, EXCEPT PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT IN A TRANSACTION THAT WILL NOT CAUSE THE ISSUER TO BECOME REQUIRED TO REGISTER AS AN INVESTMENT COMPANY UNDER THE U.S. INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 1940, AS AMENDED.

BY ITS PURCHASE AND HOLDING OF A NOTE OR ANY INTEREST THEREIN, THE PURCHASER OR HOLDER THEREOF AND EACH TRANSFEREE WILL BE DEEMED TO HAVE REPRESENTED AND WARRANTED THAT EITHER (A) IT IS NOT AND FOR SO LONG AS IT HOLDS ANY INTEREST IN THE NOTES WILL NOT BE A BENEFIT PLAN INVESTOR, A SIMILAR PLAN THAT IS SUBJECT TO ANY SIMILAR LAW OR ANY ENTITY WHOSE ASSETS ARE TREATED AS ASSETS OF ANY SUCH BENEFIT PLAN INVESTOR OR SIMILAR PLAN OR, (B) PROVIDED THAT ANY INTEREST IN THE NOTES ARE PURCHASED UNDER AN ERISA-PERMITTED ISSUANCE (AS DEFINED BELOW), THE PURCHASE AND HOLDING OF ANY INTEREST IN THE NOTES WILL NOT CONSTITUTE OR RESULT IN A NON-EXEMPT PROHIBITED TRANSACTION UNDER SECTION 406 OF THE U.S. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT INCOME SECURITY ACT OF 1974, AS AMENDED ("ERISA"), OR SECTION 4975 OF THE U.S. INTERNAL REVENUE CODE OF 1986, AS AMENDED (THE "CODE"), AND IN THE CASE OF A SIMILAR PLAN, A NON-EXEMPT VIOLATION OF ANY U.S. FEDERAL, STATE, LOCAL OR NON-U.S. LAW OR REGULATION THAT CONTAINS ONE OR MORE PROVISIONS THAT ARE SUBSTANTIALLY SIMILAR TO THE FIDUCIARY RESPONSIBILITY AND PROHIBITED TRANSACTION PROVISIONS OF PART 4 OF SUBTITLE B OF TITLE I OF ERISA OR SECTION 4975 OF THE CODE ("SIMILAR LAW").

THE TERM "BENEFIT PLAN INVESTOR" MEANS (A) AN "EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN" WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTION 3(3) OF ERISA THAT IS SUBJECT TO PART 4 OF SUBTITLE B OF TITLE I OF ERISA, (B) A "PLAN" WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTION 4975(e)(1) OF THE CODE THAT IS SUBJECT TO SECTION 4975 OF THE CODE OR (C) ANY PERSON OR ENTITY WHOSE UNDERLYING ASSETS INCLUDE "PLAN ASSETS" BY REASON OF AN INVESTMENT IN THE PERSON OR ENTITY BY AN EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN OR PLAN DESCRIBED IN (A) OR (B) UNDER THE U.S. DEPARTMENT OF LABOR REGULATION AT 29 C.F.R. § 2510.3-101, AS MODIFIED BY SECTION 3(42) OF ERISA, OR OTHERWISE FOR THE PURPOSES OF PART 4 OF SUBTITLE B OF TITLE I OF ERISA OR SECTION 4975 OF THE CODE. THE TERM "SIMILAR PLAN" MEANS A GOVERNMENTAL, CHURCH OR NON-U.S. PLAN.

THE TERM "ERISA-PERMITTED ISSUANCE" MEANS A PARTICULAR ISSUANCE OF THE NOTES THAT IS TREATED AS INDEBTEDNESS WITHOUT SUBSTANTIAL EQUITY CHARACTERISTICS FOR THE PURPOSES OF PART 4 OF SUBTITLE B OF TITLE I OF ERISA OR SECTION 4975 OF THE CODE.

MOREOVER, BY ITS PURCHASE AND HOLDING OF A NOTE OR ANY INTEREST THEREIN, THE PURCHASER OR HOLDER THEREOF AND EACH TRANSFEREE THAT IS A BENEFIT PLAN INVESTOR WILL BE DEEMED TO HAVE REPRESENTED AND WARRANTED THAT (A) NONE OF THE ISSUER, THE GUARANTOR, THE DEALERS, THE PAYING AGENTS, THE REGISTRAR, THE TRANSFER AGENTS OR THEIR RESPECTIVE **AFFILIATES** (I) HAS **PROVIDED** ANY INVESTMENT RECOMMENDATION OR INVESTMENT ADVICE TO THE BENEFIT PLAN INVESTOR OR ANY FIDUCIARY OR OTHER PERSON INVESTING THE ASSETS OF THE BENEFIT PLAN INVESTOR (A "PLAN FIDUCIARY") IN CONNECTION WITH THE DECISION TO ACQUIRE ANY INTEREST IN THE NOTES AND (II) IS ACTING AS A "FIDUCIARY" WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTION 3(21) OF ERISA OR SECTION 4975(e)(3) OF THE CODE TO THE BENEFIT PLAN INVESTOR OR PLAN FIDUCIARY IN CONNECTION WITH THE BENEFIT PLAN INVESTOR'S ACQUISITION OF ANY INTEREST IN THE NOTES AND (B) THE PLAN FIDUCIARY IS EXERCISING ITS OWN INDEPENDENT JUDGMENT IN EVALUATING THE TRANSACTION.

[THIS NOTE HAS BEEN ISSUED WITH ORIGINAL ISSUE DISCOUNT ("**OID**") FOR U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX PURPOSES. YOU CAN CONTACT [NAME/TITLE OF REPRESENTATIVE OF ISSUER] AT [ADDRESS/TELEPHONE NUMBER OF SUCH REPRESENTATIVE] TO RECEIVE INFORMATION NECESSARY TO PROPERLY ACCOUNT FOR OID ON THE NOTE]

[THIS NOTE HAS BEEN ISSUED WITH ORIGINAL ISSUE DISCOUNT ("**OID**") FOR U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX PURPOSES. THIS NOTE HAS OID OF [currency][amount] PER EACH [currency][amount] OF PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF THIS NOTE; THE ISSUE PRICE OF

THIS NOTE IS [currency][amount]; THE ISSUE DATE IS [date]; AND THE YIELD TO MATURITY (COMPOUNDED [semi-annually]) IS [yield]. [THE COMPARABLE YIELD IS: [yield] AND THE PROJECTED PAYMENT SCHEDULE IS AS FOLLOWS: [table]]"

- (vi) It understands that the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Registrar, the relevant Dealer(s) and their affiliates, and others will rely upon the truth and accuracy of the foregoing acknowledgements, representations and agreements and agrees that, if any of the acknowledgements, representations or agreements deemed to have been made by it by its purchase of Notes is no longer accurate, it shall promptly notify the Issuer and the Dealers. If it is acquiring any Notes as a fiduciary or agent for one or more investor accounts, it represents that it has sole investment discretion with respect to each of those accounts and that it has full power to make the above acknowledgements, representations and agreements on behalf of each account.
- (vii) It understands that the Bearer Notes and the Unrestricted Registered Notes will be represented by an Unrestricted Global Note Certificate, or as the case may be, a Global Note.

The Issuer reserves the right to refuse to register a transfer of Notes that is not conducted in accordance with the applicable selling and transfer restrictions.

#### **GENERAL INFORMATION**

#### Authorisation

1. The establishment of the Programme was authorised by a resolution of the board of directors of the Issuer passed/given on 3 May 2012. The increase of the Programme amount was authorised by a resolution of the board of directors of the Issuer passed/given on 21 January 2015, 28 February 2017, 25 February 2019 and 15 November 2024. The entry into and the giving of the Guarantee Undertaking was authorised by Government Decision (VN/34224/2024), adopted on 19 December 2024 (which decision replaced the decision of the Government (VM/1220/02.04.06/2019), adopted on 24 October 2019). Each of the Issuer and the Guarantor has obtained or will obtain from time to time all necessary consents, approvals and authorisations in connection with the issue and performance of the Notes and the giving of the guarantee relating to them.

## **Legal and Arbitration Proceedings**

2. There are no governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings, (including any such proceedings which are pending or threatened, of which the Issuer is aware), which may have, or have had during the 12 months prior to the date of this Offering Circular, a significant effect on the financial position or profitability of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries.

## Significant/Material Change

3. Since 31 December 2023 there has been no material adverse change in the prospects of the Issuer nor any significant change in the financial or trading position of the Issuer.

## **Auditors**

- 4. The consolidated and unconsolidated financial statements of the Issuer have been audited without qualification for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 by KPMG Oy Ab, P.O. Box 1037, FI-00101 Helsinki, Finland, authorised public accountants, in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in Finland.
- 5. At the 2024 Annual General Meeting, Ernst & Young Oy, Korkeavuorenkatu 32-34, FI-00130 Helsinki, Finland, was appointed as the Issuer's auditor with Miikka Hietala, Authorised Public Accountant, as principal auditor.

# **Documents on Display**

- 6. Copies of the following documents may be inspected during normal business hours at the offices of Citibank, N.A., London Branch at Citibank, N.A., London Branch, Agency and Trust, 6<sup>th</sup> Floor, Citigroup Centre, Canada Square, Canary Wharf, London, E14 5LB for 12 months from the date of this Offering Circular:
  - (a) the Articles of Association of the Issuer (together with an English translation thereof);
  - (b) the audited consolidated and unconsolidated financial statements of the Issuer for the last two financial years;
  - (c) the unaudited financial statements of the Issuer for the most recent period;
  - (d) the Agency Agreement;
  - (e) the Guarantee Undertaking;
  - (f) the Deed of Covenant;
  - (g) the Programme Manual (which contains the forms of the Notes in global and definitive form);
  - (h) the Issuer-ICSDs Agreement;

- (i) any VPS Trustee Agreement, if signed during the twelve months from the date of this Offering Circular; and
- (j) any Pricing Supplement relating to Notes which are admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by any competent authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system. (In the case of any Notes which are not admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by any competent authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system, copies of the relevant Pricing Supplement will only be available for inspection by the relevant Noteholders.)

## **Clearing of the Notes**

7. The Notes have been accepted for clearance through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or the VPS. The appropriate common code and the International Securities Identification Number (ISIN) and/or Committee on Uniform Security Identification Procedures (CUSIP) Number in relation to the Notes of each Tranche will be specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement. The relevant Pricing Supplement shall specify any other clearing system as shall have accepted the relevant Notes for clearance together with any further appropriate information.

#### Notes

- 8. Each Bearer Note having a maturity of more than one year, Receipt, Coupon and Talon will bear the following legend: "Any U.S. person who holds this obligation will be subject to limitations under the United States income tax laws, including the limitations provided in Sections 165(j) and 1287(a) of the Internal Revenue Code".
- Each time the Issuer sends an annual or other periodic report to the holders of Restricted Notes, the Issuer will include a reminder that: (a) each holder of Restricted Notes is required to be a QIB and a QP that can make the representations set forth in "Transfer Restrictions Restricted Notes", (b) the Restricted Notes can only be transferred to another QIB that is also a QP which is capable of making the same representations, and (c) the Issuer has the right to force any holder of Restricted Notes that is not a QIB and a QP to sell or redeem its Restricted Notes.

# **Legal Entity Identifier (LEI)**

10. The Legal Entity Identifier (LEI) code of the Issuer is 743700T69OBBJO7TCA15.

#### PRIIPs

11. As at the date of this Offering Circular, the Issuer is exempt from Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (the EU PRIIPs Regulation) as the Notes are securities unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by an EU Member State. As at the date of this Offering Circular, the Issuer is exempt from Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 as it forms part of domestic law of the UK by virtue of the EUWA (the UK PRIIPs Regulation) as the Notes are securities unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by the government of any country or territory. Accordingly, no key information document (KID) will be prepared for any Notes issued under the Programme.

## Other

12. Certain of the Dealers and their affiliates have engaged, and may in the future engage, in investment banking and/or commercial banking transactions with, and may perform services for, the Issuer, the Guarantor and their respective affiliates in the ordinary course of business and/or for companies involved directly or indirectly in the sector(s) in which the Issuer, the Guarantor and/or their respective affiliates operate, and for which such Dealers have received or may receive customary fees, commissions, reimbursement of expenses and indemnification. Certain of the Dealers may also have positions, deals or make markets in the Notes issued under the Programme, related derivatives and reference obligations, including (but not limited to) entering into hedging strategies on behalf of the Issuer, the Guarantor and their affiliates, investor clients, or as principal in order to manage their exposure, their general market risk, or other trading activities. They have received, or may in the future receive, customary fees and commissions for these transactions. In addition, in the ordinary course of their business activities, the Dealers and their affiliates may make or hold a broad array of investments and actively trade debt and equity securities (or related derivative securities) and financial instruments (including bank loans) for their own account and for the

accounts of their customers. Such investments and securities activities may involve securities and/or instruments of the Issuer, the Guarantor or their respective affiliates. The Dealers and/or their affiliates may receive allocations of the Notes (subject to customary closing conditions), which could affect future trading of the Notes. Certain of the Dealers or their affiliates that have a lending relationship with the Issuer routinely hedge their credit exposure to the Issuer consistent with their customary risk management policies. Typically, such Dealers and their affiliates would hedge such exposure by entering into transactions which consist of either the purchase of credit default swaps or the creation of short positions in securities, including potentially the Notes issued under the Programme. Any such short positions could adversely affect future trading prices of Notes issued under the Programme. The Dealers and their affiliates may also make investment recommendations and/or publish or express independent research views in respect of such securities or financial instruments and may hold, or recommend to clients that they acquire, long and/or short positions in such securities and instruments.

13. The language of this Offering Circular is English. Certain legislative references and technical terms have been cited in their original language in order that the correct technical meaning may be ascribed to them under applicable law.

## THE ISSUER

## Finnvera plc

Kallanranta 11 PL 1127 FI-70101 Kuopio Finland

## THE GUARANTOR

# The Republic of Finland

State Treasury
P.O. Box 14
FI-00054 STATE TREASURY
Finland

# THE ARRANGER

# **HSBC Continental Europe**

38, avenue Kléber 75116 Paris France

## THE DEALERS

## Citigroup Global Markets Europe AG

Reuterweg 16 60323 Frankfurt Germany

# Citigroup Global Markets Limited

Citigroup Centre Canada Square Canary Wharf London E14 5LB United Kingdom

## Crédit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank

12, Place des Etats-Unis CS 70052 92547 Montrouge Cedex France

# Danske Bank A/S

Bernstorffsgade 40 DK-1577 Copenhagen V Denmark

# Deutsche Bank Aktiengesellschaft

Mainzer Landstraße 11-17 60329 Frankfurt am Main Germany

# **HSBC Continental Europe**

38, avenue Kléber 75116 Paris France

## Nordea Bank Abp

Satamaradankatu 5 FI-00020 Nordea Finland

## THE FISCAL AGENT AND PAYING AGENT

## Citibank, N.A., London Branch

Agency and Trust 6<sup>th</sup> Floor, Citigroup Centre Canada Square Canary Wharf London E14 5LB United Kingdom

## THE TRANSFER AGENT AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE AGENT

# Citibank, N.A., London Branch

Agency and Trust 6<sup>th</sup> Floor, Citigroup Centre Canada Square Canary Wharf London E14 5LB United Kingdom

## THE REGISTRAR

# Citibank Europe plc, Germany Branch

Reuterweg 16 60323 Frankfurt am Main Germany

## **LEGAL ADVISERS**

To the Issuer and the Guarantor as to English and U.S. law:

Clifford Chance LLP

10 Upper Bank Street London E14 5JJ United Kingdom

To the Dealers as to English and U.S. law:

**Dentons UK and Middle East LLP** 

One Fleet Place London EC4M 7WS United Kingdom To the Issuer and the Guarantor as to Finnish law:

**Borenius Attorneys Ltd** 

Eteläesplanadi 2 00130 Helsinki Finland

To the Issuer and the Guarantor as to Norwegian law:

Advokatfirmaet Thommessen AS

Ruseløkkveien 38 0251 Oslo Postboks 1484 Vika NO-0116 Oslo Norway

## **AUDITORS TO THE ISSUER**

**Ernst & Young Oy** 

Korkeavuorenkatu 32-34 00130 Helsinki Finland